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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Lantheus MI Intermediate, Inc. and subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(unaudited, in thousands)
 

   
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,   
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
   2014   2013   2014   2013  
Revenues   $ 75,613   $ 70,601   $148,949   $141,619  
Cost of goods sold    44,554    49,654    87,829    97,860  

Gross profit    31,059    20,947    61,120    43,759  
Operating expenses      

Sales and marketing expenses    9,402    8,993    18,900    18,790  
General and administrative expenses    8,990    8,293    17,842    18,546  
Research and development expenses    2,687    7,537    5,909    19,535  

Total operating expenses    21,079    24,823    42,651    56,871  
Operating income (loss)    9,980    (3,876)   18,469    (13,112) 

Interest expense, net    (10,567)   (10,619)   (21,119)   (21,288) 
Other (expense) income, net    (175)   (87)   (589)   634  

Loss before income taxes    (762)   (14,582)   (3,239)   (33,766) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes    874    (82)   (318)   546  

Net loss    (1,636)   (14,500)   (2,921)   (34,312) 
Foreign currency translation    603    (996)   332    (1,593) 

Total comprehensive loss   $ (1,033)  $(15,496)  $ (2,589)  $ (35,905) 

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Lantheus MI Intermediate, Inc. and subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(unaudited, in thousands, except share data)
 

   
June 30,

2014   
December 31,

2013  
Assets    

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 14,100   $ 16,669  
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $421 and $290    42,536    38,910  
Inventory    16,301    18,310  
Income tax receivable    596    325  
Deferred tax assets    13    18  
Other current assets    4,525    3,087  

Total current assets    78,071    77,319  
Property, plant and equipment, net    96,381    97,653  
Capitalized software development costs, net    1,866    1,470  
Intangibles, net    31,192    34,998  
Goodwill    15,714    15,714  
Deferred financing costs    8,549    9,639  
Deferred tax assets    37    15  
Other long-term assets    19,769    22,577  

Total assets   $ 251,579   $ 259,385  
Liabilities and Stockholder’s Deficit    

Current liabilities    
Line of credit   $ 13,500   $ 8,000  
Accounts payable    13,987    18,103  
Accrued expenses and other liabilities    23,891    25,492  
Deferred tax liability    61    57  
Deferred revenue    2,175    3,979  

Total current liabilities    53,614    55,631  
Asset retirement obligation    7,052    6,385  
Long-term debt, net    399,159    399,037  
Deferred tax liability    8    12  
Other long-term liabilities    32,607    35,408  

Total liabilities    492,440    496,473  
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 13)    
Stockholder’s deficit    

Common stock ($0.001 par value, 10,000 shares authorized; 1 share issued and outstanding)    —     —   
Due from parent    (2,978)   (1,259) 
Additional paid-in capital    3,438    2,903  
Accumulated deficit    (241,259)   (238,338) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (62)   (394) 

Total stockholder’s deficit    (240,861)   (237,088) 
Total liabilities and stockholder’s deficit   $ 251,579   $ 259,385  

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Lantheus MI Intermediate, Inc. and subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholder’s Deficit

(unaudited, in thousands, except share data)
 

 
 Common Stock   Due from  

Additional
Paid-in   Accumulated  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive  
Total

Stockholder’s 
 Shares  Amount  Parent   Capital   Deficit   Income (Loss)   Deficit  

Balance at January 1, 2013   1   $ —    $ (1,353)  $ 2,325   $ (176,660)  $ 1,335   $ (174,353) 
Net loss   —     —     —     —     (61,678)   —     (61,678) 
Payments from parent   —     —     94    —     —     —     94  
Foreign currency translation   —     —     —     —     —     (1,729)   (1,729) 
Stock-based compensation   —     —     —     578    —     —     578  

Balance at December 31, 2013   1    —     (1,259)   2,903    (238,338)   (394)   (237,088) 
Net loss   —     —     —     —     (2,921)   —     (2,921) 
Increase in amounts due from parent   —     —     (1,719)   —     —     —     (1,719) 
Foreign currency translation   —     —     —     —     —     332    332  
Stock-based compensation   —     —     —     535    —     —     535  

Balance at June 30, 2014   1   $ —    $ (2,978)  $ 3,438   $ (241,259)  $ (62)  $ (240,861) 

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Lantheus MI Intermediate, Inc. and subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(unaudited, in thousands)
 

   
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
   2014   2013  
Cash flows from operating activities    
Net loss   $ (2,921)  $(34,312) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash flow from operating activities    

Depreciation and amortization    9,874    14,278  
Provision for excess and obsolete inventory    890    2,203  
Stock-based compensation    535    563  
Deferred income taxes    (20)   (276) 
Other    256    723  

Increase (decrease) in cash from operating assets and liabilities    
Accounts receivable    (3,736)   3,285  
Other current assets    (1,479)   138  
Inventory    1,106    (1,368) 
Income taxes    (271)   40  
Deferred revenue    (1,821)   (3,176) 
Accounts payable    (4,324)   3,199  
Accrued expenses and other liabilities    (2,329)   (1,410) 

Cash used in operating activities    (4,240)   (16,113) 
Cash flows from investing activities    
Capital expenditures    (3,480)   (2,796) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    227    —   

Cash used in investing activities    (3,253)   (2,796) 
Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from line of credit    5,500    8,000  
Payments on note payable    (35)   (777) 
Deferred financing costs    (84)   (157) 
Payments to parent    (808)   233  

Cash provided by financing activities    4,573    7,299  
Effect of foreign exchange rate on cash    351    (1,134) 
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (2,569)   (12,744) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    16,669    31,595  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $14,100   $ 18,851  
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information    

Interest paid   $19,628   $ 19,572  
Income taxes paid, net   $ 404   $ 314  

Noncash investing and financing activities    
Property, plant and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities   $ 1,226   $ 412  
Expenses to be paid on behalf of parent included in accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities   $ 911   $ —   

See notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Lantheus MI Intermediate, Inc. and subsidiaries

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Unless the context otherwise requires, references to the “Company,” “Lantheus,” “our company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Lantheus MI
Intermediate, Inc. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries, references to “Lantheus Intermediate” refer to only Lantheus MI Intermediate, Inc., the parent of
Lantheus Medical Imaging, Inc., references to “Holdings” refer to Lantheus Holdings, Inc. (formerly Lantheus MI Holdings, Inc.), the parent of Lantheus
Intermediate and references to “LMI” refer to Lantheus Medical Imaging, Inc., the subsidiary of Lantheus Intermediate. Solely for convenience, we refer to
trademarks, service marks and trade names without the TM, SM and ® symbols. Such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not
assert, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law, our rights to our trademarks, service marks and trade names.

1. Business Overview

Overview

The Company develops, manufactures, sells and distributes innovative diagnostic medical imaging agents and products that assist clinicians in
the diagnosis of cardiovascular and other diseases. The Company’s commercial products are used by nuclear physicians, cardiologists, radiologists, internal
medicine physicians, technologists and sonographers working in a variety of clinical settings. The Company sells its products to radiopharmacies, hospitals,
clinics, group practices, integrated delivery networks, group purchasing organizations and, in certain circumstances, wholesalers. The Company sells its
products globally and has operations in the United States, Puerto Rico, Canada and Australia and distribution relationships in Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin
America.

The Company’s portfolio of 10 commercial products is diversified across a range of imaging modalities. The Company’s imaging agents include
medical radiopharmaceuticals (including technetium generators) and contrast agents, including the following:
 

 

•  DEFINITY is the leading ultrasound contrast imaging agent used by cardiologists and sonographers during cardiac ultrasound, or
echocardiography, exams based on revenue and usage. DEFINITY is an injectable agent that, in the United States, is indicated for use in
patients with suboptimal echocardiograms to assist in the visualization of the left ventricle, the main pumping chamber of the heart. The
use of DEFINITY in echocardiography allows physicians to significantly improve their assessment of the function of the left ventricle.

 

 •  TechneLite is a self-contained system, or generator, of technetium (Tc99m), a radioisotope with a six hour half-life, used by
radiopharmacies to prepare various nuclear imaging agents.

 

 •  Xenon Xe 133 Gas is a radiopharmaceutical gas that is inhaled and used to assess pulmonary function and also to image blood flow.
 

 
•  Cardiolite is an injectable, technetium-labeled imaging agent, also known by its generic name sestamibi, used with Single Photon

Emission Computed Tomography, or SPECT, technology in myocardial perfusion imaging, or MPI, procedures that assess blood flow
distribution to the heart.

 

 •  Neurolite is an injectable, technetium-labeled imaging agent used with SPECT technology to identify the area within the brain where
blood flow has been blocked or reduced due to stroke.

In the United States, the Company sells DEFINITY through its sales team that calls on healthcare providers in the echocardiography space, as
well as group purchasing organizations and integrated delivery networks. The Company’s radiopharmaceutical products are primarily distributed through
approximately 350 radiopharmacies owned or controlled by third parties. In Canada, Puerto Rico and Australia, the Company owns nine radiopharmacies and
sells its own radiopharmaceuticals, as well as others, directly to end users. In Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America, the Company utilizes distributor
relationships to market, sell and distribute its products.

Basis of Consolidation and Presentation

The financial statements have been prepared in United States dollars, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, or U.S. GAAP. The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

In the opinion of the Company’s management, the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include all
adjustments, consisting of normal recurring accruals, necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s financial statements for interim periods in accordance
with U.S. GAAP. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been
condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of
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the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. The information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with
the Company’s consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2013, or the 2013 Form 10-K. The Company’s accounting policies are described in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in the
2013 Form 10-K and updated, as necessary, in this Form 10-Q. There were no changes to the Company’s accounting policies since December 31, 2013. The
year-end condensed consolidated balance sheet data presented for comparative purposes was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include
all disclosures required by U.S. GAAP. The results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 are not necessarily indicative of the
operating results for the full year or for any other subsequent interim period.

Recent Events

The Company incurred a net loss of $2.9 million during the six months ended June 30, 2014 and had an accumulated deficit of $241.3 million at
June 30, 2014. During 2013, the Company relied on Ben Venue Laboratories, Inc., or BVL, as its sole manufacturer of Neurolite and as one of its two
manufacturers of DEFINITY and Cardiolite. Following extended operational and regulatory challenges at BVL’s Bedford, Ohio facility, as of November 15,
2013, BVL ceased manufacturing for the Company any DEFINITY, Cardiolite or Neurolite product. BVL has since released for commercial distribution all of
the Company’s remaining manufactured product that was awaiting BVL quality approval. The supply challenges with BVL in recent years have had a
negative impact on the Company’s results. The Company has taken specific steps to address the supply chain risks and reduce discretionary spend.

Following extensive technology transfer activities, the Company currently relies on Jubilant HollisterStier, or JHS, as its sole source
manufacturer of DEFINITY. The Company has additional ongoing technology transfer activities at JHS for its Neurolite product supply. In the meantime, the
Company has no other currently active supplier of Neurolite, and its Cardiolite product supply is manufactured by a single manufacturer.

The Company is also pursuing new manufacturing relationships to establish and secure additional or alternative suppliers for its commercial
products. On November 12, 2013, the Company entered into a Manufacturing and Supply Agreement with Pharmalucence to manufacture and supply
DEFINITY. The Company currently believes that Pharmalucence will obtain FDA approval to manufacture DEFINITY in 2015.

Based on current projections, the Company believes that it will have sufficient supply of DEFINITY from JHS and remaining BVL inventory to
meet expected demand and sufficient Cardiolite product supply from its current manufacturer to meet expected demand. The Company also currently
anticipates that it will have sufficient BVL-manufactured Neurolite supply for the U.S. market to last until Neurolite technology transfer and U.S. regulatory
approval at JHS are completed, which we currently anticipate will occur in the second half of 2014.

If JHS is not able to continue to manufacture and release adequate product supply on a timely and consistent basis, the Company is not
successful with the remainder of its JHS technology transfer programs and cannot obtain adequate supply from JHS, or the Company is unable to continue to
grow DEFINITY sales, then the Company will need to implement additional expense reductions, such as a delay or elimination of discretionary spending, in
all functional areas as well as in other operating and strategic initiatives.

During 2013 and 2014, the Company has utilized its line of credit as a source of liquidity. Borrowing capacity under the revolving credit
facility, or the Facility, is calculated by reference to a borrowing base consisting of a percentage of certain eligible accounts receivable, inventory and
machinery and equipment minus any reserves, or the Borrowing Base. If the Company is not successful in achieving its forecasted results, the Company’s
accounts receivable and inventory could be negatively affected, thus reducing the Borrowing Base and limiting the Company’s borrowing capacity. As of
June 30, 2014, the Borrowing Base was approximately $44.5 million, which was reduced by (i) an outstanding $8.8 million unfunded Standby Letter of
Credit and (ii) a $13.5 million outstanding loan balance, resulting in a net Borrowing Base availability of approximately $22.2 million.

The Company took actions during March 2013 to substantially reduce its discretionary spending. In particular, the Company began to
implement a strategic shift in how it funds its research and development, or R&D, programs. The Company reduced its internal R&D resources during 2013,
while at the same time it sought to engage one or more strategic partners to assist in the further development and commercialization of its agents in
development, including flurpiridaz F 18, 18F LMI 1195 and LMI 1174. The Company has completed its 301 trial for flurpiridaz F 18 with internal funding.
The Company is seeking to engage strategic partners to assist with the further development and possible commercialization of that agent. For the other two
agents in development, 18F LMI 1195 and LMI 1174, the Company is also seeking to engage strategic partners to assist with the ongoing development
activities relating to these agents. Based on the Company’s current operating plans, the Company believes its existing cash and cash equivalents, results of
operations and availability under the Facility will be sufficient to continue to fund the Company’s liquidity requirements for at least the next twelve months.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make certain estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The more significant estimates reflected in the Company’s condensed consolidated financial
statements include certain judgments regarding revenue recognition, goodwill, tangible and intangible asset valuation, inventory valuation and potential
losses on purchase commitments, asset retirement obligations, income tax liabilities, deferred tax assets and liabilities, accrued expenses and stock-based
compensation. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates or assumptions.

Recent Accounting Standards

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or the FASB, issued Accounting Standards Update , or ASU, No. 2013-11, “Presentation
of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists,” or ASU 2013-11. The
amendments in ASU 2013-11 provide guidance on the financial statement presentation of unrecognized tax benefits when a net operating loss carryforward, a
similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists. ASU 2013-11 was effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after
December 15, 2013. The amendments did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-08, “Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205) and Property, Plant, and Equipment (Topic
360): Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity,” or ASU 2014-08. The amendments in ASU 2014-08
change the criteria for reporting discontinued operations while enhancing disclosures in this area. The new guidance requires expanded disclosures about
discontinued operations that will provide financial statement users with more information about the assets, liabilities, income, and expenses of discontinued
operations. The new guidance also requires disclosure of the pre-tax income attributable to a disposal of a significant part of an organization that does not
qualify for discontinued operations reporting. The amendments in the ASU are effective in the first quarter of 2015 for public companies with calendar year
ends. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not anticipate this ASU will have a material impact to the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)” or ASU 2014-09. ASU 2014-09
supersedes nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is to recognize revenues when promised
goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that is expected to be received for those goods or services. ASU
2014-09 defines a five step process to achieve this core principle and, in doing so, it is possible more judgment and estimates may be required within the
revenue recognition process than required under existing U.S. GAAP including identifying performance obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of
variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to each separate performance obligation. The amendments in
ASU No. 2014-09 are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that reporting period. Early
application is not permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this ASU will have on the Company’s financial position, results of operations
and cash flows.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, “Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718)” or ASU 2014-12. ASU 2014-12 requires
that a performance target that affects vesting and could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition. The amendments
in ASU No. 2014-12 are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015, including interim periods within that reporting period.
The Company does not anticipate this ASU will have a material impact to the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when evidence of an arrangement exists, title has passed, the risks and rewards of ownership have transferred
to the customer, the selling price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. For transactions for which revenue recognition criteria
have not yet been met, the respective amounts are recorded as deferred revenue until such point in time the criteria are met and revenue can be recognized.
Revenue is recognized net of reserves, which consist of allowances for returns and rebates.

Revenue arrangements with multiple elements are divided into separate units of accounting if certain criteria are met, including whether the
delivered element has stand-alone value to the customer. The arrangement’s consideration is then allocated to each separate unit of accounting based on the
relative selling price of each deliverable. The estimated selling price of each deliverable is determined using the following hierarchy of values: (i) vendor-
specific objective evidence of fair value; (ii) third-party evidence of
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selling price; and (iii) best estimate of selling price. The best estimate of selling price reflects the Company’s best estimate of what the selling price would be
if the deliverable was regularly sold by the Company on a stand-alone basis. The consideration allocated to each unit of accounting is then recognized as the
related goods or services are delivered, limited to the consideration that is not contingent upon future deliverables. Supply or service transactions may
involve the charge of a nonrefundable initial fee with subsequent periodic payments for future products or services. The up-front fees, even if nonrefundable,
are recognized as revenue as the products and/or services are delivered and performed over the term of the arrangement.

Inventory

Inventory costs associated with product that has not yet received regulatory approval are capitalized if the Company believes there is probable
future commercial use of the product and future economic benefits of the asset. If future commercial use of the product is not probable, then inventory costs
associated with such product are expensed during the period the costs are incurred. For the six months ended June 30, 2014, the Company expensed
$1.3 million of such product costs in cost of goods sold relating to Neurolite that was manufactured by JHS. No such product costs were incurred during the
three months ended June 30, 2014. At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company had no capitalized inventories associated with product that did
not have regulatory approval.

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized, but is instead tested for impairment at least annually and whenever events or circumstances indicate that it is more
likely than not that it may be impaired. The Company has elected to perform the annual test for goodwill impairment as of October 31 of each year. All
goodwill has been allocated to the U.S. operating segment.

During the first quarter of 2013, the strategic shift in how the Company funds its R&D programs significantly altered the expected future costs
and revenues associated with the Company’s agents in development. Accordingly, this action was deemed to be a triggering event for an evaluation of the
recoverability of the Company’s goodwill as of March 31, 2013. The Company performed an interim impairment test and determined that there was no
goodwill impairment as of March 31, 2013. There were no events as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 that triggered an interim impairment test of
goodwill.

The Company calculates the fair value of its reporting units using the income approach, which utilizes discounted forecasted future cash flows
and the market approach which utilizes fair value multiples of comparable publicly traded companies. The discounted cash flows are based on the
Company’s most recent long-term financial projections and are discounted using a risk adjusted rate of return, which is determined using estimates of market
participant risk-adjusted weighted average costs of capital and reflects the risks associated with achieving future cash flows. The market approach is
calculated using the guideline company method, where the Company uses market multiples derived from stock prices of companies engaged in the same or
similar lines of business. A combination of the two methods is utilized to derive the fair value of the business in order to decrease the inherent risk associated
with each model if used independently.

3. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The tables below present information about the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30,
2014 and December 31, 2013, and indicate the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such fair value. In general, fair values
determined by Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Fair values determined by Level 2 inputs
utilize data points from active markets that are observable, such as quoted prices, interest rates and yield curves. Fair values determined by Level 3 inputs
utilize unobservable data points for the asset or liability.
 

June 30, 2014
(in thousands)   

Total fair
value    

Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)    

Significant other
observable

inputs
(Level 2)    

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)  

Money market   $ 1,582    $ 1,582    $ —      $ —    
Certificates of deposit—restricted    323     —       323     —    
Total   $ 1,905    $ 1,582    $ 323    $ —    
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December 31, 2013
(in thousands)   

Total fair
value    

 
Quoted prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)    

Significant other
observable

inputs
(Level 2)    

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)  

Money market   $ 1,236    $ 1,236    $ —      $ —    
Certificates of deposit—restricted    322     —       322     —    
Total   $ 1,558    $ 1,236    $ 322    $ —    

At both June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company has a $0.2 million certificate of deposit for which the Company’s use of such cash
is restricted and is included in the line item “Certificates of deposit—restricted” above. This investment is classified in other current assets on the condensed
consolidated balance sheet. The remaining $0.1 million at both June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 represents a certificate of deposit that is collateral for a
long-term lease and is included in other long-term assets on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. Certificates of deposit are classified within Level 2 of
the fair value hierarchy, as these are not traded on the open market.

At June 30, 2014, the Company had total cash and cash equivalents of $14.1 million, which included approximately $1.6 million of money
market funds and $12.5 million of cash on-hand. At December 31, 2013, the Company had total cash and cash equivalents of $16.7 million, which included
approximately $1.2 million of money market funds and $15.5 million of cash on-hand.

The estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments, including its cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and
accrued expenses approximate the carrying values of these instruments due to their short term nature. The estimated fair value of the debt at June 30, 2014,
based on Level 2 inputs of recent market activity available to the Company, was $419.0 million compared to the face value of $400.0 million. At
December 31, 2013, the estimated fair value of the debt was $356.0 million compared to the face value of $400.0 million.

4. Income Taxes

The Company provides for income taxes at the end of each interim period based on the estimated effective tax rate for the full fiscal year in
addition to discrete events which impact the interim period. The Company’s effective tax rate differs from the U.S. statutory rate principally due to the rate
impact of uncertain tax positions, valuation allowance changes and state taxes. Cumulative adjustments to the tax provision are recorded in the interim
period in which a change in the estimated annual effective rate is determined. The Company’s tax provision was $0.9 million and a benefit $0.3 million for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, respectively, compared to a tax benefit of $0.1 million and a provision of $0.5 million for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2013, respectively.

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of the medical imaging business from Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, or BMS, in 2008, the
Company obtained a tax indemnification agreement from BMS related to certain tax obligations arising prior to the acquisition of the Company, for which
the Company has the primary legal obligation. The tax indemnification receivable is recognized within other long-term assets. The changes in the tax
indemnification asset are recognized within other income in the condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. In accordance with the Company’s
accounting policy, the change in the tax liability and penalties and interest associated with these obligations (net of any offsetting federal or state benefit) is
recognized within the tax provision. Accordingly, as these reserves change, adjustments are included in the tax provision while the offsetting adjustment is
included in other (expense) income. Assuming that the receivable from BMS continues to be considered recoverable by the Company, there is no net effect
on earnings related to these liabilities and no net cash outflows.

On March 13, 2014, New York State, BMS, the Company and a relator entered into a Stipulation and Settlement Agreement and other related
agreements, or collectively the Settlement Documents, to resolve an investigation by the Office of the Attorney General of New York State, claims relating to
certain New York State and New York City tax matters and related claims under the New York False Claims Act. The claims at issue arose during the period
from January 1, 2002 through December 31, 2006, which predated the acquisition of the medical imaging business from BMS in January 2008 and are
subject to the tax indemnification agreement described above. Pursuant to the Settlement Documents, BMS paid (on behalf of itself and the Company) $6.3
million, and neither BMS nor the Company admitted any liability. The Company received a full release from New York State, New York City and the relator
with respect to the claims at issue.

Within the next twelve months, approximately $1.3 million of unrecognized tax benefits, primarily relating to transfer pricing, may be
recognized due to the closing of statutes of limitation.
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5. Inventory

The Company includes within current assets the amount of inventory that is estimated to be utilized within twelve months. Inventory that will be
utilized after twelve months is classified within other long-term assets.

Inventory, classified in inventory or other long-term assets, consisted of the following:
 

(in thousands)   
June 30,

2014    
December 31,

2013  
Raw materials   $ 5,437    $ 7,063  
Work in process    4,982     5,849  
Finished goods    5,882     5,398  

Inventory    16,301     18,310  
Other long-term assets    1,736     1,687  

Total   $18,037    $ 19,997  

At June 30, 2014, inventories reported as other long-term assets included $1.1 million of raw materials and $0.6 million of finished goods. At
December 31, 2013, inventories reported as other long-term assets included $1.7 million of raw materials.

The Company’s Ablavar product was commercially launched in January 2010. The revenues for this product through June 30, 2014 have not
been significant. At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the balances of inventory on-hand reflect approximately $1.4 million and $1.5 million,
respectively, of finished products and raw materials related to Ablavar. LMI has an agreement with a supplier to provide Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient
and finished products for Ablavar. At June 30, 2014, there are no remaining future purchase commitments under this agreement. The Company records the
inventory when it takes delivery, at which time the Company assumes title and risk of loss.

6. Property, Plant and Equipment, net

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:
 

(in thousands)   
June 30,

2014   
December 31,

2013  
Land   $ 14,950   $ 14,950  
Buildings    67,365    65,787  
Machinery, equipment and fixtures    64,864    65,026  
Construction in progress    6,749    8,029  
Accumulated depreciation    (57,547)   (56,139) 
Property, plant and equipment, net   $ 96,381   $ 97,653  

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, depreciation expense related to property, plant and equipment was $2.1 million and
$4.4 million, respectively, as compared to $2.4 million and $4.8 million for the prior year comparative periods.

Included within machinery, equipment and fixtures are spare parts of approximately $2.6 million and $2.5 million at June 30, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, respectively. Spare parts include replacement parts relating to plant and equipment and are either recognized as an expense when
consumed or re-classified and capitalized as part of the related plant and equipment and depreciated over a time period not exceeding the useful life of the
related asset.

Fixed assets dedicated to R&D activities, which were impacted by the March 2013 R&D strategic shift, have a carrying value of $5.5 million as
of June 30, 2014. The Company believes these fixed assets will be utilized for either internally funded ongoing R&D activities or R&D activities funded by a
strategic partner. If the Company is not successful in finding a strategic partner and there are no alternative uses for these fixed assets, then they could be
subject to impairment in the future.
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7. Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company considers the legal obligation to remediate its facilities upon a decommissioning of its radioactive related operations as an asset
retirement obligation. The operations of the Company have radioactive production facilities at its North Billerica, Massachusetts and San Juan, Puerto Rico
sites.

The Company is required to provide the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission and Massachusetts Department of Public Health financial
assurance demonstrating the Company’s ability to fund the decommissioning of the North Billerica, Massachusetts production facility upon closure,
although the Company does not intend to close the facility. The Company has provided this financial assurance in the form of a $28.2 million surety bond
itself, currently secured by an $8.8 million unfunded Standby Letter of Credit provided to the third party issuer of the bond.

The fair value of a liability for asset retirement obligations is recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred. As of June 30, 2014, the
liability is measured at the present value of the obligation expected to be incurred, of approximately $26.6 million, and is adjusted in subsequent periods as
accretion expense is recorded. The corresponding asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying value of the related long-lived assets and
depreciated over the asset’s useful life.

The following is a reconciliation of the Company’s asset retirement obligations for the six months ended June 30, 2014:
 

(in thousands)     
Balance at January 1, 2014   $6,385  

Capitalization    277  
Accretion expense    390  

Balance at June 30, 2014   $7,052  

8. Intangibles, net

Intangibles, net consisted of the following:
 

   June 30, 2014

(in thousands)   Cost    
Accumulated
amortization   Net    

Amortization
Method

Trademarks   $ 13,540    $ 4,207    $ 9,333    Straight-line
Customer relationships    106,337     87,107     19,230    Accelerated
Other patents    42,780     40,151     2,629    Straight-line

  $162,657    $ 131,465    $31,192    

 
   December 31, 2013

(in thousands)   Cost    
Accumulated
amortization   Net    

Amortization
Method

Trademarks   $ 13,540    $ 3,298    $10,242    Straight-line
Customer relationships    106,298     84,476     21,822    Accelerated
Other patents    42,780     39,846     2,934    Straight-line

  $162,618    $ 127,620    $34,998    

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, the Company recorded amortization expense for its intangible assets of $1.9 million and
$3.8 million, respectively, as compared to $3.6 million and $7.2 million for the prior year comparative periods.

Expected future amortization expense related to the intangible assets is as follows:
 

(in thousands)     
Remainder of 2014   $ 3,801  
2015    6,037  
2016    5,350  
2017    3,531  
2018    2,800  
2019 and thereafter    9,673  

  $31,192  
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9. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities are comprised of the following:
 

(in thousands)   
June 30,

2014    
December 31,

2013  
Compensation and benefits   $ 9,454    $ 10,209  
Accrued interest    4,970     4,989  
Accrued professional fees    2,118     1,361  
Research and development services    106     338  
Freight, distribution and operations    2,919     3,432  
Accrued loss on firm purchase commitment    —      1,315  
Marketing expense    1,624     749  
Accrued rebates, discounts and chargebacks    2,292     1,739  
Other    408     1,360  

  $23,891    $ 25,492  

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had accrued a contract loss of $1.3 million associated with the portion of the committed purchases of
Ablavar product from the Company’s supplier that the Company did not believe it would sell prior to expiry. As of June 30, 2014, the accrued contract loss
has been reclassified to a reserve against the Ablavar inventory balance, because the Company received the remaining purchase commitments in the first
quarter of 2014.

10. Financing Arrangements

Senior Notes

LMI has $400.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes, or the Notes, outstanding. The Notes bear interest at a rate of 9.750% per
year, payable on May 15 and November 15 of each year. The Notes mature on May 15, 2017.

Revolving Line of Credit

LMI had a Facility with an original aggregate principal amount not to exceed $42.5 million. On June 24, 2014, the Company executed an
amendment to the Facility which, (i) increased the committed availability for total borrowings under the Facility from $42.5 million to $50.0 million, (ii) set
the interest at LIBOR plus 2.00% or the Reference Rate (as defined in the agreement) plus 1.00%, (iii) set the unused line fee at 0.375%, and (iv) further
modified certain definitions. In connection with the amendment, LMI incurred approximately $0.1 million in fees and expenses as of June 30, 2014, which
will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the Facility.

The Facility expires on the earlier of (i) July 3, 2018 or (ii) if the outstanding Notes are not refinanced in full, the date that is 91 days before the
maturity thereof, at which time all outstanding borrowings are due and payable.

As of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company has an unfunded Standby Letter of Credit for up to $8.8 million. The unfunded
Standby Letter of Credit requires an annual fee, payable quarterly, which is set at LIBOR plus a spread of 2.00% and expires on February 5, 2015, which will
automatically renew for a one year period at each anniversary date, unless the Company elects not to renew in writing within 60 days prior to that expiration.

The Facility is secured by a pledge of substantially all of the assets of each of the Company, LMI and Lantheus Real Estate, including each
entity’s accounts receivable, inventory and machinery and equipment, and is guaranteed by each of Lantheus Intermediate and Lantheus Real Estate.
Borrowing capacity is determined by reference to a Borrowing Base, which is based on a percentage of certain eligible accounts receivable, inventory and
machinery and equipment minus any reserves. As of June 30, 2014, the aggregate Borrowing Base was approximately $44.5 million, which was reduced by
(i) an outstanding $8.8 million unfunded Standby Letter of Credit and (ii) an $13.5 million outstanding loan balance, resulting in a net Borrowing Base
availability of approximately $22.2 million.
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11. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company’s employees are eligible to receive awards under the Holdings 2013 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2013 Plan. The 2013 Plan is
administered by the Holdings Board of Directors and permits the granting of nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, or SARs, restricted stock
and restricted stock units to employees, officers, directors and consultants of Holdings or any subsidiary of Holdings (including Lantheus Intermediate and
LMI). On August 5, 2013, the Holdings Board of Directors adopted a resolution providing that no further grants be made under the Holdings 2008 Equity
Incentive Plan, or the 2008 Plan. At the same time, the maximum number of shares that may be issued pursuant to awards under the 2013 Plan was increased
from 1,500,000 to 2,700,000. Option awards under the 2013 Plan are granted with an exercise price equal to the fair value of Holdings’ stock at the date of
grant, as determined by the Board of Directors of Holdings. Time based option awards vest based on time, either four or five years, and performance based
option awards vest based on the performance criteria specified in the grant. All option awards have a ten-year contractual term. The Company recognizes
compensation costs for its time based awards on a straight-line basis equal to the vesting period. The compensation cost for performance based awards is
recognized on a graded vesting basis, based on the probability of achieving the performance targets over the requisite service period for the entire award. The
fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes valuation model that uses the assumptions noted in the following
table. Expected volatilities are based on the historic volatility of a selected peer group. Expected dividends represent the dividends expected to be issued at
the date of grant. The expected term of options represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free interest rate
assumption is the U.S. Treasury rate at the date of the grant which most closely resembles the expected life of the options.

The Company uses the following Black-Scholes inputs to determine the fair value of new stock option grants.
 

   
Three Months

Ended June 30,   
Six Months

Ended June 30,
   2014   2013   2014   2013
Expected volatility   33 - 35%   36%   33 - 35%   36%
Expected dividends   —   —   —   —
Expected life (in years)   5.5 – 6.3   5.5 - 6.3   5.5 – 6.3   5.5 - 6.3
Risk-free interest rate   1.6 – 1.9%   0.7 - 0.9%   1.5 – 1.9%   0.7 - 1.0%

A summary of option activity for 2014 is presented below:
 

   Time Based   
Performance

Based   Total   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price    

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term    

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
Outstanding at January 1, 2014    2,761,037    1,097,425    3,858,462   $ 4.89     6.9    $6,777,000  
Options granted    74,664    —     74,664    5.98      
Options cancelled    (14,900)   (4,270)   (19,170)   5.51      
Options exercised    (4,500)   (1,737)   (6,237)   2.00      
Options forfeited or expired    (29,000)   (7,880)   (36,880)   7.32      
Outstanding at June 30, 2014    2,787,301    1,083,538    3,870,839    4.89     6.5    $5,713,000  
Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2014    2,704,981    704,344    3,409,325    4.62     6.1    $5,713,000  
Exercisable at June 30, 2014    1,614,077    549,104    2,163,181    3.28     4.6    $5,713,000  

The weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted during the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 was $2.01 and $2.08,
respectively, as compared to $2.45 and $2.41 for the prior year comparative periods.
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Stock-based compensation expense for both time based and performance based awards was recognized in the condensed consolidated statements
of comprehensive loss as follows:
 

   

Three Months
Ended

June 30,   

Six Months
Ended

June 30,  
(in thousands)   2014    2013   2014    2013  
Cost of goods sold   $ 31    $ 3   $ 72    $ 30  
General and administrative    154     294    323     490  
Sales and marketing    37     26    81     40  
Research and development    29     (17)   59     3  
Total stock-based compensation expense   $251    $306   $535    $563  

Stock-based compensation expense recognized in the condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive loss for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 are based on awards ultimately expected to vest as well as any changes in the probability of achieving certain performance
features as required.

Upon termination of employment, Holdings has the right to call shares held by employees that were purchased or acquired through option
exercise. As a result of this right, upon termination of service, vested stock-based awards are reclassified to liability-based awards when it is probable the
employee will exercise the option and that Holdings will exercise its call right. As of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company did not have any
liability-based awards outstanding.

The Company did not recognize an income tax benefit for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013. As of June 30, 2014, there was
approximately $2.4 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested stock options granted under the 2013 and 2008 Plans. These
costs are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average remaining period of 1.4 years. In addition, performance based awards contain certain contingent
features, such as change in control provisions, which allow for the vesting of previously forfeited and unvested awards. As of June 30, 2014, there was
approximately $1.0 million of unrecognized compensation expense relating to these features, which could be recognized through 2023.

12. Other (Expense) Income, net

Other (expense) income, net consisted of the following:
 

   

Three Months
Ended

June 30,   

Six Months
Ended

June 30,  
(in thousands)   2014   2013   2014   2013  
Foreign currency (losses) gains   $(154)  $ 79   $(392)  $ (6) 
Tax indemnification (loss) income    (22)   (167)   (197)   272  
Other income    1    1    —      368  
Total other (expense) income, net   $(175)  $ (87)  $(589)  $634  

13. Legal Proceedings and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company is a party to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. In addition, the Company has
in the past been, and may in the future be, subject to investigations by governmental and regulatory authorities, which expose it to greater risks associated
with litigation, regulatory or other proceedings, as a result of which the Company could be required to pay significant fines or penalties. The outcome of
litigation, regulatory or other proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, and some lawsuits, claims, actions or proceedings may be disposed of
unfavorably to the Company. In addition, intellectual property disputes often have a risk of injunctive relief which, if imposed against the Company, could
materially and adversely affect its financial condition or results of operations. As of June 30, 2014, the Company had no material ongoing litigation in which
the Company was a defendant or any material ongoing regulatory or other proceedings and had no knowledge of any investigations by government or
regulatory authorities in which the Company is a target that could have a material adverse effect on its current business.

On December 16, 2010, LMI filed suit against one of its insurance carriers seeking to recover business interruption losses associated with the
NRU reactor shutdown and the ensuing global Moly supply shortage. The claim is the result of the shutdown of the NRU reactor in Chalk River, Ontario. The
NRU reactor was off-line from May 2009 until August 2010. The defendant answered the complaint on January 21, 2011, denying substantially all of the
allegations, presenting certain defenses and requesting dismissal of the case with costs and disbursements. Discovery has commenced and is continuing. With
the court’s leave, the defendant filed a summary judgment motion on July 14, 2014, and the court granted the Company until August 25, 2014 to respond to
that motion. The Company cannot be certain what amount, if any, or when, if ever, it will be able to recover for business interruption losses related to this
matter.
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14. Related Party Transactions

At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, LMI had outstanding receivables from Holdings in the amount of $3.0 million and $1.3 million,
respectively, which was included in due from parent within stockholder’s deficit.

Avista, the majority shareholder of Holdings, provides certain advisory services to the Company pursuant to an advisory services and monitoring
agreement. The Company is required to pay an annual fee of $1.0 million and other reasonable and customary advisory fees, as applicable, paid on a
quarterly basis. The initial term of the agreement is seven years. Upon termination, which is at the Company’s option, all remaining amounts owed under the
agreement shall become due immediately. During each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, the Company incurred costs associated with this
agreement totaling $0.3 million and $0.5 million, respectively, as compared to $0.3 million and $0.5 million for the prior year comparative periods. At
June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, $16,000 and $30,000, respectively, was included in accrued expenses.

The Company had a Master Contract Research Organization Services Agreement with INC Research, LLC, or INC, to provide clinical
development services in connection with the flurpiridaz F 18 Phase III program. Avista and certain of its affiliates are principal owners of both INC and the
Company. The agreement was cancelled during May 2014. The agreement had a term of five years, and the Company did not incur any costs associated with
this agreement in the three and six months ended June 30, 2014. The Company incurred costs associated with this agreement totaling $0.1 million and $0.5
million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2013, respectively. At both June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, there was no balance due to INC.

The Company purchases inventory supplies from VWR Scientific, or VWR. Avista and certain of its affiliates are principal owners of both VWR
and the Company. During each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, the Company made purchases of $74,000 and $134,000, respectively, as
compared to $60,000 and $98,000 for the prior year comparative periods. At June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, $5,000 and $1,000, respectively, was
included in accounts payable and accrued expenses.

The Company retains Marsh for insurance brokering and risk management. In November 2013, Donald Bailey, brother of the Company’s
President and Chief Executive Officer, Jeffrey Bailey, was appointed head of sales for Marsh’s U.S. and Canada division. In 2014, the Company expects to
pay Marsh approximately $0.3 million. At both June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, there was a prepaid of $43,000 included in other current assets.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had $0.1 million due from an officer of the Company included in accounts receivable, net. These amounts
represent federal and state tax withholdings paid by the Company on behalf of the officer. During the second quarter of 2014, this amount was fully repaid by
the officer.

15. Segment Information

The Company reports two operating segments, U.S. and International, based on geographic customer base. The results of these operating
segments are regularly reviewed by our chief operating decision maker, the President and Chief Executive Officer. The Company’s segments derive revenues
through the manufacturing, marketing, selling and distribution of medical imaging products, focused primarily on cardiovascular diagnostic imaging. The
U.S. segment comprises 77.5% of consolidated revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 as compared to 74.0% and 75.2% for the prior year
comparative periods and 89.7% and 89.8% of consolidated assets at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. All goodwill has been allocated to
the U.S. operating segment.
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Selected information for each business segment is as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
   2014   2013   2014   2013  
Revenues      
U.S.   $ 62,981   $ 58,826   $124,368   $117,760  
International    17,045    18,370    33,570    35,133  
Total revenue, including inter-segment    80,026    77,196    157,938    152,893  
Less inter-segment revenue    (4,413)   (6,595)   (8,989)   (11,274) 

  $ 75,613   $ 70,601   $148,949   $141,619  
Revenues from external customers      
U.S.   $ 58,568   $ 52,231   $115,379   $106,486  
International    17,045    18,370    33,570    35,133  

  $ 75,613   $ 70,601   $148,949   $141,619  
Operating income (loss)      
U.S.   $ 8,417   $ (4,274)  $ 15,437   $ (13,298) 
International    1,345    1,198    2,644    967  
Total operating income (loss), including inter-segment    9,762    (3,076)   18,081    (12,331) 
Inter-segment operating income (loss)    218    (800)   388    (781) 

Operating income (loss)    9,980    (3,876)   18,469    (13,112) 
Interest expense, net    (10,567)   (10,619)   (21,119)   (21,288) 
Other (expense) income, net    (175)   (87)   (589)   634  

Loss before income taxes   $ (762)  $(14,582)  $ (3,239)  $ (33,766) 

 

   
June 30,

2014    
December 31,

2013  
Total Assets     
U.S.   $225,638    $ 232,973  
International    25,941     26,412  

  $251,579    $ 259,385  

16. Guarantor Financial Information

The Notes, issued by LMI, are guaranteed by Lantheus Intermediate, or the Parent Guarantor, and Lantheus Real Estate, one of Lantheus
Intermediate’s wholly-owned consolidated subsidiaries, or the Guarantor Subsidiary. The guarantees are full and unconditional and joint and several. The
following supplemental financial information sets forth, on a condensed consolidating basis, balance sheet information as of June 30, 2014 and December 31,
2013, comprehensive loss information for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 and cash flow information for the six months ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013 for Lantheus Intermediate, LMI, the Guarantor Subsidiary and Lantheus Intermediate’s other wholly-owned subsidiaries, or the Non-
Guarantor Subsidiaries. The condensed consolidating financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the condensed consolidated financial
statements of Lantheus Intermediate. The equity method of accounting is followed within this financial information.
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet Information

June 30, 2014
 

(in thousands)   
Lantheus

Intermediate  LMI   
Guarantor
Subsidiary    

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Total  

Assets:          
Current assets          
Cash and cash equivalents   $ —     $ 11,001   $ —      $ 3,099    $ —     $ 14,100  
Accounts receivable, net    —      30,480    —       12,056     —      42,536 
Intercompany accounts receivable    —      2,404   —       —       (2,404)   —    
Inventory    —      13,359   —       2,942    —      16,301  
Income tax receivable    —      321    —       275     —      596  
Deferred tax assets    —      —      —       13     —      13  
Other current assets    —      4,201    —       324     —      4,525  

Total current assets    —      61,766    —       18,709     (2,404)   78,071  
Property, plant and equipment, net    —      75,483    15,575     5,323     —      96,381  
Capitalized software development costs, net    —      1,865    —       1     —      1,866  
Intangibles, net    —      28,365    —       2,827     —      31,192  
Goodwill    —      15,714    —       —       —      15,714  
Deferred financing costs    —      8,549    —       —       —      8,549  
Deferred tax assets    —      —      —       37     —      37  
Investment in subsidiaries    (240,861)   40,461    —       —       200,400    —    
Intercompany note receivable    —      —      —       5,511     (5,511)   —    
Other long-term assets    —      19,563    —       206     —      19,769  

Total assets   $ (240,861)  $ 251,766   $ 15,575    $ 32,614    $ 192,485   $ 251,579  
Liabilities and (deficit) equity:          

Current liabilities          
Line of Credit   $ —     $ 13,500   $ —      $ —      $ —     $ 13,500  
Accounts payable    —      12,804    —       1,183     —      13,987  
Intercompany accounts payable    —      —      —       2,404     (2,404)   —    
Accrued expenses and other liabilities    —      20,593    —       3,298     —      23,891  
Deferred tax liability    —      —      —       61     —      61  
Deferred revenue    —      2,175    —       —       —      2,175  

Total current liabilities    —      49,072    —       6,946     (2,404)   53,614  
Asset retirement obligations    —      6,865    —       187     —      7,052  
Long-term debt, net    —      399,159    —       —       —      399,159  
Intercompany note payable    —      5,511    —       —       (5,511)   —    
Deferred tax liability    —      —      —       8     —      8  
Other long-term liabilities    —      32,020    —       587     —      32,607  

Total liabilities    —      492,627    —       7,728     (7,915)   492,440  
(Deficit) equity    (240,861)   (240,861)   15,575     24,886     200,400    (240,861) 

Total liabilities and (deficit) equity   $ (240,861)  $ 251,766   $ 15,575    $ 32,614    $ 192,485   $ 251,579  
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet Information

December 31, 2013
 

(in thousands)   
Lantheus

Intermediate  LMI   
Guarantor
Subsidiary    

Non-
Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Total  

Assets:          
Current assets          
Cash and cash equivalents   $ —     $ 11,995   $ —      $ 4,674    $ —     $ 16,669  
Accounts receivable, net    —      28,099    —       10,811     —      38,910  
Intercompany accounts receivable    —      2,671    —       —       (2,671)   —    
Inventory    —      15,414    —       2,896     —      18,310  
Income tax receivable    —      297    —       28     —      325  
Deferred tax assets    —      —      —       18     —      18  
Other current assets    —      2,906    —       181     —      3,087  

Total current assets    —      61,382    —       18,608     (2,671)   77,319  
Property, plant and equipment, net    —      76,068    15,615     5,970     —      97,653  
Capitalized software development costs, net    —      1,468    —       2     —      1,470  
Intangibles, net    —      31,838    —       3,160     —      34,998  
Goodwill    —      15,714    —       —       —      15,714  
Deferred financing costs    —      9,639    —       —       —      9,639  
Deferred tax assets    —      —      —       15     —      15  
Investment in subsidiaries    (237,088)   40,289    —       —       196,799    —    
Intercompany note receivable    —      —      —       5,396     (5,396)   —    
Other long-term assets    —      22,370    —       207     —      22,577  

Total assets   $ (237,088)  $ 258,768   $ 15,615    $ 33,358    $ 188,732   $ 259,385  
Liabilities and (deficit) equity:          

Current liabilities          
Line of credit   $ —     $ 8,000   $ —      $ —      $ —     $ 8,000  
Accounts payable    —      16,672    —       1,431     —      18,103  
Intercompany accounts payable    —      —      —       2,671     (2,671)   —    
Accrued expenses and other liabilities    —      21,409    —       4,083     —      25,492  
Deferred tax liability    —      —      —       57     —      57  
Deferred revenue    —      3,979    —       —       —      3,979  

Total current liabilities    —      50,060    —       8,242     (2,671)   55,631  
Asset retirement obligations    —      6,212    —       173     —      6,385  
Long-term debt, net    —      399,037    —       —       —      399,037  
Intercompany note payable    —      5,396    —       —       (5,396)   —    
Deferred tax liability    —      —      —       12     —      12  
Other long-term liabilities    —      35,151    —       257     —      35,408  

Total liabilities    —      495,856    —       8,684     (8,067)   496,473  
(Deficit) equity    (237,088)   (237,088)   15,615     24,674     196,799    (237,088) 

Total liabilities and (deficit) equity   $ (237,088)  $ 258,768   $ 15,615    $ 33,358    $ 188,732   $ 259,385  
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Loss

Three Months Ended June 30, 2014
 
(in thousands)  

Lantheus
Intermediate  LMI   

Guarantor
Subsidiary   

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Total  

Revenues  $ —     $ 65,651   $ —     $ 14,375   $ (4,413)  $ 75,613  
Cost of goods sold   —      36,329    —      12,638    (4,413)   44,554  

Gross profit   —      29,322    —      1,737    —      31,059  
Operating expenses       

Sales and marketing expenses   —      8,515    —      887    —      9,402  
General and administrative expenses   —      8,339    20    631    —      8,990  
Research and development expenses   —      2,589    —      98    —      2,687  

Operating income (loss)   —      9,879    (20)   121    —      9,980  
Interest expense, net   —      (10,629)   —      62    —      (10,567) 
Other (expense) income, net   —      (48)   —      (127)   —      (175) 
Equity in earnings (losses) of affiliates   (1,636)   4    —      —      1,632    —    

Income (loss) before income taxes   (1,636)   (794)   (20)   56    1,632    (762) 
(Benefit) provision for income taxes   —      842    —      32    —      874  

Net income (loss)   (1,636)   (1,636)   (20)   24    1,632    (1,636) 
Foreign currency translation   —      —      —      603    —      603  
Equity in other comprehensive income (loss) of subsidiaries   603    603    —      —      (1,206)   —    

Total comprehensive income (loss)  $ (1,033)  $ (1,033)  $ (20)  $ 627   $ 426   $ (1,033) 
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Loss

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013
 
(in thousands)  

Lantheus
Intermediate  LMI   

Guarantor
Subsidiary   

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Total  

Revenues  $ —     $ 60,886   $ —     $ 16,310   $ (6,595)  $ 70,601  
Cost of goods sold   —      41,753    —      14,496    (6,595)   49,654  

Gross profit   —      19,133    —      1,814    —      20,947  
Operating expenses       

Sales and marketing expenses   —      8,061    —      932    —      8,993  
General and administrative expenses   —      7,581    20    692    —      8,293  
Research and development expenses   —      7,471    —      66    —      7,537  

Operating income (loss)   —      (3,980)   (20)   124    —      (3,876) 
Interest expense, net   —      (10,665)   —      46    —      (10,619) 
Other (expense) income, net   —      (153)   —      66    —      (87) 
Equity in earnings (losses) of affiliates   (14,500)   94    —      —      14,406    —    

Income (loss) before income taxes   (14,500)   (14,704)   (20)   236    14,406    (14,582) 
(Benefit) provision for income taxes   —      (204)   —      122    —      (82) 

Net income (loss)   (14,500)   (14,500)   (20)   114    14,406    (14,500) 
Foreign currency translation   —      —      —      (996)   —      (996) 
Equity in other comprehensive income (loss) of subsidiaries   (996)   (996)   —      —      1,992    —    

Total comprehensive income (loss)  $ (15,496)  $(15,496)  $ (20)  $ (882)  $ 16,398   $(15,496) 
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Loss

Six Months Ended June 30, 2014
 
(in thousands)  

Lantheus
Intermediate  LMI   

Guarantor
Subsidiary   

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Total  

Revenues  $ —     $129,508   $ —     $ 28,430   $ (8,989)  $148,949  
Cost of goods sold   —      71,868    —      24,950    (8,989)   87,829  

Gross profit   —      57,640    —      3,480    —      61,120  
Operating expenses       

Sales and marketing expenses   —      17,004    —      1,896    —      18,900  
General and administrative expenses   —      16,600    40    1,202    —      17,842  
Research and development expenses   —      5,703    —      206    —      5,909  

Operating income (loss)   —      18,333    (40)   176    —      18,469  
Interest expense, net   —      (21,247)   —      128    —      (21,119) 
Other (expense) income, net   —      (225)   —      (364)   —      (589) 
Equity in earnings (losses) of affiliates   (2,921)   (160)   —      —      3,081    —    

Income (loss) before income taxes   (2,921)   (3,299)   (40)   (60)   3,081    (3,239) 
(Benefit) provision for income taxes   —      (378)   —      60    —      (318) 

Net income (loss)   (2,921)   (2,921)   (40)   (120)   3,081    (2,921) 
Foreign currency translation   —      —      —      332    —      332  
Equity in other comprehensive income (loss) of subsidiaries   332    332    —      —      (664)   —    

Total comprehensive income (loss)  $ (2,589)  $ (2,589)  $ (40)  $ 212   $ 2,417   $ (2,589) 
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Loss

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013
 
(in thousands)  

Lantheus
Intermediate  LMI   

Guarantor
Subsidiary   

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Total  

Revenues  $ —     $121,037   $ —     $ 31,856   $ (11,274)  $141,619  
Cost of goods sold   —      80,103    —      29,031    (11,274)   97,860  

Gross profit   —      40,934    —      2,825    —      43,759  
Operating expenses       

Sales and marketing expenses   —      16,923    —      1,867    —      18,790  
General and administrative expenses   —      17,259    40    1,247    —      18,546  
Research and development expenses   —      19,421    —      114    —      19,535  

Operating loss   —      (12,669)   (40)   (403)   —      (13,112) 
Interest expense, net   —      (21,375)   —      87    —      (21,288) 
Other (expense) income, net   —      630    —      4    —      634  
Equity in earnings (losses) of affiliates   (34,312)   (355)   —      —      34,667    —    

Income (loss) before income taxes   (34,312)   (33,769)   (40)   (312)   34,667    (33,766) 
(Benefit) provision for income taxes   —      543    —      3    —      546  

Net income (loss)   (34,312)   (34,312)   (40)   (315)   34,667    (34,312) 
Foreign currency translation   —      —      —      (1,593)   —      (1,593) 
Equity in other comprehensive income (loss) of subsidiaries   (1,593)   (1,593)   —      —      3,186    —    

Total comprehensive income (loss)  $ (35,905)  $ (35,905)  $ (40)  $ (1,908)  $ 37,853   $ (35,905) 
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Condensed Consolidating Cash Flow Information

Six Months Ended June 30, 2014
 

   
Lantheus

Intermediate  LMI   
Guarantor
Subsidiary    

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Total  

Cash used in operating activities   $ —    $ (2,472)  $ —     $ (1,768)  $ —    $ (4,240) 
Cash flows from investing activities         

Capital expenditures    —     (3,322)   —      (158)   —     (3,480) 
Payments from subsidiary    808   —     —      —     (808)   —   
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    —     227    —      —     —     227  

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities    808    (3,095)   —      (158)   (808)   (3,253) 
Cash flows from financing activities         

Proceeds from line of credit    —     5,500    —      —     —     5,500  
Payments on note payable    —     (35)   —      —     —     (35) 
Deferred financing costs    —     (84)   —      —     —     (84) 
Payments to parent    (808)   (808)   —      —     808    (808) 

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities    (808)   4,573   —      —     808    4,573  
Effect of foreign exchange rate on cash    —     —     —      351    —     351  
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents    —     (994)   —      (1,575)   —     (2,569) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    —     11,995    —      4,674    —     16,669  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ —    $11,001   $ —     $ 3,099   $ —    $14,100  
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Condensed Consolidating Cash Flow Information

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013
 

   
Lantheus

Intermediate   LMI   
Guarantor
Subsidiary    

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Total  

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities   $ —     $(15,339)  $ —     $ 964   $ (1,738)  $(16,113) 
Cash flows from investing activities          

Capital expenditures    —      (2,774)   —      (22)   —     (2,796) 
Intercompany note    —      —     —      (2,218)   2,218    —    
Proceeds from dividend    —      4,174    —      —     (4,174)   —   

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities    —      1,400    —      (2,240)   (1,956)   (2,796) 
Cash flows from financing activities          

Proceeds from line of credit    —      8,000    —      —     —     8,000  
Payments on note payable    —      (777)   —      —     —     (777) 
Deferred financing costs    —      (157)   —      —     —     (157) 
Payments from parent    —      233    —      —     —     233  
Intercompany note    —      2,218    —      —     (2,218)   —    
Payment of dividend    —      —     —      (5,912)   5,912    —   

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities    —      9,517    —      (5,912)   3,694    7,299  
Effect of foreign exchange rate on cash    —      —     —      (1,134)   —     (1,134) 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    —      (4,422)   —      (8,322)   —     (12,744) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    —      17,635    —      13,960    —     31,595  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ —     $ 13,213   $ —     $ 5,638   $ —    $ 18,851  
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Some of the statements contained in this quarterly report are forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements, including, in
particular, statements about our plans, strategies, prospects and industry estimates are subject to risks and uncertainties. These statements identify prospective
information and include words such as “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “seeks,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “should,” “could,” “predicts,” “hopes”
and similar expressions. Examples of forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements we make regarding: (i) outlook and expectations
related to the global isotope supply and products manufactured at Ben Venue Laboratories, Inc., or BVL, Jubilant HollisterStier, or JHS, and Pharmalucence;
(ii) our outlook and expectations including, without limitation, in connection with continued market expansion and penetration for our commercial products,
particularly DEFINITY; (iii) our outlook and expectations related to our intention to seek to engage strategic partners to assist in developing and potentially
commercializing development candidates; and (iv) our liquidity, including our belief that our existing cash, cash equivalents, anticipated revenues and
availability under our revolving credit facility are sufficient to fund our existing operating expenses, capital expenditures and liquidity requirements for at
least the next twelve months. Forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and assumptions regarding our business, the economy and
other future conditions. Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances
that are difficult to predict. Our actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by the forward- looking statements. They are neither statements
of historical fact nor guarantees or assurances of future performance. The matters referred to in the forward-looking statements contained in this quarterly
report may not in fact occur. We caution you therefore against relying on any of these forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include regional, national or global political, economic, business, competitive,
market and regulatory conditions and the following:
 

 •  our dependence upon third parties for the manufacture and supply of a substantial portion of our products;
 

 •  risks associated with the technology transfer programs to secure production of our products at alternate contract manufacturer sites;
 

 •  risks associated with the manufacturing and distribution of our products and the regulatory requirements related thereto;
 

 •  the instability of the global Moly supply;
 

 •  our ability to continue to increase segment penetration for DEFINITY in suboptimal echocardiograms;
 

 •  risks associated with supply and demand for Xenon;
 

 •  our dependence on key customers and group purchasing organization arrangements for our medical imaging products, and our ability to
maintain and profitably renew our contracts and relationships with those key customers and group purchasing organizations;

 

 •  our ability to compete effectively, including in connection with pricing pressures and new market entrants;
 

 •  the dependence of certain of our customers upon third party healthcare payors and the uncertainty of third party coverage and
reimbursement rates;

 

 •  uncertainties regarding the impact of U.S. healthcare reform on our business, including related reimbursements for our current and
potential future products;

 

 •  our being subject to extensive government regulation and our potential inability to comply with those regulations;
 

 •  potential liability associated with our marketing and sales practices;
 

 •  the occurrence of any side effects with our products;
 

 •  our exposure to potential product liability claims and environmental liability;
 

 •  risks associated with our lead agent in development, flurpiridaz F 18, including our ability to:
 

 •  attract strategic partners to successfully complete the Phase 3 clinical program and possibly commercialize the agent;
 

 •  obtain FDA approval; and
 

 •  gain post-approval market acceptance and adequate reimbursement;
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 •  risks associated with being able to negotiate in a timely manner relationships with potential strategic partners to advance our other
development programs on acceptable terms, or at all;

 

 •  the extensive costs, time and uncertainty associated with new product development, including further product development relying on
external development partners;

 

 •  our inability to introduce new products and adapt to an evolving technology and diagnostic landscape;
 

 •  our inability to protect our intellectual property and the risk of claims that we have infringed on the intellectual property of others;
 

 •  risks related to our outstanding indebtedness and our ability to satisfy those obligations;
 

 •  risks associated with the current economic environment, including the U.S. credit markets;
 

 •  risks associated with our international operations;
 

 •  our inability to adequately protect our facilities, equipment and technology infrastructure;
 

 •  our inability to hire or retain skilled employees and key personnel;
 

 •  costs and other risks associated with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Act; and
 

 •  other factors that are described in “Risk Factors” under Part II – Item 1A of this report.

Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those that are discussed in other documents we file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, including our 2013 Form 10-K. Any forward-looking statement made by us in this quarterly report speaks only as
of the date on which it is made. Factors or events that could cause our actual results to differ may emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to
predict all of them. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward- looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future
developments or otherwise, except as may be required by law.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the consolidated
financial statements and the related notes included in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as well as the other factors described in “Risk Factors”
under Part II—Item 1A of this report and the information provided in our 2013 Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a global leader in developing, manufacturing, selling and distributing innovative diagnostic medical imaging agents and products that
assist clinicians in the diagnosis of cardiovascular and other diseases. Our agents are routinely used to diagnose coronary artery disease, congestive heart
failure, stroke, peripheral vascular disease and other diseases. Clinicians use our imaging agents and products across a range of imaging modalities, including
nuclear imaging, echocardiography and MRI. We believe that the resulting improved diagnostic information enables healthcare providers to better detect
and characterize, or rule out, disease, potentially achieving improved patient outcomes, reducing patient risk and limiting overall costs for payers and the
entire healthcare system.

Our commercial products are used by nuclear physicians, cardiologists, radiologists, internal medicine physicians, technologists and
sonographers working in a variety of clinical settings. We sell our products to radiopharmacies, hospitals, clinics, group practices, integrated delivery
networks, group purchasing organizations and, in certain circumstances, wholesalers.

We sell our products globally and have operations in the United States, Puerto Rico, Canada and Australia and distribution relationships in
Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America.

Our Products

Our principal products include the following:

DEFINITY is an ultrasound contrast agent used in ultrasound exams of the heart, also known as echocardiography exams. DEFINITY contains
perflutren-containing lipid microspheres and is indicated in the United States for use in patients with suboptimal echocardiograms to assist in imaging the
left ventricular chamber and left endocardial border of the heart in ultrasound procedures. We launched DEFINITY in 2001, and its last patent in the United
States will currently expire in 2021 and in numerous foreign jurisdictions in 2019.
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TechneLite is a technetium generator which provides the essential nuclear material used by radiopharmacies to radiolabel Cardiolite and other
technetium-based radiopharmaceuticals used in nuclear medicine procedures. TechneLite uses Moly as its main active ingredient.

Xenon is a radiopharmaceutical gas that is inhaled and used to assess pulmonary function and also for imaging blood flow. Xenon is
manufactured by a third party and packaged by us.

Cardiolite is a technetium-based radiopharmaceutical imaging agent used in MPI procedures to detect coronary artery disease using SPECT.
Cardiolite was approved by the FDA in 1990, and its market exclusivity expired in July 2008.

Sales of our contrast agent, DEFINITY, are made through our sales team of approximately 80 employees. In the United States, our nuclear
imaging products, including TechneLite and Cardiolite, are primarily distributed through approximately 350 radiopharmacies that are controlled by or
associated with Cardinal, GE Healthcare, UPPI and Triad Isotopes, Inc., or Triad. A small portion of our nuclear imaging product sales in the United States are
made through our direct sales force to hospitals and clinics that maintain their own in-house radiopharmaceutical capabilities. Outside the United States, we
own five radiopharmacies in Canada and two radiopharmacies in each of Puerto Rico and Australia. We also maintain a direct sales force in each of these
countries. In Europe, Asia Pacific and Latin America, we rely on third party distributors to market, sell and distribute our nuclear imaging and contrast agent
products, either on a country-by-country basis or on a multicountry regional basis.

The following table sets forth our revenue derived from our principal products:
 
   Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(dollars in thousands)   2014    %   2013    %   2014    %   2013    %  
DEFINITY   $23,516     31.1%  $18,742     26.5%  $ 45,874     30.8%  $ 35,771     25.2% 
TechneLite    23,525     31.1    25,254     35.8    46,566     31.3    47,680     33.6  
Xenon    8,899     11.8    7,647     10.8    18,609     12.5    15,970     11.3  
Cardiolite    4,812     6.4    5,188     7.4    9,492     6.4    16,098     11.4  
Other    14,861     19.6    13,770     19.5    28,408     19.0    26,100     18.5  
Revenues   $75,613     100.0%  $70,601     100.0%  $148,949     100.0%  $141,619     100.0% 

Included in Cardiolite revenue are sales of branded Cardiolite and generic sestamibi, some of which we produce and some of which we procure
from third parties.

Key Factors Affecting Our Results

Our business and financial performance have been, and continue to be, affected by the following:

Inventory Supply

Our products consist of radiopharmaceuticals and other imaging agents. The radiopharmaceuticals are decaying radioisotopes with half-lives
ranging from a few hours to several days. These products cannot be kept in inventory because of their limited useful lives and are subject to just-in-time
manufacturing, processing and distribution. We obtain a substantial portion of our other imaging agents from third party suppliers. JHS is currently our sole
source manufacturer of DEFINITY, and we have ongoing technology transfer activities at JHS for our Neurolite supply. In the meantime, we have no other
currently active supplier of Neurolite, and our Cardiolite product supply is manufactured by a single manufacturer.

Historically, we relied on BVL in Bedford, Ohio as our sole manufacturer of DEFINITY, Neurolite and evacuation vials, an ancillary component
for our TechneLite generators, and as one of two manufacturers of Cardiolite. Our products were manufactured at the South Complex, where BVL also
manufactured products for a number of other pharmaceutical customers. In July 2010, BVL temporarily shutdown the South Complex, in order to upgrade the
facility to meet certain regulatory requirements. BVL had originally planned for the shutdown of the South Complex to run through March 2011 and to
resume production of our products in April 2011. In anticipation of the shutdown, BVL manufactured for us additional inventory of these products to meet
our expected needs during this period. A series of unexpected delays at BVL, however, resulted in a stockout for Neurolite from the third quarter 2011 until
the third quarter 2013, product outages and shortages for DEFINITY in much of 2012 and product outages and shortages for Cardiolite in 2012 and 2013.
Until JHS is approved by certain foreign regulatory authorities to manufacture our products, we will also face continued limitations on where we can sell our
products outside the United States.

Because of BVL’s ongoing regulatory issues and our mutual desire to enter into a new contractual relationship to replace the original
arrangement, in March 2012 we terminated the original manufacturing agreement and entered into a new set of contracts with BVL which provided, among
other things, cash payments to us of $35 million and an undertaking by BVL to continue to manufacture for us through December 2013.
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Although BVL was able to resume some manufacturing under the new agreements, BVL continued to face regulatory and supply challenges and,
in October 2013, it announced that it would cease to manufacture further new batches of our products in its Bedford, Ohio facility. In November 2013, in
connection with the termination of our manufacturing agreement, we and BVL entered into a settlement agreement, or the Settlement Agreement, which
provided, among other things, that BVL pay us an additional $8.9 million. BVL was also obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to finalize specific
batches of DEFINITY, Cardiolite and saline manufactured and not yet released by the BVL quality function for commercial distribution. BVL has since
released for commercial distribution all of our remaining manufactured product that was awaiting quality approval.

We are also currently working to secure additional alternative suppliers for our key products as part of our ongoing supply chain diversification
strategy. On November 12, 2013, we entered into a Manufacturing and Supply Agreement with Pharmalucence to manufacture and supply DEFINITY. We
currently believe that Pharmalucence will obtain FDA approval to manufacture DEFINITY in 2015.

Growth of DEFINITY

We believe the market opportunity for our contrast agent, DEFINITY, remains significant. DEFINITY is currently our fastest growing and highest
margin commercial product. We believe that DEFINITY sales will continue to grow and that DEFINITY will constitute a greater share of our overall product
mix. As a result of DEFINITY’s continued growth, we believe that our gross profit will increase, and our gross margin will continue to expand. As we better
educate the physician and healthcare provider community about the benefits and risks of this product, we believe we will experience further penetration of
suboptimal echocardiograms.

Prior to the supply issues with BVL in 2012, sales of DEFINITY continually increased year-over-year since June 2008, when the boxed warning
on DEFINITY was modified. Unit sales of DEFINITY had decreased substantially in late 2007 and early 2008 as a result of an FDA request in October 2007
that all manufacturers of ultrasound contrast agents add a boxed warning to their products to notify physicians and patients about potentially serious safety
concerns or risks posed by the products. However, in May 2008, the FDA boxed warning was modified in response to the substantial advocacy efforts of
prescribing physicians. In October 2011, we received FDA approval of further modifications to the DEFINITY label, including: further relaxing the boxed
warning; eliminating the sentence in the Indication and Use section “The safety and efficacy of DEFINITY with exercise stress or pharmacologic stress testing
have not been established” (previously added in October 2007 in connection with the imposition of the box warning); and including summary data from the
post-approval CaRES (Contrast echocardiography Registry for Safety Surveillance) safety registry and the post-approval pulmonary hypertension study.
However, as discussed above under “Inventory Supply,” the future growth of our DEFINITY sales will be dependent on the ability of JHS and, if approved,
Pharmalucence to continue to manufacture and release DEFINITY on a timely and consistent basis and our ability to continue to increase segment
penetration for DEFINITY in suboptimal echocardiograms.

Global Isotope Supply

Currently, our largest supplier of Moly and our only supplier of Xenon is Nordion, which relies on the NRU reactor in Chalk River, Ontario. For
Moly, we currently have a supply agreement with Nordion that runs through December 31, 2015, subject to certain early termination provisions (that cannot
be effective prior to October 1, 2014) and supply agreements with NTP of South Africa, ANSTO of Australia, and IRE of Belgium, each running through
December 31, 2017. For Xenon, we have a purchase order relationship with Nordion. The Canadian government requires the NRU reactor to shut down for at
least four weeks at least once a year for inspection and maintenance. The 2014 shutdown period ran from April 13, 2014 until May 13, 2014, and we were
able to source all of our standing order customer demand for Moly during this time period from our other suppliers. However, because Xenon is a by- product
of the Moly production process and is currently captured only by NRU, during this shutdown period, we were not able to supply all of our standing order
customer demand for Xenon during the outage. Because the month-long NRU shutdown was fully anticipated in our 2014 budgeting process, the shutdown
did not have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We believe we are well-positioned with our current supply partners to have a secure supply of Moly, including low-enriched uranium, or LEU
Moly, when the NRU reactor commercial operations cease in 2016. We are currently pursuing alternative sources of Xenon on a global basis. If we are not
able to secure a new producer of Xenon prior to the 2016 and obtain regulatory approval to sell Xenon from that new producer, we will no longer be able to
offer Xenon. In addition, Nordion recently announced that it has entered into a definitive agreement to be acquired by Sterigenics. As a result of this
transaction, our supplier could change the terms on which we obtain Xenon.
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Demand for TechneLite

Since the global Moly supply shortage in 2009 to 2010, we have experienced reduced demand for TechneLite generators from pre-shortage
levels even though volume has increased in absolute terms from levels during the shortage following the return of our normal Moly supply in August 2010.
However, we do not know if overall industry demand for technetium will ever return to pre-shortage levels.

We also believe that there has been an overall decline in the MPI study market because decreased levels of patient studies during the Moly
shortage period have not returned to pre-shortage levels and industry-wide cost- containment initiatives that have resulted in a transition of where imaging
procedures are performed, from free standing imaging centers to the hospital setting. We expect these factors will continue to affect technetium demand in the
future.

In November 2013, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, announced the 2014 final Medicare payment rules for hospital
outpatient settings. Under the final rules, each technetium dose produced from a generator for a diagnostic procedure in a hospital outpatient setting is
reimbursed by Medicare at a higher rate if that technetium dose is produced from a generator containing Moly sourced from at least 95 percent LEU. We
currently understand that CMS expects to continue this incentive program for the foreseeable future. In January 2013, we began to offer a TechneLite
generator which contains Moly sourced from at least 95 percent LEU and which satisfies the requirements for reimbursement under this incentive program.
Although demand for LEU generators appears to be growing, it is too early to tell whether this incremental reimbursement for LEU Moly generators will
result in a material increase in our generator sales.

Cardiolite Competitive Pressures

Cardiolite’s market exclusivity expired in July 2008. In September 2008, the first of several competing generic products to Cardiolite was
launched. With continued pricing and unit volume pressures from generic competitors, we also sell our Cardiolite product in the form of a generic sestamibi
at the same time as we continue to sell branded Cardiolite throughout the MPI segment. We believe this strategy of selling branded as well as generic
sestamibi has slowed our market share loss by having multiple sestamibi offerings that are attractive in terms of brand, as well as price.

In addition to pressures due to generics, our Cardiolite products have also faced a volume decline in the MPI segment due to a change in
professional society appropriateness guidelines, ongoing reimbursement pressures, the limited availability of Moly during the NRU reactor shutdown, the
limited availability of Cardiolite products to us during the BVL outage, and the increase in use of other diagnostic modalities as a result of a shift to more
available imaging agents and modalities. We believe the continuing effects from the BVL outage and continued generic competition will result in further
market share and margin erosion for our Cardiolite products.

These factors have impacted the carrying value of our Cardiolite trademark intangible asset as further described in “Gross Profit.”

Research and Development Expenses

To remain a leader in the marketplace, we have historically made substantial investments in new product development. As a result, the positive
contributions of those internally funded R&D programs have been a key factor in our historical results and success. In March 2013, we implemented a
strategic shift in how we intend to fund our important R&D programs. We have reduced our internal R&D resources while at the same time we are seeking to
engage strategic partners to assist us in the further development and commercialization of our important agents in development, including flurpiridaz F 18,
18F LMI 1195 and LMI 1174. As a result of this shift, we are seeking strategic partners to assist us with the further development and possible
commercialization of flurpiridaz F 18. For our other two important agents in development, 18F LMI 1195 and LMI 1174, we will also seek to engage
strategic partners to assist us with the ongoing development activities relating to these agents.

Segments

We report our results of operations in two operating segments: United States and International. We generate a greater proportion of our revenue
and operating income in the United States segment, which consists of all regions of the United States with the exception of Puerto Rico. We expect our
percentage of revenue and net income derived from our International segment to continue to increase in future periods as we continue to expand globally.

Executive Overview

Our results in the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 reflect the following:
 

 •  increased revenues and segment penetration for DEFINITY in the suboptimal echocardiogram segment as a result of sustained
availability of product supply;
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 •  decreased revenues from our Cardiolite products resulting from continued generic competition;
 

 •  increased revenues resulting from the return of Neurolite product supply in the third quarter of 2013;
 

 •  the impact of certain cost savings actions taken in March 2013 as we finish implementing the strategic shift in how we fund our research
and development, or R&D, programs;

 

 •  lower material costs incurred for the production of TechneLite; and
 

 •  lower international revenues across product lines because of unfavorable foreign exchange and competitive pressures.
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Results of Operations
 

   
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,   
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
(dollars in thousands)   2014   2013   2014   2013  
Revenues   $ 75,613   $ 70,601   $148,949   $141,619  
Cost of goods sold    44,554    49,654    87,829    97,860  

Gross profit    31,059    20,947    61,120    43,759  
Operating expenses      

Sales and marketing expenses    9,402    8,993    18,900    18,790  
General and administrative expenses    8,990    8,293    17,842    18,546  
Research and development expenses    2,687    7,537    5,909    19,535  

Total operating expenses    21,079    24,823    42,651    56,871  
Operating income (loss)    9,980    (3,876)   18,469    (13,112) 

Interest expense, net    (10,567)   (10,619)   (21,119)   (21,288) 
Other (expense) income, net    (175)   (87)   (589)   634  

Loss before income taxes    (762)   (14,582)   (3,239)   (33,766) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes    874    (82)   (318)   546  

Net loss    (1,636)   (14,500)   (2,921)   (34,312) 
Foreign currency translation    603    (996)   332    (1,593) 

Total comprehensive loss   $ (1,033)  $(15,496)  $ (2,589)  $ (35,905) 

Revenues

Revenues are summarized as follows:
 

   
Three Months

Ended June 30,    
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
(dollars in thousands)   2014    2013    2014    2013  
United States         

DEFINITY   $23,019    $18,291    $ 45,003    $ 35,037  
TechneLite    20,624     22,140     40,723     41,712  
Xenon    8,899     7,638     18,605     15,945  
Cardiolite    506     432     1,027     6,862  
Other    5,520     3,730     10,021     6,930  

Total U.S. revenues   $58,568    $52,231    $115,379    $106,486  
International         

DEFINITY   $ 497    $ 451    $ 871    $ 734  
TechneLite    2,901     3,114     5,843     5,968  
Xenon    —       9     4     25  
Cardiolite    4,306     4,756     8,465     9,236  
Other    9,341     10,040     18,387     19,170  

Total International revenues   $17,045    $18,370    $ 33,570    $ 35,133  
Revenues   $75,613    $70,601    $148,949    $141,619  

Total revenues increased $5.0 million, or 7.1%, to $75.6 million in the three months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $70.6 million in the
three months ended June 30, 2013. U.S. segment revenue increased $6.4 million, or 12.1%, to $58.6 million in the three months ended June 30, 2014, as
compared to $52.2 million in the prior year period. The International segment revenues decreased $1.4 million, or 7.2%, to $17.0 million in the three months
ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $18.4 million in the prior year period.

Total revenues increased $7.3 million, or 5.2%, to $148.9 million in the six months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $141.6 million in the
six months ended June 30, 2013. U.S. segment revenue increased $8.9 million, or 8.4%, to $115.4 million in the six months ended June 30, 2014, as
compared to $106.5 million in the prior year period. The International segment revenues decreased $1.5 million, or 4.4%, to $33.6 million in the six months
ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $35.1 million in the prior year period.
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The increase in U.S. segment revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to the prior year period is primarily due to a $4.7
million increase in DEFINITY as a result of higher unit volumes, a $2.9 million increase in Neurolite as the product returned to market in September 2013 and
a $1.3 million increase in Xenon primarily due to higher selling prices. Offsetting these increases was a decrease in TechneLite revenues of $1.5 million over
the prior period as a result of a contract with a significant customer that reduced volume commitments and a $1.1 million decrease in Quadramet revenues due
to less unit volume since we transitioned to being the direct manufacturer at the end of 2013.

The increase in U.S. segment revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to the prior year period is primarily due to a $10.0
million increase in DEFINITY as a result of higher unit volumes, a $4.8 million increase in Neurolite as the product returned to market in September 2013 and
a $2.7 million increase in Xenon primarily due to higher selling prices. Offsetting these increases was a decrease in Cardiolite revenues of $5.8 million over
the prior period as a result of a contract with a significant customer that reduced unit pricing and volume commitments and a $2.2 million decrease in
Quadramet revenues due to less unit volume since we transitioned to being the direct manufacturer at the end of 2013.

The decrease in the International segment revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to the prior year period is primarily
due to $0.8 million unfavorable foreign exchange, combined with a $0.8 million decrease in third party product sales as a result of competitive pressure in
certain international markets. Offsetting these decreases was a $0.2 million increase in Neurolite sales driven by the return of finished product to the market
and $0.3 million increase in Thallium sales primarily in Asia Pacific.

The decrease in the International segment revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to the prior year period is primarily due
to $2.1 million unfavorable foreign exchange, combined with a $1.5 million decrease in third party product sales as a result of competitive pressure in certain
international markets. Offsetting these decreases was a $1.1 million increase in Neurolite sales driven by the return of finished product to the market and $0.5
million increase in Thallium sales primarily in Asia Pacific. In addition, TechneLite and DEFINITY revenues increased by $0.5 million due to increased unit
volume.

Rebates and Allowances

Estimates for rebates and allowances represent our estimated obligations under contractual arrangements with third parties. Rebate accruals and
allowances are recorded in the same period the related revenue is recognized, resulting in a reduction to revenue and the establishment of a liability which is
included in accrued expenses. These rebates result from performance-based offers that are primarily based on attaining contractually specified sales volumes
and growth, Medicaid rebate programs for certain products, administration fees of group purchasing organizations and certain distributor related
commissions. The calculation of the accrual for these rebates and allowances is based on an estimate of the third party’s buying patterns and the resulting
applicable contractual rebate or commission rate(s) to be earned over a contractual period.

An analysis of the amount of, and change in, reserves is summarized as follows:
 
 

(dollars in thousands)   Rebates   Allowances  Total  
Balance, as of January 1, 2013   $ 1,542   $ 66   $ 1,608  

Current provisions relating to revenues in current year    4,696    243    4,939  
Adjustments relating to prior years’ estimate    (21)   —     (21) 
Payments/credits relating to revenues in current year    (3,438)   (220)   (3,658) 
Payments/credits relating to revenues in prior years    (1,040)   (69)   (1,109) 

Balance, as of December 31, 2013    1,739    20    1,759  
Current provisions relating to revenues in current year    3,311    174    3,485  
Adjustments relating to prior years’ estimate    (58)   —     (58) 
Payments/credits relating to revenues in current year    (1,756)   (131)   (1,887) 
Payments/credits relating to revenues in prior years    (944)   (20)   (964) 

Balance, as of June 30, 2014   $ 2,292   $ 43   $ 2,335  

Accrued sales rebates were approximately $2.3 million and $1.7 million at June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. The $0.6 million
increase in accrued sales rebates is primarily associated with a new rebate program associated with the Quadramet product.
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Costs of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold consists of manufacturing, distribution, intangible asset amortization and other costs related to our commercial products. In
addition, it includes the write-off of excess and obsolete inventory.

Cost of goods sold is summarized as follows:
 

   
Three Months

Ended June 30,    
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
(dollars in thousands)   2014    2013    2014    2013  

United States   $31,991    $35,957    $63,256    $70,020  
International    12,563     13,697     24,573     27,840  

Total Cost of Goods Sold   $44,554    $49,654    $87,829    $97,860  

Total cost of goods sold decreased $5.1 million, or 10.3%, to $44.6 million in the three months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to
$49.7 million in the three months ended June 30, 2013. U.S. segment cost of goods sold decreased approximately $4.0 million, or 11.0%, to $32.0 million in
the three months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $36.0 million in the prior year period. For the three months ended June 30, 2014, the International
segment cost of goods sold decreased $1.1 million, or 8.3%, to $12.6 million, as compared to $13.7 million in the prior year period.

Total cost of goods sold decreased $10.0 million, or 10.3%, to $87.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to
$97.9 million in the six months ended June 30, 2013. U.S. segment cost of goods sold decreased approximately $6.8 million, or 9.7%, to $63.3 million in the
six months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $70.0 million in the prior year period. For the six months ended June 30, 2014, the International segment
cost of goods sold decreased $3.3 million, or 11.7%, to $24.6 million, as compared to $27.8 million in the prior year period.

The decrease in the U.S. segment cost of goods sold for the three months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year period is primarily due to a
decrease of $2.7 million in the cost of goods associated with TechneLite due to lower material costs and lower unit volumes. In addition, there was a $1.3
million decrease in Cardiolite cost of goods as a result of lower amortization expense due to a write-down in the Cardiolite trademark intangible asset in the
fourth quarter of 2013, and $0.7 million decrease in Neurolite cost of goods due to lower technology transfer costs. Offsetting these decreases was a $1.1
million increase in DEFINITY cost of goods due to higher sales unit volumes and higher technology transfer costs.

The decrease in the U.S. segment cost of goods sold for the six months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year period is primarily due to a
decrease of $5.0 million in cost of goods associated with Cardiolite as a result of lower amortization expense due to a write-down in the Cardiolite trademark
intangible asset in the fourth quarter of 2013 and lower unit volumes sold. In addition, TechneLite cost of goods decreased $2.7 million due to lower material
costs and sales unit volume. Offsetting these decreases was a $1.6 million increase in DEFINITY cost of goods due to higher sales unit volumes and higher
technology transfer costs.

The decrease in the International segment cost of goods sold for the three months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year period is primarily due
to $0.4 million favorable foreign exchange impact, combined with $0.7 million decreases as a result of lower sales volume and reduced costs associated with
increased operating efficiencies.

The decrease in the International segment cost of goods sold for the six months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year period is primarily due
to $1.1 million favorable foreign exchange impact. Additionally, cost of goods sold decreased by $2.1 million as compared to the prior year period primarily
due to lower volume of more expensive substitute products sold in the current period as a result of the return of supply and reduced costs associated with
increased operating efficiencies.

Gross Profit
 

   
Three Months

Ended June 30,    
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
(dollars in thousands)   2014    2013    2014    2013  

United States   $26,577    $16,274    $52,123    $36,466  
International    4,482     4,673     8,997     7,293  

Total Gross Profit   $31,059    $20,947    $61,120    $43,759  
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Total gross profit increased $10.1 million, or 48.3%, to $31.1 million in the three months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $20.9 million in
the three months ended June 30, 2013. U.S. segment gross profit increased $10.3 million, or 63.3%, to $26.6 million in the three months ended June 30, 2014,
as compared to $16.3 million in the prior year period. For the three months ended June 30, 2014, the International segment gross profit decreased
$0.2 million, or 4.1%, to $4.5 million, as compared to $4.7 million in the prior year period.

Total gross profit increased $17.4 million, or 39.7%, to $61.1 million in the six months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $43.8 million in the
six months ended June 30, 2013. U.S. segment gross profit increased $15.7 million, or 42.9%, to $52.1 million in the six months ended June 30, 2014, as
compared to $36.5 million in the prior year period. For the six months ended June 30, 2014, the International segment gross profit increased $1.7 million, or
23.4%, to $9.0 million, as compared to $7.3 million in the prior year period.

The increase in the U.S. segment gross profit for the three months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year period is primarily due to a $3.6
million increase in DEFINITY gross profit due to higher unit volumes and a $3.6 million increase for Neurolite gross profit since the product returned to
market in September 2013 and lower technology transfer costs. In addition, Cardiolite gross profit increased $1.4 million due to lower amortization expense,
Xenon gross profit increased by $1.2 million due to higher selling price, and TechneLite gross profit increased by $1.2 million primarily due to lower
material costs and higher selling price. Offsetting these increases was a $1.3 million decrease in Quadramet gross profit due to less unit volume since we
transitioned as the direct manufacturer at the end of 2013.

The increase in the U.S. segment gross profit for the six months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year period is primarily due to a $8.3 million
increase in DEFINITY gross profit due to higher unit volumes and a $4.4 million increase for Neurolite gross profit since the product returned to market in
September 2013. In addition, Xenon gross profit increased by $2.8 million due to higher selling price and TechneLite gross profit increased by $1.7 million
primarily due to lower material costs and higher selling price. Offsetting these increases was a $2.4 million decrease in Quadramet gross profit due to less unit
volume since we transitioned as the direct manufacturer at the end of 2013.

The decrease in the International segment gross profit for the three months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year period is primarily due to
unfavorable foreign exchange impact of $0.4 million, partially offset by reduced costs associated with increased operating efficiencies.

The increase in the International segment gross profit for the six months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year period is primarily due to the
return of Neurolite finished product to the market, lower volume of more expensive substitute products sold in the current period as a result of the return of
supply and reduced costs associated with increased operating efficiencies. These increases were partially offset by unfavorable foreign exchange impact of
$1.1 million.

Sales and Marketing
 

   
Three Months

Ended June 30,    
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
(dollars in thousands)   2014    2013    2014    2013  

United States   $8,298    $7,871    $16,598    $16,582  
International    1,104     1,122     2,302     2,208  

Total Sales and Marketing   $9,402    $8,993    $18,900    $18,790  

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and other related costs for personnel in field sales, marketing, business development
and customer service functions. Other costs in sales and marketing expenses include the development and printing of advertising and promotional material,
professional services, market research and sales meetings.

Total sales and marketing expenses increased $0.4 million, or 4.5%, to $9.4 million in the three months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to
$9.0 million in the three months ended June 30, 2013. In the U.S. segment, sales and marketing expense increased $0.4 million, or 5.4%, to $8.3 million in
the three months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $7.9 million in the prior year period. In the International segment, sales and marketing expense
remained flat as compared to the prior year period.

Total sales and marketing expenses increased $0.1 million, or 0.6%, to $18.9 million in the six months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to
$18.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2013. In the U.S. segment, sales and marketing expense remained flat as compared to the prior year period. In
the International segment, sales and marketing expense increased $0.1 million, or 4.2%, to $2.3 million in the six months ended June 30, 2014, as compared
to $2.2 million in the prior year period.
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The increase in the U.S. segment sales and marketing expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year periods is
primarily due to an increase in market research for DEFINITY as well as higher credit card fees given the increase in DEFINITY revenues. Offsetting these
increases were decreases in headcount and employee related expenses due to lower headcount.

The increase in the International segment sales and marketing expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year period is
primarily due to higher headcount and employee related expenses.

General and Administrative
 

   
Three Months

Ended June 30,    
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
(dollars in thousands)   2014    2013    2014    2013  

United States   $8,359    $7,601    $16,640    $17,299  
International    631     692     1,202     1,247  

Total General and Administrative   $8,990    $8,293    $17,842    $18,546  

General and administrative expenses consist of salaries and other related costs for personnel in executive, finance, legal, information technology
and human resource functions. Other costs included in general and administrative expenses are professional fees for information technology services, external
legal fees, consulting and accounting services as well as bad debt expense, certain facility and insurance costs, including director and officer liability
insurance.

Total general and administrative expenses increased $0.7 million, or 8.4%, to $9.0 million in the three months ended June 30, 2014, as compared
to $8.3 million in the three months ended June 30, 2013. In the U.S. segment, general and administrative expense increased $0.8 million, or 10.0%, to
$8.4 million in the three months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $7.6 million in the prior year period. In the International segment, general and
administrative expense remained flat as compared to the prior year period.

Total general and administrative expenses decreased $0.7 million, or 3.8%, to $17.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2014, as compared
to $18.5 million in the six months ended June 30, 2013. In the U.S. segment, general and administrative expense decreased $0.7 million, or 3.8%, to
$16.6 million in the six months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $17.3 million in the prior year period. In the International segment, general and
administrative expense remained flat as compared to the prior year period.

The increase in the U.S. segment general and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year period is
primarily due to an increase in employee related expenses including recruitment. Offsetting these increases were decreases in contracted services due to cost
savings achieved through the renegotiation of certain information technology related contracts.

The decrease in the U.S. segment general and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year period is
primarily due to higher severance expense in the prior year period related to the reduction in force in the first quarter of 2013, lower legal expense due to
reduced amount of services and cost savings achieved through the renegotiation of certain information technology related contracts. Offsetting these
decreases were increases in employee related expenses including recruitment.

Research and Development
 

   
Three Months

Ended June 30,    
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
(dollars in thousands)   2014    2013    2014    2013  

United States   $2,589    $7,471    $5,703    $19,421  
International    98     66     206     114  

Total Sales and Marketing   $2,687    $7,537    $5,909    $19,535  

Research and development expenses relate primarily to the development of new products to add to our portfolio and costs related to its medical
affairs, medical information and regulatory functions. We do not allocate research and development expenses incurred in the United States to our
International segment.
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Total research and development expenses decreased $4.8 million, or 64.3%, to $2.7 million in the three months ended June 30, 2014, as
compared to $7.5 million in the three months ended June 30, 2013. In the U.S. segment, research and development expense decreased $4.9 million, or 65.3%,
to $2.6 million in the three months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $7.5 million in the prior year period. In the International segment, research and
development expense remained flat as compared to the prior year period.

Total research and development expenses decreased $13.6 million, or 69.8%, to $5.9 million in the six months ended June 30, 2014, as
compared to $19.5 million in the six months ended June 30, 2013. In the U.S. segment, research and development expense decreased $13.7 million, or 70.6%,
to $5.7 million in the six months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $19.4 million in the prior year period. In the International segment, research and
development expense increased $0.1 million, or 80.7%, to $0.2 million in the six months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to $0.1 million in the prior year
period.

The decrease in the U.S. segment research and development expenses for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year
periods are primarily due to a decline in external expense associated with Phase 3 clinical trial for flurpiridaz F 18 as we completed patient enrollment during
the third quarter of 2013. In addition, we had lower headcount related to the reduction in force in the first quarter of 2013 as a result of a strategic shift to use
fewer internal resources as we seek strategic partners to assist in the future development and commercialization of our development candidates.

The increase in the International segment sales and marketing expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2014 over the prior year period is
primarily due to a higher allocation of depreciation expense to research and development.

Other (Expense) Income, Net
 

   
Three Months

Ended June 30,   
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
(dollars in thousands)   2014   2013   2014   2013  

Interest expense   $(10,572)  $(10,647)  $(21,132)  $(21,358) 
Interest income    5    28    13    70  
Other (expense) income, net    (175)   (87)   (589)   634  

Total other expense, net   $(10,742)  $(10,706)  $(21,708)  $(20,654) 

Interest Expense

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, compared to the same periods in 2013, interest expense decreased by $0.1 million and
$0.2 million, respectively, as a result of decreased amortization related to deferred financing costs.

Interest Income

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, compared to the same periods in 2013, interest income decreased by $23,000 and $57,000,
respectively, as a result of the change in balances in interest bearing accounts.

Other (Expense) Income, net

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2014, compared to the same periods in 2013, other expense increased by $0.1 million and $1.2
million, respectively, as a result of a net $1.2 million impact associated with a state tax settlement indemnified by BMS. In addition, during the six months
ended June 30, 2013, we received $0.4 million in consideration from the extinguishment of our membership interest in a mutual insurance company.

(Benefit) provision for Income Taxes
 

   
Three Months

Ended June 30,   
Six Months

Ended June 30,  
(dollars in thousands)   2014    2013   2014   2013  
Provision (benefit) for income taxes   $ 874    $ (82)  $ (318)  $ 546  

For the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, our effective tax rate was (9.8)% and (1.6)%, respectively. The $1.0 million increase in
the tax provision for the three months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to the same period in 2013, was impacted primarily by a larger pre-tax income,
higher tax rate and no reversal of uncertain tax positions relating to state taxes as a result of the closing of the statute of limitations. The $0.9 million decrease
in the tax provision for the six months ended June 30, 2014, as compared to the same period in 2013, was impacted primarily by a larger pre-tax loss and
higher tax rate which was offset by
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the New York State settlement benefit, which exceeded the prior year reversal of an uncertain tax position relating to state taxes as a result of the closing of
statute of limitations. Our tax rate is also affected by recurring items, such as tax rates in foreign jurisdictions, which we expect to be fairly consistent in the
near term, as well as other discrete events that may not be consistent from year-to-year. The following items had the most significant impact on the differences
between our statutory U.S. federal income tax rate of 35% and our effective tax rate during the three and six months ended:

Three months ended June 30, 2014
 

 •  A $0.7 million increase in our uncertain tax positions relating to accrued interest associated with state tax nexus and transfer
pricing matters.

 

 •  A $0.4 million increase relating to loss corporations with full valuation allowances for which the losses are not benefited.

Six months ended June 30, 2014
 

 •  A $1.8 million decrease in our uncertain tax positions relating to the New York State settlement agreement.
 

 •  A $1.4 million increase in our uncertain tax positions relating to accrued interest associated with state tax nexus and transfer
pricing matters.

 

 •  A $1.4 million increase relating to loss corporations with full valuation allowances for which the losses are not benefited.

Three months ended June 30, 2013
 

 •  A $5.3 million increase to our valuation allowance against net domestic deferred tax assets.
 

 •  A $0.7 million increase in our uncertain tax positions relating to accrued interest associated with state tax nexus and transfer
pricing matters.

 

 •  A $0.9 million decrease in our uncertain tax positions relating to the closing of a statute of limitations relating to a state tax matter.

Six months ended June 30, 2013
 

 •  A $11.8 million increase to our valuation allowance against net domestic deferred tax assets.
 

 •  A $1.4 million increase in our uncertain tax positions relating to accrued interest associated with state tax nexus and transfer
pricing matters.

 

 •  A $0.9 million decrease in our uncertain tax positions relating to the closing of a statute of limitations relating to a state tax matter.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows

The following table provides information regarding our cash flows:
 

   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(dollars in thousands)   2014   2013   $ Change 
Cash provided by (used in):     

Operating activities   $(4,240)  $(16,113)  $11,873  
Investing activities   $(3,253)  $ (2,796)  $ (457) 
Financing activities   $ 4,573   $ 7,299   $ (2,726) 

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities is primarily driven by our earnings and changes in working capital. The decrease in cash used in operating
activities for the six months ended June 30, 2014 as compared to 2013 was primarily driven by a decrease in net loss. This improvement was offset by cash
flow decreases in accounts payable primarily due to the timing of payments and cash flow decreases in accounts receivable due to the timing of receipts.
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Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

The increase in net cash used in investing activities in the six months ended June 30, 2014 as compared to 2013 primarily reflects increased
spending on the purchase of property and equipment.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Our primary sources of cash in financing activities are related to proceeds from our line of credit. The decrease in net cash provided by financing
activities in the six months ended June 30, 2014 as compared to 2013 was primarily driven by less borrowings under our line of credit.

External Sources of Liquidity

On May 10, 2010, we issued $250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 9.750% Senior Notes due in 2017, or the Restricted Notes, at face
value, net of issuance costs of $10.1 million, under the indenture, dated as of May 10, 2010. On February 2, 2011, we consummated an exchange offer where
we exchanged $250.0 million aggregate principal amount of our Restricted Notes for an equal principal amount of 9.750% Senior Notes due 2017, or the
Exchange Notes, that were registered under the Securities Act, with substantially identical terms in all respects.

On March 21, 2011, we issued an additional $150.0 million in aggregate principal amount of New Restricted Notes, net of issuance costs of $4.9
million, under the indenture, dated as of May 10, 2010, as supplemented by the First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 14, 2011, and the Second
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 21, 2011, or together, the Indenture. The net proceeds were used to repurchase all of the remaining Series A
Preferred Stock at the accreted value of approximately $44.0 million and to issue an approximate $106.0 million dividend to our common security holders.
On May 10, 2011, we consummated an exchange offer where we exchanged $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of New Restricted Notes for an equal
principal amount of 9.750% Senior Notes due 2017, or the New Exchange Notes, registered under the Securities Act, with substantially identical terms in all
respects.

The Exchange Notes and the New Exchange Notes, or together, the Notes, mature on May 15, 2017. Interest on the Notes accrues at a rate of
9.750% per year and is payable semiannually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 commencing on November 15, 2010 for the Notes issued on May 10,
2010 and May 15, 2011 for the Notes issued on March 21, 2011. Our annual interest expense increased from $24.4 million to $39.0 million as a result of the
March 21, 2011 issuance of Notes.

In connection with the Restricted Notes issuance, we entered into a revolving facility, or the Old Facility, for total borrowings up to $42.5
million. During 2012, we entered into an unfunded Standby Letter of Credit for up to $8.8 million to support a surety bond related to a statutory
decommissioning obligation we have in connection with our Billerica facility. The unfunded Standby Letter of Credit decreased the borrowing availability
under the Old Facility by $8.8 million.

On July 3, 2013, we entered into an amended and restated asset-based revolving credit facility, or our revolving credit facility, in an aggregate
principal amount not to exceed $42.5 million. On June 24, 2014, we entered into an amendment of our revolving credit facility, which, among other things,
increased the revolving credit commitments under our revolving credit facility to $50.0 million; provided that, subsequent to the amendment, borrowings in
excess of $42.5 million thereunder are subject to certification of compliance with (x) the debt and lien covenants under the indenture for the Notes and (y) an
additional $3.0 million of secured debt capacity under the indenture for the Notes.

Subsequent to the amendment, the revolving loans under our revolving credit facility bear interest, with pricing based from time to time at our
election at (i) LIBOR plus a spread of 2.00% or (ii) the Reference Rate (as defined in our revolving credit facility) plus a spread of 1.00%. Our revolving
credit facility also includes an unused line fee, which, subsequent to the amendment, is set at 0.375%. Our revolving credit facility expires on the earlier of
(i) July 3, 2018 or (ii) if the outstanding Notes are not refinanced in full, the date that is 91 days before the maturity thereof, at which time all outstanding
borrowings are due and payable.

As of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we had an unfunded Standby Letter of Credit for up to $8.8 million. The unfunded Standby Letter
of Credit has an annual fee, payable quarterly, which, subsequent to the amendment, is set at LIBOR plus a spread of 2.00% and expires on February 5, 2015.
The unfunded Standby Letter of Credit will automatically renew for a one year period at each anniversary date, unless we elect not to renew in writing within
60 days prior to such expiration.
 

38



Table of Contents

Our revolving credit facility is secured by a pledge of substantially all of our assets together with the assets of Lantheus Intermediate and
Lantheus MI Real Estate, LLC, or Lantheus Real Estate, including each such entity’s accounts receivable, inventory and machinery and equipment, and is
guaranteed by each of Lantheus Intermediate and Lantheus Real Estate. Borrowing capacity is determined by reference to a borrowing base, or the Borrowing
Base, which is based on (i) a percentage of certain eligible accounts receivable, inventory and machinery and equipment minus (ii) any reserves. As of
June 30, 2014, the aggregate borrowing base was approximately $44.5 million, which was reduced by (i) an outstanding $8.8 million unfunded Standby
Letter of Credit and (ii) a $13.5 million outstanding loan balance, resulting in a net borrowing base availability of approximately $22.2 million.

Our revolving credit facility contains affirmative and negative covenants, as well as restrictions on the ability of us and our subsidiaries to:
(i) incur additional indebtedness or issue preferred stock; (ii) repay subordinated indebtedness prior to its stated maturity; (iii) pay dividends on, repurchase
or make distributions in respect of capital stock or make other restricted payments; (iv) make certain investments; (v) sell certain assets; (vi) create liens;
(vii) consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets; and (viii) enter into certain transactions with our affiliates. Our
revolving credit facility also contains customary default provisions as well as cash dominion provisions which allow the lender to sweep our accounts during
the period (x) certain specified events of default are continuing under our revolving credit facility or (y) excess availability under our revolving credit facility
falls below (i) the greater of $5.0 million or 15% of the then-current borrowing base for a period of more than five consecutive Business Days or (ii) $3.5
million. During a covenant trigger period, we are required to comply with a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1:00:1:00. The fixed
charge coverage ratio is calculated on a consolidated basis for us and our subsidiaries for a trailing four-fiscal quarter period basis, as (i) EBITDA (as defined
in the agreement) minus capital expenditures minus certain restricted payments divided by (ii) interest plus taxes paid or payable in cash plus certain
restricted payments made in cash plus scheduled principal payments paid or payable in cash.

Our ability to fund our future capital needs will be affected by our ability to continue to generate cash from operations and may be affected by
our ability to access the capital markets, money markets, or other sources of funding, as well as the capacity and terms of our financing arrangements.

We may from time to time repurchase or otherwise retire our debt and take other steps to reduce our debt or otherwise improve our balance sheet.
These actions may include open market repurchases of any notes outstanding, prepayments of our term loans or other retirements or refinancing of
outstanding debt, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. The amount of debt that may be repurchased or otherwise retired, if any, would be decided at
the sole discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on market conditions, trading levels of our debt from time to time, our cash position and other
considerations.

Funding Requirements

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:
 

 •  our ability to have product manufactured and released from JHS and other manufacturing sites in a timely manner in the future;
 

 •  the pricing environment and the level of product sales of our currently marketed products, particularly DEFINITY, and any additional
products that we may market in the future;

 

 •  the costs of further commercialization of our existing products, particularly in international markets, including product marketing, sales
and distribution and whether we obtain local partners to help share such commercialization costs;

 

 •  the costs of investing in our facilities, equipment and technology infrastructure;
 

 •  the costs and timing of establishing manufacturing and supply arrangements for commercial supplies of our products;
 

 •  the extent to which we acquire or invest in products, businesses and technologies;
 

 •  the extent to which we choose to establish collaboration, co- promotion, distribution or other similar arrangements for our marketed
products;

 

 •  the legal costs relating to maintaining, expanding and enforcing our intellectual property portfolio, pursuing insurance or other claims
and defending against product liability, regulatory compliance or other claims; and

 

 •  the cost of interest on any additional borrowings which we may incur under our financing arrangements.

If JHS is not able to continue to manufacture and release product supply on a timely and consistent basis, or we are unable to continue to grow
DEFINITY sales, then we will need to implement certain additional expense reductions, such as a delay or elimination of discretionary spending in all
functional areas, as well as other operating and strategic initiatives.
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If our capital resources become insufficient to meet our future capital requirements, we would need to finance our cash needs through public or
private equity offerings, assets securitizations, debt financings, sale-leasebacks or other financing or strategic alternatives, to the extent such transactions are
permissible under the covenants of our revolving credit facility and the Indenture. Additional equity or debt financing, or other transactions, may not be
available on acceptable terms, if at all. If any of these transactions require an amendment or waiver under the covenants in our revolving credit facility and
under the Indenture, which could result in additional expenses associated with obtaining the amendment or waiver, we will seek to obtain such a waiver to
remain in compliance with the covenants of our revolving credit facility and the Indenture. However, we cannot be assured that such an amendment or waiver
would be granted, or that additional capital will be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

At June 30, 2014, our only current committed external source of funds is our borrowing availability under our revolving credit facility. We
generated a net loss of $2.9 million during the six months ended June 30, 2014 and had $14.1 million of cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2014.
Availability under our revolving credit facility is calculated by reference to the Borrowing Base. If we are not successful in achieving our forecasted results,
our accounts receivable and inventory could be negatively affected, reducing the Borrowing Base and limiting our borrowing availability.

We took actions during March 2013 to substantially reduce our discretionary spending in order to reposition us to focus our resources on our
higher growth products. In particular, we implemented a strategic shift in how we intend to fund our important R&D programs. We have reduced our internal
R&D resources during 2013 while at the same time we seek to engage one or more strategic partners to assist us in the further development and
commercialization of our important agents in development, including flurpiridaz F 18, 18F LMI 1195 and LMI 1174. Based on our current operating plans,
we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, results of operations and availability under our revolving credit facility will be sufficient to continue
to fund our liquidity requirements for at least the next twelve months.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial position and results of operations is based on our condensed consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with
U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and judgments that may affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to revenue recognition
and related allowances, inventory, impairments of long-lived assets including intangible assets, impairments of goodwill, income taxes including the
valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, valuation of investments, research and development expenses, contingencies and litigation, and share-based
payments.

Goodwill is not amortized, but is instead tested for impairment at least annually and whenever events or circumstances indicate that it is more
likely than not that it may be impaired. We have elected to perform the annual test for goodwill impairment as of October 31 of each year. All goodwill has
been allocated to our U.S. operating segment.

During the first quarter of 2013, the strategic shift in how we will fund our R&D programs significantly altered the expected future costs and
revenues associated with our agents in development. Accordingly, this action was deemed to be a triggering event for an evaluation of the recoverability of
our goodwill as of March 31, 2013. We performed an interim impairment test and determined that there was no impairment of goodwill as of March 31, 2013.
There were no events as of June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 that triggered an interim impairment test. At each annual and interim impairment test date,
the fair value of our reporting unit, which includes goodwill, was substantially in excess of our carrying value.

We calculate the fair value of our reporting units using the income approach, which utilizes discounted forecasted future cash flows and the
market approach which utilizes fair value multiples of comparable publicly traded companies. The discounted cash flows are based on our most recent long-
term financial projections and are discounted using a risk adjusted rate of return, which is determined using estimates of market participant risk-adjusted
weighted average costs of capital and reflects the risks associated with achieving future cash flows. The market approach is calculated using the guideline
company method, where we use market multiples derived from stock prices of companies engaged in the same or similar lines of business. There is not a
quoted market price for our reporting units or the company as a whole, therefore, a combination of the two methods is utilized to derive the fair value of the
business. We evaluate and weigh the results of these approaches as well as ensure we understand the basis of the results of these two methodologies. We
believe the use of these two methodologies ensures a consistent and supportable method of determining our fair value that is consistent with the objective of
measuring fair value. If the fair value were to decline, then we may be required to incur material charges relating to the impairment of those assets.

We test intangible and long-lived assets for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying value of an
asset or group of assets may not be recoverable. We measure the recoverability of assets to be held and used by
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comparing the carrying amount of the asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If those assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment equals the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Any impairments are recorded as
permanent reductions in the carrying amount of the assets. Long-lived assets, other than goodwill and other intangible assets, that are held for sale are
recorded at the lower of the carrying value or the fair market value less the estimated cost to sell.

Fixed assets dedicated to R&D activities, which were impacted by the March 2013 R&D strategic shift, have a carrying value of $5.5 million as
of June 30, 2014. We believe these fixed assets will be utilized for either internally funded ongoing R&D activities or R&D activities funded by a strategic
partner. If we are not successful in finding a strategic partner, and there are no alternative uses for those fixed assets, they could be subject to impairment in
the future.

Please read Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of our 2013 Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2013, for a discussion of our critical accounting estimates. There have been no material changes to our critical accounting
policies in the six months ended June 30, 2014.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are required to provide the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission and Massachusetts Department of Public Health financial assurance
demonstrating our ability to fund the decommissioning of our North Billerica, Massachusetts production facility upon closure, though we do not intend to
close the facility. We have provided this financial assurance in the form of a $28.2 million surety bond and an $8.8 million unfunded Standby Letter of
Credit.

Since inception, we have not engaged in any other off-balance sheet arrangements, including structured finance, special purpose entities or
variable interest entities.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. We do not hold or issue financial instruments
to reduce these risks or for trading purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with our revolving credit facility, which is variable rate indebtedness. Interest rate changes
could increase the amount of our interest payments and thus negatively impact our future earnings and cash flows. As of June 30, 2014, there was
$13.5 million outstanding under our revolving credit facility and an $8.8 million unfunded Standby Letter of Credit, which reduced availability to $22.2
million on our revolving credit facility. Any increase in the interest rate under our revolving credit facility may have a negative impact on our future earnings
to the extent we have outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit facility. The effect of a 100 basis points adverse change in market interest rates on
our interest expense for the six months ending June 30, 2014, would be approximately $49,000. Historically, we have not used derivative financial
instruments or other financial instruments to hedge such economic exposures.

Foreign Currency Risk

We face exposure to movements in foreign currency exchange rates whenever we, or any of our subsidiaries, enter into transactions with third
parties that are denominated in currencies other than ours, or its, functional currency. Intercompany transactions between entities that use different functional
currencies also expose us to foreign currency risk. During the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, the net impact of foreign currency changes on
transactions was a loss of $0.4 million and $6,000, respectively. Historically, we have not used derivative financial instruments or other financial instruments
to hedge such economic exposures.

Gross margins of products we manufacture at our U.S. plants and sell in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar are also affected by foreign currency
exchange rate movements. Our gross margin on revenues for the six month periods ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 was 41.0% and 30.9%, respectively. If the
U.S. Dollar had been stronger by 1%, 5% or 10%, compared to the actual rates during the six months ended June 30, 2014, we estimate our gross margin on
revenues would have increased by 0.0%, 0.2% and 0.5%, respectively. If the U.S. Dollar had been stronger by 1%, 5% or 10%, compared to the actual rates
during the six months ended June 30, 2013, we estimate our gross margin on revenues would have increased by 0.0%, 0.2% and 0.4%, respectively.
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In addition, a portion of our earnings is generated by our foreign subsidiaries, whose functional currencies are other than the U.S. Dollar. Our
earnings could be materially impacted by movements in foreign currency exchange rates upon the translation of the earnings of such subsidiaries into the
U.S. Dollar. The Canadian Dollar represents the primary currency risk on our earnings.

If the U.S. Dollar had been uniformly stronger by 1%, 5% or 10%, compared to the actual average exchange rates used to translate the financial
results of our foreign subsidiaries, our revenues and net income for the six months ended June 30, 2014 would have been impacted by approximately the
following amounts:
 

Increase in U.S. Dollar to Applicable
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate   

Approximate
Decrease in
Revenues   

Approximate
Decrease in

Net Loss  
   (dollars in thousands)  
1%   $ (225)  $ (9) 
5%    (1,123)   (43) 
10%    (2,246)   (86) 

If the U.S. Dollar had been uniformly stronger by 1%, 5% or 10%, compared to the actual average exchange rates used to translate the financial
results of our foreign subsidiaries, our revenues and net income for the six months ended June 30, 2013 would have been impacted by approximately the
following amounts:
 
 

Increase in U.S. Dollar to Applicable
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate   

Approximate
Decrease in
Revenues   

Approximate
Decrease in

Net Loss  
   (dollars in thousands)  
1%   $ (250)  $ (7) 
5%    (1,250)   (36) 
10%    (2,501)   (73) 

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) promulgated under the
Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes during the quarter ended June 30, 2014 in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
promulgated under the Exchange Act) that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are a party to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. In addition, we have in the past been,
and may in the future be, subject to investigations by governmental and regulatory authorities, which exposes us to greater risks associated with litigation,
regulatory or other proceedings, as a result of which we could be required to pay significant fines or penalties. The outcome of litigation, regulatory or other
proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, and some lawsuits, claims, actions or proceedings may be disposed of unfavorably to us. In addition,
intellectual property disputes often have a risk of injunctive relief which, if imposed against us, could materially and adversely affect our financial condition
or results of operations.

On December 16, 2010, we filed suit against one of our insurance carriers seeking to recover business interruption losses associated with the
NRU reactor shutdown and the ensuing global Moly supply shortage (Lantheus Medical Imaging, Inc., Plaintiff v. Zurich American Insurance Company,
Defendant, United States District Court, Southern District of New York, Case No. 10 Civ 9371). The claim is the result of the shutdown of the NRU reactor in
Chalk River, Ontario. The NRU reactor was off-line from May 2009 until August 2010. The defendant answered the complaint on January 21, 2011, denying
substantially all of the allegations, presenting certain defenses and requesting dismissal of the case with costs and disbursements. Discovery has commenced
and is
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continuing. With the court’s leave, the defendant filed a summary judgment motion on July 14, 2014, and the court granted us until August 25, 2014 to
respond to that motion. We cannot be certain what amount, if any, or when, if ever, we will be able to recover for business interruption losses related to this
matter.

Except as noted above, as of June 30, 2014, we had no material ongoing litigation, regulatory or other proceeding and had no knowledge of any
investigations by governmental or regulatory authorities in which we are a target that could have a material adverse effect on our current business.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no changes in the risk factors set forth in our 2013 Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 except as set forth
below. For further information, refer to Part I—Item IA. “Risk Factors,” in our 2013 Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.

Our dependence upon third parties for the manufacture and supply of a substantial portion of our products could prevent us from delivering our products
to our customers in the required quantities, within the required timeframes, or at all, which could result in order cancellations and decreased revenues.

We obtain a substantial portion of our products from third party manufacturers and suppliers. Historically, we relied on BVL in Bedford, Ohio as
our sole manufacturer of DEFINITY, Neurolite and evacuation vials, an ancillary component for our TechneLite generators, and as one of two manufacturers
of Cardiolite. Our products were manufactured at BVL’s south complex facility, or the South Complex, where BVL also manufactured products for a number
of other pharmaceutical customers. In July 2010, BVL temporarily shutdown the South Complex, in order to upgrade the facility to meet certain regulatory
requirements. BVL had originally planned for the shutdown of the South Complex to run through March 2011 and to resume production of our products in
April 2011. In anticipation of the shutdown, BVL manufactured for us additional inventory of these products to meet our expected needs during this period.
A series of unexpected delays at BVL, however, resulted in a stockout for Neurolite from the third quarter 2011 until the third quarter 2013, product outages
and shortages for DEFINITY in much of 2012 and product outages and shortages for Cardiolite in 2012 and 2013.

Although we entered into new agreements with BVL in March 2012, which provided, among other things, $35.0 million of cash payments to us,
and BVL was able to resume some manufacturing under the new agreement, BVL continued to face regulatory issues and supply challenges. In October 2013,
BVL announced that it would cease manufacturing further new batches of our products in its Bedford, Ohio facility and, in November 2013, BVL terminated
our arrangement, and, among other things, paid us an additional $8.9 million.

Following extensive technology transfer activities, we now rely on JHS as our sole source manufacturer of DEFINITY and evacuation vials. We
currently have additional ongoing technology transfer activities at JHS for our Neurolite product and at Pharmalucence for DEFINITY, but we can give no
assurances as to when that technology transfer will be completed and when we will actually receive supply of Neurolite from JHS or DEFINITY from
Pharmalucence. In the meantime, we have no other currently active manufacturer of Neurolite, and our DEFINITY, evacuation vial and Cardiolite product
supply is currently manufactured by a single manufacturer. In addition, Mallinckrodt Pharmaceuticals, or Mallinckrodt, is our sole manufacturer for Ablavar.

Based on our current estimates, we believe that we will have sufficient supply of DEFINITY from JHS and remaining BVL inventory to meet
expected demand, sufficient Cardiolite product supply from our current manufacturer to meet expected demand, sufficient supply of evacuation vials from
JHS to meet expected demand and sufficient Ablavar product supply to meet expected demand. We also currently anticipate that we will have sufficient
BVL-manufactured Neurolite supply for the U.S. market to last until Neurolite technology transfer and U.S. regulatory approval at JHS are completed.
However, we can give no assurances that JHS or our other manufacturing partners will be able to manufacture and distribute our products in a high quality
and timely manner and in sufficient quantities to allow us to avoid product stock-outs and shortfalls. Currently, the regulatory authorities in certain countries
prohibit us from marketing products previously manufactured by BVL, and JHS has not yet obtained approval of some of those regulatory authorities that
would permit us to market all of our products manufactured by JHS. Accordingly, until those regulatory approvals have been obtained, our international
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows will continue to be adversely affected.

Our manufacturing agreement for Ablavar runs until 2014, although we do not foresee the need to order any additional active pharmaceutical
ingredients, or APIs, or finished drug product under this agreement, other than our outstanding purchase commitment. We do not have any current plans to
initiate technology transfer activities for Ablavar. If we do not engage in Ablavar technology transfer activities in the future with a new manufacturing partner
for Ablavar, then our existing Ablavar inventory will expire in 2016 and we will have no further Ablavar inventory that we will be able to sell.
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In addition to the products described above, for reasons of quality assurance or cost-effectiveness, we purchase certain components and raw
materials from sole suppliers (including, for example, the lead casing for our TechneLite generators and the evacuation vials for our TechneLite generators
manufactured by JHS). Because we do not control the actual production of many of the products we sell and many of the raw materials and components that
make up the products we sell, we may be subject to delays caused by interruption in production based on events and conditions outside of our control. At our
North Billerica, Massachusetts facility, we manufacture TechneLite on a relatively new, highly automated production line, as well as Thallium and Gallium
using our older cyclotron technology. If we or one of our manufacturing partners experiences an event, including a labor dispute, natural disaster, fire, power
outage, security problem, failure to meet regulatory requirements, product quality issue, technology transfer issue or other issue, we may be unable to
manufacture the relevant products at previous levels or on the forecasted schedule, if at all. Due to the stringent regulations and requirements of the
governing regulatory authorities regarding the manufacture of our products, we may not be able to quickly restart manufacturing at a third party or our own
facility or establish additional or replacement sources for certain products, components or materials.

In addition to our existing manufacturing relationships, we are also pursuing new manufacturing relationships to establish and secure additional
or alternative suppliers for our commercial products. For example, on November 12, 2013, we entered into a Manufacturing and Supply Agreement with
Pharmalucence to manufacture and supply DEFINITY. We cannot assure you, however, that these supply diversification activities will be successful, or that
before those alternate manufacturers or sources of product are fully functional and qualified, that we will be able to avoid or mitigate interim supply
shortages. In addition, we cannot assure you that our existing manufacturers or suppliers or any new manufacturers or suppliers can adequately maintain
either their financial health or regulatory compliance to allow continued production and supply. A reduction or interruption in manufacturing, or an inability
to secure alternative sources of raw materials or components, could eventually have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

Challenges with product quality or product performance, including defects, caused by us or our suppliers could result in a decrease in customers and sales,
unexpected expenses and loss of market share.

The manufacture of our products is highly exacting and complex and must meet stringent quality requirements, due in part to strict regulatory
requirements, including the FDA’s current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMPs. Problems may be identified or arise during manufacturing quality
review, packaging or shipment for a variety of reasons including equipment malfunction, failure to follow specific protocols and procedures, defective raw
materials and environmental factors. Additionally, manufacturing flaws, component failures, design defects, off-label uses or inadequate disclosure of
product-related information could result in an unsafe condition or the injury or death of a patient. Those events could lead to a recall of, or issuance of a
safety alert relating to, our products. We also may undertake voluntarily to recall products or temporarily shutdown production lines based on internal safety
and quality monitoring and testing data.

Quality, regulatory and recall challenges could cause us to incur significant costs, including costs to replace products, lost revenue, damage to
customer relationships, time and expense spent investigating the cause and costs of any possible settlements or judgments related thereto and potentially
cause similar losses with respect to other products. These challenges could also divert the attention of our management and employees from operational,
commercial or other business efforts. If we deliver products with defects, or if there is a perception that our products or the processes related to our products
contain errors or defects, we could incur additional recall and product liability costs, and our credibility and the market acceptance and sales of our products
could be materially adversely affected. Due to the strong name recognition of our brands, an adverse event involving one of our products could result in
reduced market acceptance and demand for all products within that brand, and could harm our reputation and our ability to market our products in the future.
In some circumstances, adverse events arising from or associated with the design, manufacture or marketing of our products could result in the suspension or
delay of regulatory reviews of our applications for new product approvals. These challenges could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The global supply of Moly is fragile and not stable. Our dependence on a limited number of third party suppliers for Moly could prevent us from delivering
some of our products to our customers in the required quantities, within the required timeframe, or at all, which could result in order cancellations and
decreased revenues.

A critical ingredient of TechneLite, historically our largest product by annual revenues, is Moly. We currently purchase finished Moly from four
of the five main processing sites in the world, namely Nordion, formerly known as MDS Nordion, in Canada; NTP Radioisotopes, or NTP, in South Africa;
Institute for Radioelements, or IRE, in Belgium; and ANSTO in Australia. These processing sites are, in turn, supplied by seven of the eight main Moly-
producing reactors in the world, namely, NRU in Canada, SAFARI in South Africa, OPAL in Australia, BR2 in Belgium, OSIRIS in France, LVR-10 in the
Czech Republic and HFR in The Netherlands.
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Historically, our largest supplier of Moly has been Nordion, which has relied on the NRU reactor owned and operated by Atomic Energy of
Canada Limited, or AECL, a Crown corporation of the Government of Canada, located in Chalk River, Ontario. This reactor was off-line from May 2009 until
August 2010 due to a heavy water leak in the reactor vessel. The inability of the NRU reactor to produce Moly and of Nordion to finish Moly during the
shutdown period had a detrimental effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows. As a result of the NRU reactor shutdown, we experienced
business interruption losses. We estimate the quantity of those losses to be, in the aggregate, more than $70 million, including increases in the cost of
obtaining limited amounts of Moly from alternate, more distant, suppliers and substantial decreases in revenue as a result of significantly curtailed
manufacturing of TechneLite generators and our decreased ability to sell other Moly-based medical imaging products, including Cardiolite, in comparison to
our forecasted results. The Government of Canada has stated publicly its intent to exit the medical isotope business when the NRU reactor’s current license
expires in October 2016.

As part of the conditions for the relicensing of the NRU reactor through October 2016, the Canadian government has asked AECL to shut down
the reactor for at least four weeks at least once a year for inspection and maintenance. The most recent shutdown period ran from April 13, 2014 until May 13,
2014, and we were able to source sufficient Moly to satisfy all of our standing-order customer demand for our TechneLite generators during this time period
from our other suppliers. During this shutdown period, however, because Xenon is a by- product of the Moly production process and is currently captured
only by NRU, we were not able to supply all of our standing-order customer demand for Xenon. There can be no assurance that in the future these off-line
periods will last for the stated time or that the NRU will not experience other unscheduled shutdowns. Further prolonged scheduled or unscheduled
shutdowns would limit the amount of Moly and Xenon available to us and limit the quantity of TechneLite that we could manufacture, sell and distribute
and the amount of Xenon that we could sell and distribute, resulting in a further substantial negative effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

In the face of the NRU reactor operating challenges and licensure risks, we entered into Moly supply agreements with NTP, ANSTO and IRE to
augment our supply of Moly. While we believe this additional Moly supply now gives us the most balanced and diversified Moly supply chain in the
industry, a prolonged disruption of service from only one of our significant Moly suppliers could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows. We are also pursuing additional sources of Moly from potential new producers around the world to further
augment our current supply, but we cannot assure you that these possible additional sources of Moly will result in commercial quantities of Moly for our
business, or that these new suppliers together with our current suppliers will be able to deliver a sufficient quantity of Moly to meet our needs.

Although our agreements with NTP, ANSTO and IRE run until December 31, 2017, our agreement with Nordion runs only until December 31,
2015 and can be terminated by Nordion upon the occurrence of certain events, including if we fail to purchase a minimum percentage of Moly or if Nordion
incurs certain cost increases, and in the latter case, as soon as October 1, 2014.

U.S., Canadian and international governments have encouraged the development of a number of alternative Moly production projects with
existing reactors and technologies as well as new technologies. However, the Moly produced from these projects will likely not become available until 2016
or later. As a result, there is a limited amount of Moly available which could limit the quantity of TechneLite that we could manufacture, sell and distribute,
resulting in a further substantial negative effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The instability of the global supply of Moly and recent supply shortages have resulted in increases in the cost of Moly, which has negatively affected our
margins, and more restrictive agreements with suppliers, which could further increase our costs.

With the general instability in the global supply of Moly and supply shortages during 2009 and 2010, we have faced substantial increases in the
cost of Moly in comparison to historical costs. We expect these cost increases to continue in the future as the Moly suppliers move closer to a full cost
recovery business model. The Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development, or OECD, defines full cost recovery as the identification of all of the
costs of production and recovering these costs from the market. While we are generally able to pass Moly cost increases on to our customers in our customer
contracts, if we are not able to do so in the future, our margins may decline further with respect to our TechneLite generators, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The Moly supply shortage caused by the NRU reactor shutdown has had a negative effect on the demand for some of our products, which will likely
continue in the future.
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The Moly supply shortage also had a negative effect on the use of other technetium generator-based diagnostic medical imaging agents,
including our Cardiolite products. With less Moly, we manufactured fewer generators for radiopharmacies and hospitals to make up unit doses of Cardiolite
products, resulting in decreased market share of Cardiolite products in favor of Thallium, an older medical isotope that does not require Moly, and other
diagnostic modalities. With the return to service of the NRU reactor, we have seen increased sales of TechneLite. However, TechneLite unit volume has not
returned to pre-shortage levels for, we believe, a number of reasons, including: (i) changing staffing and utilization practices in radiopharmacies, which have
resulted in an increased number of unit-doses of technetium-based radiopharmaceuticals being made from available amounts of technetium; (ii) shifts to
alternative diagnostic imaging modalities during the Moly supply shortage, which have not returned to technetium-based procedures; and (iii) decreased
amounts of technetium being used in unit-doses of technetium-based radiopharmaceuticals due to growing concerns about patient radiation dose exposure.
We do not know if the staffing and utilization practices in radiopharmacies, the mix between technetium and non- technetium-based diagnostic procedures
and the increased concerns about radiation exposure, will allow technetium demand to ever return to pre-shortage levels, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our just-in-time manufacturing of radiopharmaceutical products relies on the timely receipt of radioactive raw materials and the timely shipment of
finished goods, and any disruption of our supply or distribution networks could have a negative effect on our business.

Because a number of our radiopharmaceutical products, including our TechneLite generators, rely on radioisotopes with limited half-lives, we
must manufacture, finish and distribute these products on a just-in-time basis, because the underlying radioisotope is in a constant state of radio decay. For
example, if we receive Moly in the morning of a manufacturing day for TechneLite generators, then we will generally ship finished generators to customers
by the end of that same business day. Shipment of generators may be by next day delivery services or by either ground or air custom logistics. Any delay in
us receiving radioisotopes from suppliers or being able to have finished products delivered to customers because of weather or other unforeseen
transportation issues could have a negative effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The growth of our business is substantially dependent on increased market penetration for the appropriate use of DEFINITY in suboptimal
echocardiograms.

The growth of our business is substantially dependent on increased market penetration for the appropriate use of DEFINITY in suboptimal
echocardiograms. Of the nearly 28 million echocardiograms performed each year in the United States, a third party source estimates that 20%, or
approximately six million echocardiograms, produce suboptimal images. We estimate that DEFINITY had approximately 75% share of the market for contrast
agents in the United States in December 2013. If we are not able to continue to grow DEFINITY sales through increased market penetration, we will not be
able to grow the revenue and cash flow of the business or continue to fund our other growth initiatives at planned levels, which could have a negative effect
on our prospects.

We face potential supply and demand challenges for Xenon.

Currently, Nordion is our sole supplier, and we believe the principal supplier on a global basis, of Xenon, which is captured by the NRU reactor
as a by-product of the Moly production process. We are currently pursuing alternative sources of Xenon on a global basis. If we are not able to secure a new
producer of Xenon prior to the expiration of the NRU reactor’s license in October 2016 and obtain regulatory approval to sell Xenon from that new producer,
we will no longer be able to offer Xenon in our portfolio of commercial products, which would have a negative effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows. For the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 and the year ended December 31, 2013, Xenon represented
approximately 12%, 11% and 11%, respectively, of our revenues.

Currently, we obtain Xenon from Nordion on a purchase order basis. Nordion recently announced that it has entered into a definitive agreement
to be acquired by Sterigenics. As a result of this transaction, our supplier could change the terms on which we obtain Xenon. If we are not able to pass along
to our customers any change of terms from our supplier, there could be a negative effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows.

Currently, we are the leading provider of packaged Xenon in the United States. If other providers obtained regulatory approval and began to sell
packaged Xenon in the United States without otherwise increasing market penetration for the agent, or if there is an increase in the use of other imaging
modalities in place of using packaged Xenon, our current sales volumes would decrease, which could have a negative effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.
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Xenon is frequently administered as part of a ventilation scan to evaluate pulmonary function prior to a perfusion scan with microaggregated
albumin, or MAA, a technetium-based radiopharmaceutical used to evaluate blood flow to the lungs. Currently, Draxis is the sole supplier of MAA on a
global basis. Recently, Draxis encountered supply challenges and announced substantial price increases for MAA. If supply challenges for MAA or the
increased price of MAA decreases the frequency that MAA is used for lung perfusion evaluation, which, in turn, decreases the frequency that Xenon is used
for pulmonary function evaluation, the MAA supply challenges or price increase would have a negative effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

In the United States, we are heavily dependent on a few large customers and group purchasing organization arrangements to generate a majority of our
revenues for our medical imaging products. Outside of the United States, we rely on distributors to generate a substantial portion of our revenue.

In the United States, we rely on a limited number of radiopharmacy customers, primarily Cardinal, GE Healthcare, UPPI and Triad, to distribute
our current largest volume nuclear imaging products and generate a majority of our revenues. Three customers accounted for approximately 39% of our
revenues in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, with Cardinal, UPPI and GE Healthcare accounting for 19%, 10% and 10%, respectively. Among the
existing radiopharmacies in the United States, continued consolidations, divestitures and reorganizations may have a negative effect on our business, results
of operations, financial condition or cash flows. We generally have distribution arrangements with our major radiopharmacy customers pursuant to multi-
year contracts, each of which is subject to renewal. Our current contract with Cardinal expires in December 2014. If these contracts are terminated prior to
expiration of their term, or are not renewed, or are renewed on terms that are less favorable to us, then such an event could have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

For both our nuclear imaging agents and contrast agents, we continue to experience significant pricing pressures from our competitors, large
customers and group purchasing organizations, and any significant, additional pricing pressures could lead to a reduction in revenue which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Outside of the United States, Canada, Australia and Puerto Rico, we have no radiopharmacies or sales force and, consequently, rely on third party
distributors, either on a country-by-country basis or on a multicountry, regional basis, to market, sell and distribute our products. These distributors
accounted for approximately 13%, 16% and 19% of non-U.S. revenues for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. In certain
circumstances, these distributors may also sell competing products to our own or products for competing diagnostic modalities and may have incentives to
shift sales towards those competing products. As a result, we cannot assure you that our international distributors will increase or maintain our current levels
of unit sales or increase or maintain our current unit pricing, which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows.

We have a history of net losses and total stockholder’s deficits which may continue and which may negatively impact our ability to achieve or sustain
profitability.

We have a history of net losses and cannot assure you that we will achieve or sustain profitability in the future. For the six months ended
June 30, 2014, we incurred net loss of $2.9 million and total stockholder’s deficit of $240.9 million. We incurred net loss for the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011 of $61.7 million, $42.0 million and $136.5 million, respectively, and as of December 31, 2013, we had a total stockholder’s deficit of
$237.1 million. We cannot assure you that we will be able to achieve or sustain profitability on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. If we cannot improve
our profitability, the value of our enterprise may decline.

We face significant competition in our business and may not be able to compete effectively.

The market for diagnostic medical imaging agents is highly competitive and continually evolving. Our principal competitors in existing
diagnostic modalities include large, global companies with substantial financial, manufacturing, sales and marketing and logistics resources that are more
diversified than ours, such as Mallinckrodt, GE Healthcare, Bayer Schering Pharma AG, or Bayer, Bracco Diagnostics Inc., or Bracco, and DRAXIS Specialty
Pharmaceuticals Inc. (an affiliate of JHS), or Draxis, as well as other competitors. We cannot anticipate their actions in the same or competing diagnostic
modalities, such as significant price reductions on products that are comparable to our own, development or introduction of new products that are more cost-
effective or have superior performance than our current products, the introduction of generic versions when our proprietary products lose their patent
protection or the new entry into a generic market in which we are already a participant. Our current or future products could be rendered obsolete or
uneconomical as a result of this competition. Our failure to compete effectively could cause us to lose market share to our competitors and have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
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For example, Bracco may be seeking FDA approval in the United States for its echocardiography agent, SonoVue, which is already approved for
sale in Europe and certain Asian markets, including China, Japan and Korea. If Bracco receives U.S. regulatory approval, Bracco will have one of three FDA-
approved echocardiography contrast agents in the United States, together with GE Healthcare’s Optison and our DEFINITY. If Bracco receives U.S. regulatory
approval and successfully commercializes SonoVue in the United States without otherwise increasing the overall usage of ultrasound contrast agents, our
current and future sales volume could suffer, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows.

Generic competition has significantly eroded our market share of the MPI segment for Cardiolite products and will continue to do so.

We are currently aware of four separate, third party generic offerings of sestamibi, the first of which launched in September 2008. Cardiolite
products accounted for approximately 6% and 11% of our revenues in the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and 9%, 12% and 19% of
our revenues in the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. Included in Cardiolite is branded Cardiolite and generic sestamibi,
some of which we produce and some of which we procure from third parties. With the advent of generic competition in September 2008, we have faced
significant pricing and unit volume pressures on Cardiolite. To the extent generic competitors further reduce their prices, we may be forced to further reduce
the price of our Cardiolite products as well as lose additional market share, which would have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows.

In addition, because several of the products we manufacture became less available due to recent supply challenges, certain of our customers may
have begun to favor a generic offering or a competing agent or diagnostic modality. If we experience continued pricing and unit volume pressures or that
product or modality shift is sustained, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operation, financial condition and cash flows.

Certain of our customers are highly dependent on payments from third party payors, including government sponsored programs, particularly Medicare, in
the United States and other countries in which we operate, and reductions in third party coverage and reimbursement rates for our products could
adversely affect our business and results of operations.

A substantial portion of our revenue depends, in part, on the extent to which the costs of our products purchased by our customers are reimbursed
by third party private and governmental payors, including Medicare, Medicaid, other U.S. government sponsored programs, non-U.S. governmental payors
and private payors. These third party payors exercise significant control over patient access and increasingly use their enhanced bargaining power to secure
discounted rates and other requirements that may reduce demand for our products. Our potential customers’ ability to obtain appropriate reimbursement for
products and services from these third party payors affects the selection of products they purchase and the prices they are willing to pay. If these third party
payors do not provide appropriate reimbursement for the costs of our products (or services provided using our products), deny the coverage of the products
(or those services), or reduce current levels of reimbursement, healthcare professionals may not prescribe our products and providers and suppliers may not
purchase our products. In addition, demand for new products may be limited unless we obtain favorable reimbursement policies (including coverage, coding
and payment) from governmental and private third party payors at the time of the product’s introduction, which will depend, in part, on our ability to
demonstrate that a new agent has a positive impact on clinical outcomes. Third party payors continually review their coverage policies for existing and new
therapies and can deny coverage for treatments that include the use of our products or revise payment policies such that payments do not adequately cover
the cost of our products. Even if third party payors make coverage and reimbursement available, that reimbursement may not be adequate or these payors’
reimbursement policies may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Over the past several years, Medicare has implemented numerous changes to payment policies for imaging procedures in both the hospital
setting and non-hospital settings (which include physician offices and freestanding imaging facilities). Some of these changes have had a negative impact on
utilization of imaging services. Examples of these changes include:
 

 •  limiting payments for imaging services in physician offices and free-standing imaging facility settings based upon rates paid to hospital
outpatient departments;

 

 •  reducing payments for certain imaging procedures when performed together with other imaging procedures in the same family of
procedures on the same patient on the same day in the physician office and free-standing imaging facility setting;

 

 •  making significant revisions to the methodology for determining the practice expense component of the Medicare payment applicable to
the physician office and free-standing imaging facility setting which results in a reduction in payment; and

 

 •  revising payment policies and reducing payment amounts for imaging procedures performed in the hospital outpatient setting.
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For example, in 2013, although Medicare generally does not provide separate payment to hospitals for the use of diagnostic
radiopharmaceuticals administered in an outpatient setting, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, finalized a policy to make an
additional payment to hospitals that utilize products with non-HEU, meaning the product is 95% derived from non-HEU sources. This payment policy
continues in 2014. Although some of our TechneLite generators are manufactured using non-HEU, not all of our TechneLite generators meet CMS’s
definition of non-HEU, and therefore this payment will not be available for the latter category of TechneLite generators used by our customers. This payment
as well as other changes to the Medicare hospital outpatient prospective payment system payment rates could influence the decisions by hospital outpatient
physicians to perform procedures that involve our products.

We believe that Medicare changes to payment policies for imaging procedures will continue to result in certain physicians practices ceasing to
provide these services and a further shifting of where certain medical imaging procedures are performed, from the physician office and free-standing imaging
facility settings to the hospital outpatient setting, which we believe may incrementally reduce the overall number of diagnostic medical imaging procedures
performed. In recent legislation, Congress expanded CMS’ authority to review and revalue the codes used for reimbursement under the Medicare Physician
Fee Schedule. Changes applicable to Medicare payment in the hospital outpatient setting could influence the decisions by hospital outpatient physicians to
perform procedures that involve our products. These changes overall could slow the acceptance and introduction of next-generation imaging equipment into
the marketplace, which, in turn, could adversely impact the future market adoption of certain of our imaging agents already in the market or currently in
clinical or preclinical development. We expect that there will continue to be proposals to reduce or limit Medicare and Medicaid payment for diagnostic
services.

We also expect increased regulation and oversight of advanced diagnostic testing. One provision in the Protecting Access to Medicare Act
requires CMS to develop appropriate use criteria that ordering professionals and furnishing professionals must use when making a treatment decision
involving advanced diagnostic imaging services (which include MRI, CT, nuclear medicine (including PET) and other advanced diagnostic imaging services
that the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services, or HHS, may specify). Beginning in 2017, payment will be made only to the furnishing
professional for an applicable advanced diagnostic imaging service if the claim indicates that the ordering professional consulted a qualified clinical
decision support mechanism, as identified by HHS, as to whether the ordered service adheres to the applicable AUC. To the extent that these types of changes
have the effect of reducing the aggregate number of diagnostic medical imaging procedures performed in the United States, our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows would be adversely affected.

Reforms to the United States healthcare system may adversely affect our business.

A significant portion of our patient volume is derived from U.S. government healthcare programs, principally Medicare, which are highly
regulated and subject to frequent and substantial changes. For example, in March 2010, the President signed one of the most significant healthcare reform
measures in decades, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, or, collectively, the
Healthcare Reform Act. The Healthcare Reform Act contains a number of provisions that affect coverage and reimbursement of drug products and medical
imaging procedures in which our drug products are used. See “Business—Regulatory Matters—Healthcare Reform Act and Related Laws.” We cannot assure
you that the Healthcare Reform Act, as currently enacted or as amended in the future, will not adversely affect our business and financial results, and we
cannot predict how future federal or state legislative or administrative changes relating to healthcare reform will affect our business.

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the Healthcare Reform Act was enacted. The Budget Control Act of
2011 includes provisions to reduce the federal deficit. The Budget Control Act, as amended, resulted in the imposition of 2% reductions in Medicare
payments to providers, which went into effect on April 1, 2013 and will remain in effect through 2024 unless additional Congressional action is taken. Any
significant spending reductions affecting Medicare, Medicaid or other publicly funded or subsidized health programs that may be implemented and/or any
significant taxes or fees that may be imposed on us, as part of any broader deficit reduction effort or legislative replacement to the Budget Control Act, could
have an adverse impact on our results of operations.

In addition, federal spending is also subject to a statutory debt ceiling. If the federal debt reaches the statutory debt ceiling, Congress must enact
legislation to suspend enforcement of, or increase, the statutory debt ceiling. If Congress fails to do so and, as a result, is unable to satisfy its financial
obligations, including under Medicare, Medicaid and other publicly funded or subsidized health programs, our results of operations could be adversely
impacted.
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The full impact on our business of the Healthcare Reform Act and the other new laws is uncertain. Nor is it clear whether other legislative
changes will be adopted or how those changes would affect our industry generally or our ability to successfully commercialize our products or the
development of new products.

The Healthcare Reform Act could potentially reduce the number of diagnostic medical imaging procedures performed or could reduce the amount of
reimbursements paid for those procedures.

The implementation of the Healthcare Reform Act could potentially reduce the aggregate number of diagnostic medical imaging procedures
performed in the United States. Under the Healthcare Reform Act, referring physicians under the federal self-referral law must inform patients that they may
obtain certain services, including MRI, CT, PET and certain other diagnostic imaging services from a provider other than that physician, another physician in
his or her group practice, or another individual under the direct supervision of the physician or another physician in the group practice. The referring
physician must provide each patient with a written list of other suppliers which furnish those services in the area in which the patient resides. These new
requirements could have the effect of shifting where certain diagnostic medical imaging procedures are performed. In addition, they could potentially reduce
the overall number of diagnostic medical imaging procedures performed. We cannot predict the full impact of the Healthcare Reform Act on our business.
The reform law substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers. Although certain provisions may negatively
affect payment rates for certain imaging services, the Healthcare Reform Act also extended coverage to approximately 25 million previously uninsured
people (based on April 2014 estimates from the Congressional Budget Office), which may result in an increase in the demand for our services, but we cannot
be assured of a proportional, or any, increase in the use of our products.

Further, we expect that there will continue to be proposals to reduce or limit Medicare and Medicaid payment for services. Rates paid by some
private third party payors are based, in part, on established physician, clinic and hospital charges and are generally higher than Medicare payment rates.
Reductions in the amount of reimbursement paid for diagnostic medical imaging procedures and changes in the mix of our patients between non-
governmental payors and government sponsored healthcare programs and among different types of non- government payor sources, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our business and industry are subject to complex and costly regulations. If government regulations are interpreted or enforced in a manner adverse to us
or our business, we may be subject to enforcement actions, penalties, exclusion and other material limitations on our operations.

Both before and after the approval of our products and agents in development, we, our products, development agents, operations, facilities,
suppliers, distributors, contract manufacturers, contract research organizations and contract testing laboratories are subject to extensive and, in certain
circumstances, expanding regulation by federal, state and local government agencies in the United States as well as non-U.S. and transnational laws and
regulations, with regulations differing from country to country. In the United States, the FDA regulates, among other things, the pre-clinical testing, clinical
trials, manufacturing, safety, efficacy, potency, labeling, storage, record keeping, quality systems, advertising, promotion, sale, distribution, and import and
export of drug products. We are required to register our business for permits and/or licenses with, and comply with the stringent requirements of the FDA, the
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, or NRC, the HHS, Health Canada, the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, the U.K. Medicines and Healthcare
Products Regulatory Agency, or MHRA, state and provincial boards of pharmacy, state and provincial health departments and other federal, state and
provincial agencies.

Under U.S. law, for example, we are required to report certain adverse events and production problems, if any, to the FDA. We also have similar
adverse event and production reporting obligations outside of the United States, including to the EMA and MHRA. Additionally, we must comply with
requirements concerning advertising and promotion for our products, including the prohibition on the promotion of our products for indications that have
not been approved by the FDA or a so-called “off-label use.” If the FDA determines that our promotional materials constitute the unlawful promotion of an
off-label use, it could request that we modify our promotional materials or subject us to regulatory or enforcement actions. Also, quality control and
manufacturing procedures at our own facility and at third party suppliers must conform to cGMP regulations and other applicable law after approval, and the
FDA periodically inspects manufacturing facilities to assess compliance with cGMPs and other applicable law, and, from time to time, makes those cGMPs
more stringent. Accordingly, we and others with whom we work must expend time, money, and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance, including
manufacturing, production and quality control. For example, we currently rely on JHS as our sole manufacturer of DEFINITY and, later in 2014, we will rely
on JHS as our sole manufacturer of Neurolite. JHS has recently received a warning letter from the FDA in connection with their manufacturing facility in
Spokane, Washington where our products are, or will be, manufactured. If JHS cannot resolve the issues in their facility underlying the warning letter or if the
issues become worse, then the FDA could take additional regulatory action which could limit or suspend the ability of JHS to manufacture our products and
have any additional products approved at the Spokane facility for manufacture until the issues are resolved and remediated. Such a limitation or suspension
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
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We are also subject to laws and regulations that govern financial and other arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers and healthcare
providers, including federal and state anti-kickback statutes, federal and state false claims laws and regulations and other fraud and abuse laws and
regulations. For example, in 2010, we entered into a Medicaid Drug Rebate Agreement with the federal government for certain of our products, which
requires us to report certain price information to the federal government that could subject us to potential liability under the False Claims Act, civil monetary
penalties or liability under other laws and regulations in connection with the covered products as well as the products not covered by the agreement.
Determination of the rebate amount that we pay to state Medicaid programs for our products, as well as determination of payment amounts under Medicare
and certain other third party payers, including government payers, depends upon information reported by us to the government. If we provide customers or
government officials with inaccurate information about the products’ pricing or eligibility for coverage, or the products fail to satisfy coverage requirements,
we could be terminated from the rebate program, be excluded from participation in government healthcare programs, or be subject to potential liability under
the False Claims Act or other laws and regulations.

Failure to comply with other requirements and restrictions placed upon us or our third party manufacturers or suppliers by laws and regulations
can result in fines, civil and criminal penalties, exclusion from federal healthcare programs and debarment. Possible consequences of those actions could
include:
 

 •  substantial modifications to our business practices and operations;
 

 •  significantly reduced demand for our products (if products become ineligible for reimbursement under federal and state healthcare
programs);

 

 •  a total or partial shutdown of production in one or more of the facilities where our products are produced while the alleged violation is
being remediated;

 

 •  delays in or the inability to obtain future pre-market clearances or approvals; and
 

 •  withdrawals or suspensions of our current products from the market.

Regulations are subject to change as a result of legislative, administrative or judicial action, which may also increase our costs or reduce sales.
Violation of any of these regulatory schemes, individually or collectively, could disrupt our business and have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our marketing and sales practices may contain risks that could result in significant liability, require us to change our business practices and restrict our
operations in the future.

We are subject to domestic (federal, state and local) and foreign laws addressing fraud and abuse in the healthcare industry, including the False
Claims Act and Federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act, or the Bribery Act, the self-referral
laws and restrictions on the promotion of off-label uses of our products. Violations of these laws are punishable by criminal or civil sanctions, including
substantial fines, imprisonment and exclusion from participation in healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid as well as health programs outside
the United States or the imposition of corporate integrity agreements that could severely restrict or limit our business practices. These laws and regulations
are complex and subject to changing interpretation and application, which could restrict our sales or marketing practices. Even minor and inadvertent
irregularities could potentially give rise to a charge that the law has been violated. Although we believe we maintain an appropriate compliance program, we
cannot be certain that the program will adequately detect or prevent violations and/or the relevant regulatory authorities may disagree with our
interpretation. Additionally, if there is a change in law, regulation or administrative or judicial interpretations, we may have to change one or more of our
business practices to be in compliance with these laws. Required changes could be costly and time consuming.

The Healthcare Reform Act, through its federal “sunshine” provisions, also imposes new requirements on certain device and drug manufacturers
to report certain financial interactions with physicians and teaching hospitals as well as ownership and investment interests held by physicians or their
immediate family members. The first report containing aggregate payment data was due by March 31, 2014 (covering August 1, 2013 through December 31,
2013). Covered manufacturers will be required to report detailed payment data for the same reporting period and submit legal attestation to the completeness
and accuracy of such data by June 30, 2014. Thereafter, covered manufacturers must submit reports by the 90th day of each subsequent calendar year. A
manufacturer may be subject to civil monetary penalties of up to $150,000 aggregate per year for failures to report required information and up to $1 million
aggregate per year for “knowing” failures to report.
 

51



Table of Contents

Separately, the Healthcare Reform Act requires manufacturers to submit information on the identity and quantity of drug samples requested and
distributed by a manufacturer during each year. The first report (covering 2011) was to be submitted by April 1, 2012, but the FDA indicated that it would
exercise enforcement discretion until October 1, 2012, and would issue a notice prior to its decision to begin enforcing this decision. At this time, the FDA
has not published a notice to begin enforcement of this provision. We have not voluntarily submitted reports and are awaiting the FDA notice. State laws may
also require disclosure of pharmaceutical pricing information and marketing expenditures, compliance with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary
compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government, and/or the tracking and reporting of gifts,
compensation, and other remuneration to physicians and other healthcare providers. We believe we have developed appropriate protocols to implement these
state requirements. Any irregularities or mistakes in our reporting, however, could result in a finding that we have been non-compliant with these
requirements, which could subject us to the penalty provisions of applicable federal and state laws and regulations.

The Healthcare Reform Act also provides greater financial resources to be allocated to enforcement of the fraud and abuse laws and amends the
intent requirements of the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute and certain other criminal healthcare fraud statutes, which may increase overall compliance costs for
industry participants, including us. A person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or a specific intent to violate it. In addition, the
Healthcare Reform Act revised the False Claims Act to provide that a claim arising from a violation of the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or
fraudulent claim for purposes of the False Claims Act. If our operations are found to be in violation of these laws or any other government regulations that
apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including, without limitation, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, imprisonment, the curtailment or
restructuring of our operations, or exclusion from state and federal healthcare programs including Medicare and Medicaid, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Ultrasound contrast agents may cause side effects which could limit our ability to sell DEFINITY.

DEFINITY is an ultrasound contrast agent based on perflutren lipid microspheres. In 2007, the FDA received reports of deaths and serious
cardiopulmonary reactions following the administration of ultrasound micro-bubble contrast agents used in echocardiography. Four of the 11 reported deaths
were caused by cardiac arrest occurring either during or within 30 minutes following the administration of the contrast agent; most of the serious but non-
fatal reactions also occurred in this time frame. As a result, in October 2007, the FDA requested that we and GE Healthcare, which distributes Optison, a
competitor to DEFINITY, add a boxed warning to these products emphasizing the risk for serious cardiopulmonary reactions and that the use of these
products was contraindicated in certain patients. In a strong reaction by the cardiology community to the FDA’s new position, a letter was sent to the FDA,
signed by 161 doctors, stating that the benefit of these ultrasound contrast agents outweighed the risks and urging that the boxed warning be removed. In
May 2008, the FDA substantially modified the boxed warning. On May 2, 2011, the FDA held an advisory committee meeting to consider the status of
ultrasound micro-bubble contrast agents and the boxed warning. In October 2011, we received FDA approval of further modifications to the DEFINITY label,
including: further relaxing the boxed warning; eliminating the sentence in the Indication and Use section “The safety and efficacy of DEFINITY with
exercise stress or pharmacologic stress testing have not been established” (previously added in October 2007 in connection with the imposition of the box
warning); and including summary data from the post-approval CaRES (Contrast echocardiography Registry for Safety Surveillance) safety registry and the
post-approval pulmonary hypertension study. If additional safety issues arise, this may result in further changes in labeling or result in restrictions on the
approval of our product, including removal of the product from the market. Lingering safety concerns about DEFINITY among some healthcare providers or
future unanticipated side effects or safety concerns associated with DEFINITY could limit expanded use of DEFINITY and have a material adverse effect on
the unit sales of this product and our financial condition and results of operations.

Our business depends on our ability to successfully introduce new products and adapt to a changing technology and diagnostic landscape.

The healthcare industry is characterized by continuous technological development resulting in changing customer preferences and requirements.
The success of new product development depends on many factors, including our ability to fund development of new agents, anticipate and satisfy customer
needs, obtain regulatory approval on a timely basis based on performance of our agents in development versus their clinical study comparators, develop and
manufacture products in a cost-effective and timely manner, maintain advantageous positions with respect to intellectual property and differentiate our
products from our competitors. To compete successfully in the marketplace, we must make substantial investments in new product development whether
internally or externally through licensing or acquisitions. Our failure to introduce new and innovative products in a timely manner would have an adverse
effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
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Even if we are able to develop, manufacture and obtain regulatory approvals for our new products, the success of these products would depend
upon market acceptance and adequate reimbursement. Levels of market acceptance for our new products could be affected by a number of factors, including:
 

 •  the availability of alternative products from our competitors, such as, in the case of DEFINITY, GE Healthcare’s Optison, Bracco’s
SonoVue and other imaging modalities;

 

 •  the price of our products relative to those of our competitors;
 

 •  the timing of our market entry;
 

 •  our ability to market and distribute our products effectively;
 

 •  market acceptance of our products; and
 

 •  our ability to obtain adequate reimbursement.

The field of diagnostic medical imaging is dynamic, with new products, including equipment and agents, continually being developed and
existing products continually being refined. Our own diagnostic imaging agents compete not only with other similarly administered imaging agents but also
with imaging agents employed in different and often competing diagnostic modalities. New imaging agents in a given diagnostic modality may be
developed that provide benefits superior to the then-dominant agent in that modality, resulting in commercial displacement. Similarly, changing perceptions
about comparative efficacy and safety including, among other things, comparative radiation exposure, as well as changing availability of supply may favor
one agent over another or one modality over another. In addition, new or revised professional society appropriate use criteria, which are developed to assist
physicians and other health care providers in making appropriate imaging decisions for specific clinical conditions, can and have reduced the frequency of
and demand for certain imaging modalities and imaging agents. To the extent there is technological obsolescence in any of our products that we
manufacture, resulting in lower unit sales or decreased unit sales prices, we will have increased unit overhead allocable to the remaining market share, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our current portfolio of commercial products primarily focuses on heart disease and vascular disease. This particular focus, however, may not be
in our long-term best interest if the incidence and prevalence of heart disease and vascular disease decrease over time. Despite the aging population in the
affluent parts of the world where diagnostic medical imaging is most frequently used, government and private efforts to promote preventative cardiac care
through exercise, diet and improved medications could decrease the overall demand for our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Because market acceptance of Ablavar has been slower than we anticipated, we have had a series of asset write-downs.

Given the lower market demand for Ablavar than we initially anticipated and the magnitude of the required purchase minimums originally
contained in the manufacturing agreement with Mallinckrodt, we entered into two separate amendments to the agreement in August 2010 and October 2011
to reduce the minimum purchase requirements. In the fourth quarter of 2010, we recorded an inventory write-down of approximately $10.9 million for
Ablavar finished good product that had already been manufactured by Mallinckrodt that would likely expire prior to its sale to and use by customers. In the
second quarter of 2011, we recorded an impairment charge of $23.5 million, the full remaining value of the product’s intellectual property. In addition, in the
second and fourth quarters of 2011, we recorded a further inventory write-down of approximately $13.5 million and $12.3 million, respectively, and a loss of
$1.9 million and $3.7 million, respectively, for the portion of committed purchases of Ablavar that we did not believe we would be able to sell prior to
product expiry. In the third quarter of 2012, we recorded an additional inventory write-down of approximately $10.6 million and a loss of $1.9 million for the
portion of committed purchases of Ablavar that we do not believe we will be able to sell prior to product expiry. Finally, in the fourth quarter of 2013, we
recorded an additional inventory write-down of approximately $1.6 million related to the API that the Company would not be able to convert or be able to
sell prior to its expiration.

There are no remaining future purchase commitments under the agreement with Mallinckrodt. In 2013, we transitioned the sales and marketing
efforts for Ablavar from our direct sales force to our customer service team in order to allow our direct sales force to drive our DEFINITY sales growth. If we do
not meet our current sales goals or cannot sell the product we have committed to purchase prior to its expiration, we could incur additional inventory losses
and/or losses on our purchase commitments.

The process of developing new drugs and obtaining regulatory approval is complex, time-consuming and costly, and the outcome is not certain.
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We currently have three agents in development, two of which (flurpiridaz F 18 and 18F LMI 1195) are currently in clinical development, while a
third (LMI 1174) is in pre-clinical development. To obtain regulatory approval for these agents, we must conduct extensive human tests, which are referred to
as clinical trials, as well as meet other rigorous regulatory requirements, as further described in “Business—Regulatory Matters.” Satisfaction of all regulatory
requirements typically takes many years and requires the expenditure of substantial resources. A number of other factors may cause significant delays in the
completion of our clinical trials, including unexpected delays in the initiation of clinical sites, slower than projected enrollment, competition with ongoing
clinical trials and scheduling conflicts with participating clinicians, regulatory requirements, limits on manufacturing capacity and failure of an agent to meet
required standards for administration to humans. In addition, it may take longer than we project to achieve study endpoints and complete data analysis for a
trial or we may decide to slow down the enrollment in a trial in order to conserve financial resources.

Our agents in development are also subject to the risks of failure inherent in drug development and testing. The results of preliminary studies do
not necessarily predict clinical success, and larger and later stage clinical trials may not produce the same results as earlier stage trials. Sometimes, agents that
have shown promising results in early clinical trials have subsequently suffered significant setbacks in later clinical trials. Agents in later stage clinical trials
may fail to show desired safety and efficacy traits, despite having progressed through initial clinical testing. Further, the data collected from clinical trials of
our agents in development may not be sufficient to support regulatory approval, or regulators could interpret the data differently and less favorably than we
do. Further, the design of a clinical trial can determine whether its results will support approval of a product, and flaws in the design of a clinical trial may not
become apparent until the clinical trial is well advanced. Clinical trials of potential products often reveal that it is not practical or feasible to continue
development efforts. Regulatory authorities may require us or our partners to conduct additional clinical testing, in which case we would have to expend
additional time and resources. The approval process may also be delayed by changes in government regulation, future legislation or administrative action or
changes in regulatory policy that occur prior to or during regulatory review. The failure to provide clinical and preclinical data that are adequate to
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the regulatory authorities that our agents in development are safe and effective for their proposed use will delay or preclude
approval and will prevent us from marketing those products.

In our flurpiridaz F 18 Phase 3 program, in the fourth quarter of 2013 we announced preliminary results from the 301 trial, which is subject to a
special protocol assessment, or SPA, with the FDA. Although flurpiridaz F 18 appeared to be well-tolerated from a safety perspective and outperformed
SPECT in a highly statistically significant manner in the co-primary endpoint of sensitivity and in the secondary endpoints of image quality and diagnostic
certainty, the agent did not meet its other co-primary endpoint of non-inferiority for identifying subjects without disease. We can give no assurances that our
SPA agreement will be deemed binding on the FDA or will result in any particular outcome from regulatory review of the study or the agent, that any of the
data generated thus far in the 301 trial can be used for a New Drug Application, or NDA, approval, that a strategic partner will have to conduct only one
additional clinical trial, the planned 302 trial, prior to filing an NDA, or that flurpiridaz F 18 will ever be approved as a PET MPI imaging agent by the FDA.

We are not permitted to market our agents in development in the United States or other countries until we have received requisite regulatory
approvals. For example, securing FDA approval for a new drug requires the submission of an NDA to the FDA for our agents in development. The NDA must
include extensive nonclinical and clinical data and supporting information to establish the agent’s safety and effectiveness for each indication. The NDA
must also include significant information regarding the chemistry, manufacturing and controls for the product. The FDA review process can take many years
to complete, and approval is never guaranteed. If a product is approved, the FDA may limit the indications for which the product may be marketed, require
extensive warnings on the product labeling, impose restricted distribution programs, require expedited reporting of certain adverse events, or require costly
ongoing requirements for post-marketing clinical studies and surveillance or other risk management measures to monitor the safety or efficacy of the agent.
Markets outside of the United States also have requirements for approval of agents with which we must comply prior to marketing. Obtaining regulatory
approval for marketing of an agent in one country does not ensure we will be able to obtain regulatory approval in other countries, but a failure or delay in
obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory process in other countries. Also, any regulatory approval of any of
our products or agents in development, once obtained, may be withdrawn. Approvals might not be granted on a timely basis, if at all.

Even if our agents in development proceed successfully through clinical trials and receive regulatory approval, there is no guarantee that an
approved product can be manufactured in commercial quantities at a reasonable cost or that such a product will be successfully marketed or distributed. For
example, rather than being manufactured at our own facilities, flurpiridaz F 18 would require the creation of a complex, field-based network involving PET
cyclotrons located at radiopharmacies where the agent would need to be manufactured and distributed rapidly to end-users, given the agent’s 110-minute
half-life. In addition, in the case of flurpiridaz F 18, obtaining adequate reimbursement is critical, including not only coverage from Medicare, Medicaid,
other government payors as well as private payors but also appropriate payment levels which adequately cover the substantially higher manufacturing and
distribution costs associated with a PET MPI agent in comparison to, for example, sestamibi.
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We will not be able to further develop or commercialize our agents in development without successful strategic partners.

In March 2013, we implemented a strategic shift in how we intend to fund our important R&D programs. We have reduced our internal R&D
resources, while at the same time we are seeking to engage strategic partners to further develop and commercialize our important agents in development,
including flurpiridaz F 18, 18F LMI 1195 and LMI 1174. However, different strategic partners may have different time horizons, risk profiles, return
expectations and amounts of capital to deploy, and we may not be able to negotiate relationships with potential strategic partners on acceptable terms, or at
all. In addition, because we failed to meet one of our two co-primary endpoints in the first of our two flurpiridaz F 18 Phase 3 trials, we have initiated
discussions about potential next steps in the flurpiridaz F 18 development process with the FDA. If we are unable to establish or maintain these strategic
partnerships, we will have to limit the size or scope of, or delay, our development programs.

In addition, our dependence on strategic partnerships is subject to a number of risks, including:
 

 •  the inability to control the amount or timing of resources that our partners may devote to developing the agents;
 

 •  the possibility that we may be required to relinquish important rights, including economic, intellectual property, marketing and
distribution rights;

 

 •  the receipt of lower revenues than if we were to commercialize those agents ourselves;
 

 •  our failure to receive future milestone payments or royalties if a partner fails to commercialize one of our agents successfully;
 

 •  the possibility that a partner could separately move forward with competing agents developed either independently or in collaboration
with others, including our competitors;

 

 •  the possibility that our strategic partners may experience financial or operational difficulties;
 

 •  business combinations or significant changes in a partner’s business strategy that may adversely affect that partner’s willingness or
ability to complete its obligations under any arrangement with us; and

 

 •  the possibility that our partners may operate in countries where their operations could be negatively impacted by changes in the local
regulatory environment or by political unrest.

Any of these factors either alone or taken together could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition
and cash flows.

A heightened public or regulatory focus on the radiation risks of diagnostic imaging could have an adverse effect on our business.

We believe that there has been heightened public and regulatory focus on radiation exposure, including the concern that repeated doses of
radiation used in diagnostic imaging procedures pose the potential risk of long- term cell damage, cancer and other diseases. For example, starting in January
2012, the CMS required the accreditation of facilities providing the technical component of advanced imaging services, including CT, MRI, PET and nuclear
medicine, in non-hospital free-standing settings. In August 2011, the Joint Commission (an independent, not-for-profit organization that accredits and
certifies more than 20,500 healthcare organizations and programs in the United States) issued an alert on the radiation risks of diagnostic imaging and
recommended specific actions for providing “the right test and the right dose through effective processes, safe technology and a culture of safety.” In January
2014, the Joint Commission published revised accreditation standards for diagnostic imaging. These standards were originally scheduled to take effect in
July 2014, but implementation has been delayed to July 2015.

Heightened regulatory focus on risks caused by the radiation exposure received by diagnostic imaging patients could lead to increased
regulation of radiopharmaceutical manufacturers or healthcare providers who perform procedures that use our imaging agents, which could make the
procedures more costly, reduce the number of providers who perform procedures and/or decrease the demand for our products. In addition, heightened public
focus on or fear of radiation exposure could lead to decreased demand for our products by patients or by healthcare providers who order the procedures in
which our agents are used. Although we believe that our diagnostic imaging agents when properly used do not expose patients and healthcare providers to
unsafe levels of radiation, any of the foregoing risks could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

In the ordinary course of business, we may be subject to product liability claims and lawsuits, including potential class actions, alleging that our products
have resulted or could result in an unsafe condition or injury.
 

55



Table of Contents

Any product liability claim brought against us, with or without merit, could be time consuming and costly to defend and could result in an
increase of our insurance premiums. Although we have not had any such claims to date, claims that could be brought against us might not be covered by our
insurance policies. Furthermore, although we currently have product liability insurance coverage with policy limits that we believe are customary for
pharmaceutical companies in the diagnostic medical imaging industry and adequate to provide us with insurance coverage for foreseeable risks, even where
the claim is covered by our insurance, our insurance coverage might be inadequate and we would have to pay the amount of any settlement or judgment that
is in excess of our policy limits. We may not be able to obtain insurance on terms acceptable to us or at all, since insurance varies in cost and can be difficult
to obtain. Our failure to maintain adequate insurance coverage or successfully defend against product liability claims could have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We use hazardous materials in our business and must comply with environmental laws and regulations, which can be expensive.

Our operations use hazardous materials and produce hazardous wastes, including radioactive, chemical and, in certain circumstances, biological
materials and wastes. We are subject to a variety of federal, state and local laws and regulations as well as non-U.S. laws and regulations relating to the
transport, use, handling, storage, exposure to and disposal of these materials and wastes. Environmental laws and regulations are complex, change frequently
and have become more stringent over time. We are required to obtain, maintain and renew various environmental permits and nuclear licenses. Although we
believe that our safety procedures for transporting, using, handling, storing and disposing of, and limiting exposure to, these materials and wastes comply in
all material respects with the standards prescribed by applicable laws and regulations, the risk of accidental contamination or injury cannot be eliminated. We
place a high priority in these safety procedures and seek to limit any inherent risks. We generally contract with third parties for the disposal of wastes
generated by our operations. Prior to disposal, we store any low level radioactive waste at our facilities to decay until the materials are no longer considered
radioactive. Although we believe we have complied in all material respects with all applicable environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we
cannot assure you that we have been or will be in compliance with all such laws at all times. If we violate these laws, we could be fined, criminally charged or
otherwise sanctioned by regulators. We may be required to incur further costs to comply with current or future environmental and safety laws and regulations.
In addition, in the event of accidental contamination or injury from these materials, we could be held liable for any damages that result and any such liability
could exceed our resources.

While we have budgeted for current and future capital and operating expenditures to maintain compliance with these laws and regulations, we
cannot assure you that our costs of complying with current or future environmental, health and safety laws and regulations will not exceed our estimates or
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. Further, we cannot assure you that we will not be subject to additional environmental
claims for personal injury, investigation or cleanup in the future based on our past, present or future business activities.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, our competitors could develop and market products with features similar to our products, and demand
for our products may decline.

Our commercial success will depend in part on obtaining and maintaining patent protection and trade secret protection of our technologies and
agents in development as well as successfully defending these patents and trade secrets against third party challenges, both in the United States and in
foreign countries. We will only be able to protect our intellectual property from unauthorized use by third parties to the extent that we maintain the secrecy of
our trade secrets and can enforce our valid patents and trademarks.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions
for which important legal principles remain unresolved. In addition, changes in either the patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States
or other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual property and we may not receive the same degree of protection in every jurisdiction.
Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in third party patents.

The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain because legal means afford only limited protection and may not adequately
protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. For example:
 

 •  we might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications and issued patents, and we
could lose our patent rights as a result;

 

 •  we might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions or our patent applications may not have been timely
filed, and we could lose our patent rights as a result;
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 •  others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies;
 

 •  it is possible that none of our pending patent applications will result in any further issued patents;
 

 •  our issued patents may not provide a basis for commercially viable drugs, may not provide us with any protection from unauthorized use
of our intellectual property by third parties, and may not provide us with any competitive advantages;

 

 •  our patent applications or patents may be subject to interferences, oppositions, post-grant review, reexaminations or similar
administrative proceedings;

 

 
•  while we generally apply for patents in those countries where we intend to make, have made, use or sell patented products, we may not be

able to accurately predict all of the countries where patent protection will ultimately be desirable and may be precluded from doing so at
a later date;

 

 •  we may fail to seek patent protection in certain countries where the actual cost outweighs the perceived benefit at a certain time;
 

 •  patents issued in foreign jurisdictions may have different scopes of coverage as our United States patents and so our products may not
receive the same degree of protection in foreign countries as they would in the United States;

 

 •  we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; or
 

 •  the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.

Moreover, the issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its validity or enforceability. A third party may challenge the validity or enforceability of a
patent even after its issuance by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or the applicable foreign patent office. It is also uncertain how much protection, if any,
will be afforded by our patents if we attempt to enforce them and they are challenged in court or in other proceedings, which may be brought in U.S. or non-
U.S. jurisdictions to challenge the validity of a patent.

The defense and prosecution of intellectual property suits, interferences, oppositions and related legal and administrative proceedings are costly, time
consuming to pursue and result in diversion of resources. The outcome of these proceedings is uncertain and could significantly harm our business. If we are
not able to defend the patents of our technologies and products, then we will not be able to exclude competitors from marketing products that directly
compete with our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We will also rely on trade secrets and other know-how and proprietary information to protect our technology, especially where we do not believe
patent protection is appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We use reasonable efforts to protect our trade secrets, but our
employees, consultants, contractors, outside scientific partners and other advisors may unintentionally or willfully disclose our confidential information to
competitors or other third parties. Enforcing a claim that a third party improperly obtained and is using our trade secrets is expensive and time consuming,
and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States are sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets. Moreover, our competitors
may independently develop equivalent knowledge, methods and know-how. We often rely on confidentiality agreements with our collaborators, employees,
consultants and other third parties and invention assignment agreements with our employees to protect our trade secrets and other know-how and proprietary
information concerning our business. These confidentiality agreements may not prevent unauthorized disclosure of trade secrets and other know-how and
proprietary information, and there can be no guarantee that an employee or an outside party will not make an unauthorized disclosure of our trade secrets,
other technical know-how or proprietary information, or that we can detect such an unauthorized disclosure. We may not have adequate remedies for any
unauthorized disclosure. This might happen intentionally or inadvertently. It is possible that a competitor will make use of that information, and that our
competitive position will be compromised, in spite of any legal action we might take against persons making those unauthorized disclosures, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We rely on our trademarks, trade names and brand names to distinguish our products from the products of our competitors, and have registered or
applied to register many of these trademarks, including DEFINITY, Cardiolite, TechneLite, Ablavar, Neurolite, Quadramet and Lantheus Medical Imaging.
We cannot assure you that any pending trademark applications will be approved. Third parties may also oppose our trademark applications, or otherwise
challenge our use of the trademarks. If our trademarks are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our products, which could result in loss of
brand recognition, and could require us to devote resources to advertising and marketing new brands. Further, we cannot assure you that competitors will not
infringe our trademarks, or that we will have adequate resources to enforce our trademarks.
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We may be subject to claims that we have infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated the patent or other intellectual property rights of a third party.
The outcome of any of these claims is uncertain and any unfavorable result could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We may be subject to claims by third parties that we have infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated their intellectual property rights. While we
believe that the products that we currently manufacture using our proprietary technology do not infringe upon or otherwise violate proprietary rights of other
parties or that meritorious defenses would exist with respect to any assertions to the contrary, we cannot assure you that we would not be found to infringe on
or otherwise violate the proprietary rights of others.

We may be subject to litigation over infringement claims regarding the products we manufacture or distribute. This type of litigation can be costly and
time consuming and could divert management’s attention and resources, generate significant expenses, damage payments (potentially including treble
damages) or restrictions or prohibitions on our use of our technology, which could adversely affect our results of operations. In addition, if we are found to be
infringing on proprietary rights of others, we may be required to develop non-infringing technology, obtain a license (which may not be available on
reasonable terms, or at all), make substantial one-time or ongoing royalty payments, or cease making, using and/or selling the infringing products, any of
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We may be adversely affected by the current economic environment.

Our ability to attract and retain customers, invest in and grow our business and meet our financial obligations depends on our operating and financial
performance, which, in turn, is subject to numerous factors, including the prevailing economic conditions and financial, business and other factors beyond
our control, such as the rate of unemployment, the number of uninsured persons in the United States and inflationary pressures. We cannot anticipate all the
ways in which the current economic climate and financial market conditions could adversely impact our business.

We are exposed to risks associated with reduced profitability and the potential financial instability of our customers, many of which may be adversely
affected by volatile conditions in the financial markets. For example, unemployment and underemployment, and the resultant loss of insurance, may decrease
the demand for healthcare services and pharmaceuticals. If fewer patients are seeking medical care because they do not have insurance coverage, our
customers may experience reductions in revenues, profitability and/or cash flow that could lead them to modify, delay or cancel orders for our products. If
customers are not successful in generating sufficient revenue or are precluded from securing financing, they may not be able to pay, or may delay payment of,
accounts receivable that are owed to us. This, in turn, could adversely affect our financial condition and liquidity. In addition, if economic challenges in the
United States result in widespread and prolonged unemployment, either regionally or on a national basis, prior to the effectiveness of certain provisions of
the Healthcare Reform Act, a substantial number of people may become uninsured or underinsured. In turn, this may lead to fewer individuals pursuing or
being able to afford diagnostic medical imaging procedures. To the extent economic challenges result in fewer procedures being performed, our business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be adversely affected.

Our business is subject to international economic, political and other risks that could negatively affect our results of operations or financial position.

For the six months ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, 23% and 25%, respectively, of our revenues were derived outside of the United States. For the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, 25%, 27% and 25%, respectively, of our revenues were derived from countries outside the United States. We
anticipate that revenue from non-U.S. operations will grow. Accordingly, our business is subject to risks associated with doing business internationally,
including:
 

 •  less stable political and economic environments and changes in a specific country’s or region’s political or economic conditions;
 

 •  entering into or renewing commercial agreements with international governments or provincial authorities or entities directly or
indirectly controlled by such governments or authorities, such as our Chinese partner Double-Crane;

 

 •  international customers which are agencies or institutions of foreign governments,
 

 •  local business practices which may be in conflict with the FCPA and Bribery Act;
 

 •  currency fluctuations;
 

 •  potential negative consequences from changes in tax laws affecting our ability to repatriate profits;
 

 •  unfavorable labor regulations;
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 •  greater difficulties in relying on non-U.S. courts to enforce either local or U.S. laws, particularly with respect to intellectual property;
 

 •  greater potential for intellectual property piracy;
 

 •  greater difficulties in managing and staffing non-U.S. operations;
 

 •  the need to ensure compliance with the numerous in-country and international regulatory and legal requirements applicable to our
business in each of these jurisdictions and to maintain an effective compliance program to ensure compliance with these requirements;

 

 •  changes in public attitudes about the perceived safety of nuclear facilities;
 

 •  changes in trade policies, regulatory requirements and other barriers;
 

 •  civil unrest or other catastrophic events; and
 

 •  longer payment cycles of non-U.S. customers and difficulty collecting receivables in non-U.S. jurisdictions.

These factors are beyond our control. The realization of any of these or other risks associated with operating in non-U.S. countries could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. As our international exposure increases and as we execute
our strategy of international expansion, these risks may intensify.

We face currency and other risks associated with international sales.

We generate significant revenue from export sales, as well as from operations conducted outside the United States. During the six months ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013, the net impact of foreign currency changes on transactions was a loss of $0.4 million and $6,000, respectively. During the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the net impact of foreign currency changes on transactions was a loss of $349,000, $579,000 and $156,000,
respectively. Operations outside the United States expose us to risks including fluctuations in currency values, trade restrictions, tariff and trade regulations,
U.S. export controls, non-U.S. tax laws, shipping delays and economic and political instability. For example, violations of U.S. export controls, including
those administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, could result in fines, other civil or criminal penalties and the
suspension or loss of export privileges which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial conditions and cash flows.

The functional currency of each of our non-U.S. operations is generally the local currency, although one non-U.S. operation’s functional currency is the
U.S. Dollar. Exchange rates between some of these currencies and U.S. Dollar have fluctuated significantly in recent years and may do so in the future.
Historically, we have not used derivative financial instruments or other financial instruments to hedge those economic exposures. It is possible that
fluctuations in exchange rates will have a negative effect on our results of operations.

U.S. credit markets may impact our ability to obtain financing or increase the cost of future financing, including, in the event we obtain financing with a
variable interest rate, interest rate fluctuations based on macroeconomic conditions that are beyond our control.

As of June 30, 2014, we had approximately $413.5 million of total principal indebtedness consisting of $400.0 million of Notes issued May 10, 2010
and March 16, 2011 and due May 15, 2017 and our revolving credit facility, with an outstanding balance of $13.5 million. In addition to the $13.5 million
outstanding under our revolving credit facility, there is an $8.8 million unfunded Standby Letter of Credit as of June 30, 2014. As of June 30, 2014, our
revolving credit facility had $22.2 million of remaining availability. In June 2014, we amended our revolving credit facility to increase the size from $42.5
million to $50.0 million. During periods of volatility and disruption in the U.S., European, or global credit markets, obtaining additional or replacement
financing may be more difficult and the cost of issuing new debt or replacing our revolving credit facility could be higher than under our current revolving
credit facility. Higher cost of new debt may limit our ability to have cash on hand for working capital, capital expenditures and acquisitions on terms that are
acceptable to us. Additionally, our revolving credit facility has a variable interest rate. By its nature, a variable interest rate will move up or down based on
changes in the economy and other factors, all of which are beyond our control. If interest rates increase, our interest expense could increase, affecting earnings
and reducing cash flows available for working capital, capital expenditures and acquisitions.

Many of our customer relationships outside of the United States are, either directly or indirectly, with governmental entities, and we could be adversely
affected by violations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws outside the United States.

The FCPA, the Bribery Act and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws in non-U.S. jurisdictions generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries
from making improper payments to non-U.S. officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business.
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The FCPA prohibits us from providing anything of value to foreign officials for the purposes of obtaining or retaining business or securing any
improper business advantage. It also requires us to keep books and records that accurately and fairly reflect our transactions. Because of the predominance of
government-sponsored healthcare systems around the world, many of our customer relationships outside of the United States are, either directly or indirectly,
with governmental entities and are therefore subject to the FCPA and similar anti-bribery laws in non- U.S. jurisdictions. In addition, the Bribery Act has been
enacted, and its provisions extend beyond bribery of foreign public officials and are more onerous than the FCPA in a number of other respects, including
jurisdiction, non-exemption of facilitation payments and penalties.

Our policies mandate compliance with these anti-bribery laws. We operate in many parts of the world that have experienced governmental corruption
to some degree, and in certain circumstances strict compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with local customs and practices. Despite our training and
compliance programs, our internal control policies and procedures may not always protect us from reckless or criminal acts committed by our employees or
agents. Violations of these laws, or allegations of those violations, could disrupt our business and result in a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our business depends on the continued effectiveness and availability of our information technology infrastructure, and failures of this infrastructure could
harm our operations.

To remain competitive in our industry, we must employ information technologies to support manufacturing processes, quality processes, distribution,
R&D and regulatory applications and that capture, manage and analyze the large streams of data generated in our clinical trials in compliance with
applicable regulatory requirements. We rely extensively on technology, some of which is managed by third-party service providers, to allow the concurrent
conduct of work sharing around the world. As with all information technology, our infrastructure ages and becomes subject to increasing maintenance and
repair and our systems generally are vulnerable to potential damage or interruptions from fires, natural disasters, power outages, blackouts,
telecommunications failures and other unexpected events, as well as to break-ins, sabotage, increasingly sophisticated intentional acts of vandalism or cyber
threats. As these threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend additional resources to enhance our information security measures or to investigate
and remediate any information security vulnerabilities. Given the extensive reliance of our business on technology, any substantial disruption or resulting
loss of data that is not avoided or corrected by our backup measures could harm our business, operations and financial condition.

We may not be able to hire or retain the number of qualified personnel, particularly scientific, medical and sales personnel, required for our business,
which would harm the development and sales of our products and limit our ability to grow.

Competition in our industry for highly skilled scientific, healthcare and sales personnel is intense. Although we have not had any material difficulty in
the past in hiring or retaining qualified personnel other than from this intense competition, if we are unable to retain our existing personnel, or attract and
train additional qualified personnel, either because of competition in our industry for these personnel or because of insufficient financial resources, then our
growth may be limited and it could have a material adverse effect on our business.

If we lose the services of our key personnel, our business could be adversely affected.

Our success is substantially dependent upon the performance, contributions and expertise of our chief executive officer, executive leadership and
senior management team. Jeffrey Bailey, our Chief Executive Officer and President, and other members of our executive leadership and senior management
team play a significant role in generating new business and retaining existing customers. We have employment agreements with Mr. Bailey and a limited
number of other individuals on our executive leadership team, although we cannot prevent them from terminating their employment with us. We do not
maintain key person life insurance policies on any of our executive officers. While we have experienced both voluntary and involuntary turnover on our
executive leadership team, to date we have been able to attract new, qualified individuals to lead our company and key functional areas. Our inability to
retain our existing executive leadership and senior management team, maintain an appropriate internal succession program or attract and retain additional
qualified personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our future growth may depend on our ability to identify and in-license or acquire additional products, and if we do not successfully do so, or otherwise fail
to integrate any new products into our operations, we may have limited growth opportunities and it could materially adversely affect our relationships
with customers and/or result in significant impairment charges.

We are continuing to seek to acquire or in-license products, businesses or technologies that we believe are a strategic fit with our business strategy.
Future in-licenses or acquisitions, however, may entail numerous operational and financial risks, including:
 

 •  exposure to unknown liabilities;
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 •  disruption of our business, customer base and diversion of our management’s time and attention to develop acquired products or
technologies;

 

 •  a reduction of our current financial resources;
 

 •  difficulty or inability to secure financing to fund development activities for those acquired or in-licensed technologies;
 

 •  incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuances of securities to pay for acquisitions; and
 

 •  higher than expected acquisition and integration costs.

We may not have sufficient resources to identify and execute the acquisition or in-licensing of third party products, businesses and technologies and
integrate them into our current infrastructure. In particular, we may compete with larger pharmaceutical companies and other competitors in our efforts to
establish new collaborations and in-licensing opportunities. These competitors likely will have access to greater financial resources than we do and may have
greater expertise in identifying and evaluating new opportunities. Furthermore, there may be overlap between our products or customers and the companies
which we acquire that may create conflicts in relationships or other commitments detrimental to the integrated businesses. Additionally, the time between our
expenditures to in-license or acquire new products, technologies or businesses and the subsequent generation of revenues from those acquired products,
technologies or businesses (or the timing of revenue recognition related to licensing agreements and/or strategic collaborations) could cause fluctuations in
our financial performance from period to period. Finally, if we devote resources to potential acquisitions or in- licensing opportunities that are never
completed, or if we fail to realize the anticipated benefits of those efforts, we could incur significant impairment charges or other adverse financial
consequences.

We have a substantial amount of indebtedness which may limit our financial and operating activities and may adversely affect our ability to incur
additional debt to fund future needs.

As of June 30, 2014, we had approximately $413.5 million of total principal indebtedness consisting of $400.0 million of the Notes, which mature on
May 15, 2017, and $13.5 million outstanding under our revolving credit facility. As of June 30, 2014, in addition to the $13.5 million outstanding under our
revolving credit facility, there is an $8.8 million unfunded Standby Letter of Credit. Our substantial indebtedness and any future indebtedness we incur
could:
 

 •  require us to dedicate a substantial portion of cash flow from operations to the payment of interest on and principal of our indebtedness,
thereby reducing the funds available for other purposes;

 

 •  make it more difficult for us to satisfy and comply with our obligations with respect to the Notes, namely the payment of interest and
principal;

 

 •  subject us to increased sensitivity to interest rate increases;
 

 •  make us more vulnerable to economic downturns, adverse industry or company conditions or catastrophic external events;
 

 •  limit our ability to withstand competitive pressures;
 

 •  reduce our flexibility in planning for or responding to changing business, industry and economic conditions; and
 

 •  place us at a competitive disadvantage to competitors that have relatively less debt than we have.

In addition, our substantial level of indebtedness could limit our ability to obtain additional financing on acceptable terms, or at all, for working
capital, capital expenditures and general corporate purposes. Our liquidity needs could vary significantly and may be affected by general economic
conditions, industry trends, performance and many other factors not within our control.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow to meet our debt service obligations.

Our ability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to make scheduled payments on our debt obligations, which are currently $39.0 million of
interest per year based on our $400.0 million in total principal indebtedness as of June 30, 2014 related to the Notes, which principal is due at maturity on
May 15, 2017, will depend on our future financial performance, which will be affected by a range of economic, competitive and business factors, many of
which are outside of our control. If we do not generate sufficient cash flow from operations to satisfy our debt obligations, including interest payments and
the payment of principal at maturity, our credit ratings could be downgraded, and we may have to undertake alternative financing plans, such as refinancing
or restructuring our debt, selling assets, entering into additional corporate collaborations or licensing arrangements for one or more of our products or agents
in development, reducing or delaying capital investments or seeking to raise additional capital. We cannot assure you that any refinancing would be
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possible, that any assets could be sold, licensed or partnered, or, if sold, licensed or partnered, of the timing of the transactions and the amount of proceeds
realized from those transactions, that additional financing could be obtained on acceptable terms, if at all, or that additional financing would be permitted
under the terms of our various debt instruments then in effect. Furthermore, our ability to refinance would depend upon the condition of the financial and
credit markets. Our inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt obligations, or to refinance our obligations on commercially reasonable terms
or on a timely basis, would have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Despite our substantial indebtedness, we may incur more debt, which could exacerbate the risks described above.

We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future subject to the limitations contained in the agreements
governing our debt, including the Indenture (as defined below) governing the Notes. Although these agreements restrict us and our restricted subsidiaries
from incurring additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to important exceptions and qualifications. For example, we are generally permitted to
incur certain indebtedness, including indebtedness arising in the ordinary course of business, indebtedness among restricted subsidiaries and us and
indebtedness relating to hedging obligations. We are also permitted to incur indebtedness under the Indenture governing the Notes so long as we comply
with an interest coverage ratio of 2.0 to 1.0, determined on a pro forma basis for the most recently completed four fiscal quarters. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations— Liquidity and Capital Resources—External Sources of Liquidity.” If we or our
subsidiaries incur additional debt, the risks that we and they now face as a result of our high leverage could intensify. In addition, the Indenture governing
the Notes and the agreement governing our revolving credit facility will not prevent us from incurring obligations that do not constitute indebtedness under
the agreements.

Our debt agreements contain restrictions that will limit our flexibility in operating our business.

The Indenture governing the Notes and the agreement governing our revolving credit facility contain various covenants that limit our ability to
engage in specified types of transactions. These covenants limit our and our restricted subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things:
 

 •  incur additional debt;
 

 •  pay dividends or make other distributions;
 

 •  redeem stock;
 

 •  issue stock of subsidiaries;
 

 •  make certain investments;
 

 •  create liens;
 

 •  enter into transactions with affiliates; and
 

 •  merge, consolidate or transfer all or substantially all of our assets.

A breach of any of these covenants could result in a default under the Indenture governing the Notes and the agreement governing our revolving credit
facility. We may also be unable to take advantage of business opportunities that arise because of the limitations imposed on us by the restrictive covenants
under our indebtedness.

We may be limited in our ability to utilize, or may not be able to utilize, net operating loss carryforwards to reduce our future tax liability.

As of December 31, 2013, we had federal income tax loss carryforwards of $74.3 million, which will begin to expire in 2031 and will completely expire
in 2034. We have had significant financial losses in previous years and as a result we currently maintain a full valuation allowance for our deferred tax assets
including our federal and state tax loss carryforwards.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits
 
  10.1*   Employment Agreement, dated June 4, 2014, by and between Lantheus Medical Imaging, Inc. and John K. Bakewell.

  31.1*
  

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), pursuant to section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

  31.2*
  

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), pursuant to section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

  32.1*
  

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS*   XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH*   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL*  XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document

101.LAB*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE*   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

101.DEF*   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
 
* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

LANTHEUS MEDICAL IMAGING, INC.

By:  /s/ JEFFREY BAILEY
Name:  Jeffrey Bailey
Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer
Date:  August 12, 2014

LANTHEUS MEDICAL IMAGING, INC.

By:  /s/ JOHN BAKEWELL
Name:  John Bakewell
Title:  Chief Financial Officer
Date:  August 12, 2014
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Exhibit 10.1

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) dated as of June 4, 2014 by and between Lantheus Medical Imaging, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(the “Company”) and John Bakewell (“Executive”).

The Company desires to employ Executive and to enter into an agreement embodying the terms of such employment;

Executive desires to accept such employment and enter into such an Agreement.

In consideration of the premises and mutual covenants herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties agree as follows:

1.    At-Will Employment. Executive’s employment with the Company commenced as of your date of hire (the “Effective Date”). Such employment
shall be “at-will” employment. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Company may terminate Executive’s employment and this Agreement for any
reason at any time, with or without prior notice and with or without Cause (as defined herein), but subject to certain terms set forth in Section 8 below.
Similarly, subject to the terms of this Agreement, Executive may terminate his employment at any time, subject to Section 8 below.

2.    Position.

a.    Commencing as of the Effective Date, Executive shall serve as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer and shall report to the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company (the “CEO”) or such CEO’s designee. Executive shall have such duties and responsibilities as are consistent with such title and
position and/or such other duties and responsibilities as may be assigned from time to time by the CEO or the Board of Directors of Lantheus MI
Holdings, Inc. (the “Board”). If requested, Executive shall serve as an officer or a member of the Board of Directors of any of the Company’s
subsidiaries or affiliates without additional compensation.

b.    Executive will devote Executive’s full business time and best efforts to the performance of Executive’s duties hereunder and will not engage
in any other business, profession or occupation for compensation or otherwise which would conflict or interfere with the rendition of such services
either directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of the Board; provided that nothing herein shall preclude Executive, subject to the prior
approval of the Board, from accepting appointment to or continuing to serve on any board of directors or trustees of any business corporation or any
charitable organization; provided in each case, and in the aggregate, that such activities do not conflict or interfere with the performance of
Executive’s duties hereunder or conflict with Section 9.

3.    Base Salary. During Executive’s employment hereunder, the Company shall pay Executive a base salary at the annualized rate of $400,000,
payable in regular installments in accordance with the Company’s payment practices from time to time. Executive shall be entitled to annual performance
and salary review, and any increase in base salary shall be in the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board. Executive’s annual base
salary, as in effect from time to time, is hereinafter referred to as the “Base Salary”.
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4.    Annual Bonus. With respect to each full fiscal year ending during Executive’s employment hereunder, Executive shall be eligible to earn an
annual bonus award of sixty percent (60%) of Executive’s Base Salary (the “Target”) based upon achievement of annual EBITDA and/or other performance
targets established by the Compensation Committee of the Board within the first three months of each fiscal year (the “Annual Bonus”). The Executive’s
eligibility for 2014 will be prorated based on his actual start date with the company. The Annual Bonus, if any, shall be paid to Executive at the same time as
an annual bonus is paid to other similarly situated executives; provided, that Executive is an active employee in good standing with the Company on such
date of payment.

5.    Equity. Executive shall be eligible to receive future equity awards from time to time pursuant to Lantheus’ current Equity Incentive Plan,
commensurate with Executive’s level of responsibilities and the level of awards for similarly situated executives, as determined by the Compensation
Committee of the Board in its sole discretion. The terms and conditions of any such equity awards shall be set forth in a separate award agreement.

6.    Employee Benefits. During Executive’s employment hereunder, Executive shall be entitled to participate in the Company’s health, life and
disability insurance, and retirement and fringe employee benefit plans as in effect from time to time (collectively “Employee Benefits”), on the same basis as
those benefits are generally made available to other similarly situated executives of the Company.

7.    Business Expenses. During Executive’s employment hereunder, reasonable business expenses incurred by Executive in the performance of
Executive’s duties hereunder shall be reimbursed by the Company in accordance with Company policies.

8.    Termination of Employment.

(a) Termination By the Company Without Cause. If Executive’s employment is terminated by the Company without Cause, executive shall receive the
following, subject to Section 8(g):

(i) an amount equal to Executive’s Base Salary on the date of termination, less taxes and withholdings, payable in substantially equal installments over
a period of 12 months in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices, with payments commencing with the Company’s first payroll after
the sixtieth (60th) day following Executive’s termination of employment, and such first payment shall include any such amounts that would otherwise
be due prior thereto;

(ii) a pro rata portion of the Target Annual Bonus amount that Executive would have been eligible to receive pursuant to Section 4 hereof in such year
of termination, based upon the percentage of the fiscal year that shall have elapsed through the date of Executive’s termination of employment, less
taxes and withholdings, payable in substantially equal installments over a period of 12 months in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll
practices, with payments commencing with the Company’s first payroll after the sixtieth (60th) day following Executive’s termination of employment,
and such first payment shall include any such amounts that would be otherwise due prior thereto;
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(iii) provided that Executive elects to purchase continued healthcare coverage under COBRA, an amount equal to the Company’s portion of the
premium for medical and dental benefits under the Company’s group medical and dental plans that the Company was paying on Executive’s behalf on
the date of termination (which subsidy will be treated as imputed income) for a period of 12 months, with the first payment commencing on the
Company’s first payroll date after the 60th day following Executive’s termination of employment, and such first payment shall include any such
amounts that would otherwise be due prior thereto;

(iv) a lump sum amount equal to any earned, but unpaid, Annual Cash Bonus, if any, for the year prior to the year of termination, less taxes and
withholdings, which shall be payable on the 60th day following Executive’s termination of employment;

(v) a lump sum amount equal to any earned, but unpaid, Base Salary, if any, through the date of Executive’s termination of employment, less taxes and
withholdings, which shall be payable with the Company’s first payroll after Executive’s termination of employment; and

(vi) a lump sum amount equal to any unreimbursed business expenses, if any, pursuant to and in accordance with Section 7, incurred through the date
of Executive’s termination of employment.

(b) Termination Without Cause or For Good Reason following a Change of Control. If, within 12 months following the occurrence of a Change of Control (as
defined in the Shareholders Agreement) of Holdings, Executive terminates his employment for Good Reason or the Company terminates Executive’s
employment with the Company without Cause, Executive shall receive the following, subject to Section 8(g):

(i) an amount equal to the Executive’s Base Salary on the date of termination, less taxes and withholdings, payable in substantially equal installments
over a period of 12 months in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices, with payments commencing with the Company’s first payroll
after the sixtieth (60th) day following Executive’s termination of employment, and such first payment shall include any such amounts that would
otherwise be due prior thereto;

(ii) an amount equal to the full Target Bonus for the year of termination, less taxes and withholdings, payable in substantially equal installments over a
period of 12 months in accordance with the Company’s normal payroll practices, with payments commencing with the Company’s first payroll after the
sixtieth (60th) day following Executive’s termination of employment, and such first payment shall include any such amounts that would otherwise be
due prior thereto;

(iii) provided that Executive elects to purchase continued healthcare coverage under COBRA, an amount equal to the Company’s portion of the
premium for medical and dental benefits under the Company’s group medical and dental plans that the Company was paying on Executive’s behalf on
the date of termination (which subsidy will be treated as imputed income) for a period of 12 months, with the first payment commencing on the
Company’s first payroll date after the 60th day following Executive’s termination of employment, and such first payment shall include any such
amounts that would otherwise be due prior thereto;

(iv) a lump sum amount equal to any earned, but unpaid, Annual Cash Bonus, if any, for the year prior to the year of termination, less taxes and
withholdings, which shall be payable on the 60th day following Executive’s termination of employment;
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(v) a lump sum amount equal to any earned, but unpaid, Base Salary, if any, through the date of Executive’s termination of employment, less taxes and
withholdings, which shall be payable on the first payroll date after Executive’s termination of employment; and

(vi) a lump sum amount equal to any unreimbursed business expenses, if any, pursuant to and in accordance with Section 7, incurred through the date
of Executive’s termination of employment. Executive acknowledges and agrees that, in connection with any Change of Control transaction, except as
otherwise provided in a separate agreement, Executive shall not be entitled to receive, and shall not be paid, any transaction, success, sale or similar
bonus or payment.

(c) Termination Due to Death or Permanent Disability. Executive’s employment with the Company shall terminate automatically on Executive’s death. In the
event of Executive’s Permanent Disability, the Company shall be entitled to terminate his employment.

For purposes of this Agreement, the “Permanent Disability” of Executive shall mean Executive’s inability, because of mental or physical illness or
incapacity, whether total or partial, to perform one or more of the material functions of Executive’s position with or without reasonable accommodation, for a
period of: (i) 90 consecutive calendar days or (ii) an aggregate of 120 days out of any consecutive 12 month period, and which entitles Executive to receive
benefits under a disability plan provided by the Company.

In the event of a termination of employment under this section, Executive shall be entitled to following, subject to Section 8(g):
 

 (i) a lump sum amount equal to any earned, but unpaid, Annual Cash Bonus, if any, for the year prior to the year of termination, less taxes and
withholdings, payable on the sixtieth (60th) day following Executive’s termination of employment;

 

 (ii) a lump sum amount equal to any earned, but unpaid, Base Salary, if any, through the date of Executive’s termination of employment, less taxes
and withholdings, which shall be payable on the first payroll date after Executive’s termination of employment;

 

 (iii) a lump sum amount equal to any unreimbursed business expenses, if any, pursuant to and in accordance with Section 7, incurred through the
date of Executive’s termination of employment; and

 

 

(iv) a pro rata portion of any Annual Cash Bonus, to the extent earned based on actual performance by the Company, that Executive would have
been eligible to receive hereunder in the year of termination, based on the percentage of the fiscal year that shall have elapsed through the date
of Executive’s termination of employment, payable at such time as any such Annual Cash Bonuses are paid to active senior executives of the
Company.

(d) Other Terminations. Executive shall not be entitled to the post-termination benefits set forth in Section 8(a), Section 8(b) or Section 8(c) above if his
employment with the Company ceases for any reason other than his termination by the Company without Cause, his resignation for Good Reason or his
termination as a result of his death or Permanent Disability; it being understood that if Executive’s employment with the Company ceases or terminates for
any other reason, he will not be entitled to any severance or post-termination benefits or payments, whether hereunder or pursuant to any policy of the
Company, other than a lump sum amount equal to any earned, but unpaid, Base Salary, if any, through the date of Executive’s termination of
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employment, less taxes and withholdings (payable on the first payroll date after Executive’s termination of employment), and a lump sum amount equal to
any unreimbursed business expenses, if any, pursuant to and in accordance with Section 3(e), incurred through the date of Executive’s termination of
employment; provided, that this paragraph shall not alter Executive’s rights or obligations he may have or be subject to in connection with or with respect to
his equity interests in Holdings, and Executive’s indemnification rights shall continue to be governed in accordance with any Directors and Officers Liability
Insurance Policy that the Company may maintain and/or with the Company’s certificate of incorporation or by-bylaws or similar governing document, and
otherwise in accordance with Section 7.

(e) Cause Definition. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” means (i) material failure by Executive to perform Executive’s employment duties (other than
as a consequence of any illness, accident or disability), (ii) continued, willful failure of Executive to carry out any reasonable lawful direction of the
Company, (iii) material failure of Executive to comply with any of the applicable rules of the Company contained in its Employee Handbook or any other
Company policy, (iv) fraud, willful malfeasance, gross negligence or recklessness of Executive in the performance of employment duties, (v) willful failure of
Executive to comply with any of the material terms of this Agreement, (vi) other serious, willful misconduct of Executive which causes material injury to the
Company or its reputation, including, but not limited to, willful or gross misconduct toward any of the Company’s other employees, and (vii) conviction of a
crime (or a pleading of guilty or nolo contendere), other than one which in the opinion of the Board does not affect Executive’s position as an employee of
the Company.

(f) Good Reason Definition. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean, without the Executive’s Consent, (A) the failure of the Company to
pay, or cause to be paid, Executive’s Base Salary or Bonus, as the case may be, when due, (B) a permanent decrease in the Executive’s Base Salary, or a failure
by the Company to pay material compensation or provide material benefits due and payable to the Executive under his Employment Agreement, (C) the
Company requiring the Executive to be based at any office or location that is more than 50 miles from the Company’s current headquarters in Billerica,
Massachusetts, or (D) the failure of the Company to cause the transferee or successor to all or substantially all of the assets of the Company to assume by
operation of law or contractually the Company’s obligations hereunder, and provided further that any of the events described in clauses (A) or (D) of this
section shall constitute Good Reason only if the Company fails to cure such event within 30 days after receipt from Executive of written notice of the event
which constitutes Good Reason, and provided further, that Good Reason shall cease to exist for an event on the 30th day following the later of its occurrence
or Executive’s knowledge thereof, unless Executive has given the Company written notice thereof prior to such date; For the avoidance of doubt, (x) a
change in Executive’s reporting relationships, including but not limited to a change in the number of direct or indirect reports to Executive, shall not
constitute a material and adverse reduction in Executive’s responsibilities, and (y) commensurate with Executive performing his duties Executive will be
expected to work at the Company’s headquarters in North Billerica, Massachusetts, as necessitated by business demands or as reasonably requested by the
Company.

(g) Separation Agreement and General Release. The payments and benefits set forth in Sections 8(a), 8(b) and 8(c) above shall be expressly conditioned upon
Executive’s (or his estate or legal representatives, in the case of Section 4(c)) execution and delivery to the
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Company of a Separation Agreement and General Release in a form that is acceptable to the Company (the “Separation Agreement”) and such Separation
Agreement becoming irrevocable within sixty (60) days following Executive’s termination of employment; provided, that any payments or benefits
otherwise due prior to such sixtieth (60th) day shall be paid on such sixtieth (60th) day. For the avoidance of doubt, the payments and benefits set forth in
Sections 8(a), 8(b) and 8(c) above shall be forfeited if such Separation Agreement has not been executed, delivered and become irrevocable within such sixty
(60) day period. Such Separation Agreement shall contain release language substantially similar to the language set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto.

(h.) Board/Committee Resignation. Upon termination of Executive’s employment for any reason, Executive agrees to resign, as of the date of such
termination and to the extent applicable, from the Board (and any committees thereof) and the Board of Directors (and any committees thereof) of any of the
Company’s subsidiaries or affiliates.

9.    Non-Competition.

a.    Executive acknowledges and recognizes the highly competitive nature of the businesses of the Company and its affiliates and accordingly
agrees as follows:

(1)    During Executive’s employment with the Company and, for a period of one year following the date Executive ceases to be employed by the
Company (the “Restricted Period”), Executive will not, whether on Executive’s own behalf or on behalf of or in conjunction with any person, firm,
partnership, joint venture, association, corporation or other business organization, entity or enterprise whatsoever (“Person”), directly or indirectly solicit or
assist in soliciting in competition with the Company, the business of any client or prospective client:

(i)    with whom Executive had personal contact or dealings on behalf of the Company during the one-year period preceding Executive’s
termination of employment;

(ii)    with whom employees reporting to Executive had personal contact or dealings on behalf of the Company during the one year immediately
preceding the Executive’s termination of employment; or

(iii)    for whom Executive had direct or indirect responsibility during the one year immediately preceding Executive’s termination of
employment.
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(2)    During the Restricted Period, Executive will not directly or indirectly:

(i)    engage in any business that competes with the business or businesses of the Company or any of its affiliates, namely in the testing,
development and manufacturing services for the development, manufacture, distribution, marketing or sale of radiopharmaceutical products, contrast
imaging agents and/or radioactive generators for the global medical imaging and pharmaceutical industries, and including, without limitation,
businesses which the Company or its affiliates have specific plans to conduct in the future and as to which Executive is aware of such planning (a
“Competitive Business”);

(ii)    enter the employ of, or render any services to, any Person (or any division or controlled or controlling affiliate of any Person) who or which
engages in a Competitive Business;

(iii)    acquire a financial interest in, or otherwise become actively involved with, any Competitive Business, directly or indirectly, as an
individual, partner, shareholder, officer, director, principal, agent, trustee or consultant; or

(iv)    interfere with, or attempt to interfere with, business relationships (whether formed before, on or after the date of this Agreement) between
the Company or any of its affiliates and customers, clients, suppliers, partners, members or investors of the Company or its affiliates.

(3)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Executive may, directly or indirectly, own, solely as an investment, securities of any
Person engaged in the business of the Company or its affiliates which are publicly traded on a national or regional stock exchange or on the over-the-counter
market if Executive (i) is not a controlling person of, or a member of a group which controls, such Person and (ii) does not, directly or indirectly, own 5% or
more of any class of securities of such Person.

(4)    During the Restricted Period, Executive will not, whether on Executive’s own behalf or on behalf of or in conjunction with any Person, directly or
indirectly:

i. solicit or encourage any employee or consultant of the Company or its affiliates to leave the employment of, or cease providing services to, the
Company or its affiliates; or

ii. hire any such employee or consultant who was employed by or providing services to the Company or its affiliates as of the date of Executive’s
termination of employment with the Company or who left the employment of or ceased providing services to the Company or its affiliates coincident
with, or within one year prior to or after, the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company.

iii. It is expressly understood and agreed that although Executive and the Company consider the restrictions contained in this Section 9 to be
reasonable, if a final judicial determination is made by a court of competent jurisdiction that the time or territory or any other restriction contained in
this Agreement is an unenforceable restriction against
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Executive, the provisions of this Agreement shall not be rendered void but shall be deemed amended to apply as to such maximum time and territory
and to such maximum extent as such court may judicially determine or indicate to be enforceable. Alternatively, if any court of competent jurisdiction
finds that any restriction contained in this Agreement is unenforceable, and such restriction cannot be amended so as to make it enforceable, such
finding shall not affect the enforceability of any of the other restrictions contained herein.

The provisions of this Section 9 shall survive the termination of this Agreement and Executive’s employment for any reason.

10.    Non-Disparagement. The Executive shall not at any time (whether during or after Executive’s employment with the Company) make, or cause to
be made, any statement or communicate any information (whether oral or written) that disparages or reflects negatively on the Company or any of its
affiliates, except for truthful statements that may be made pursuant to legal process, including without limitation in litigation, arbitration or similar dispute
resolution proceedings. This Section 10 shall survive the termination of this Agreement and Executive’s employment for any reason.

11.    Confidentiality; Intellectual Property.

a.    Confidentiality.

(i)    Executive will not at any time (whether during or after Executive’s employment with the Company) (x) retain or use for the benefit, purposes
or account of Executive or any other Person; or (y) disclose, divulge, reveal, communicate, share, transfer or provide access to any Person outside the
Company (other than its professional advisers who are bound by confidentiality obligations), any non-public, proprietary or confidential information—
including, without limitation, trade secrets, know-how, research and development, software, databases, inventions, processes, formulae, technology, designs
and other intellectual property, information concerning finances, investments, profits, pricing, costs, products, services, vendors, customers, clients, partners,
investors, personnel, compensation, recruiting, training, advertising, sales, marketing, promotions, government and regulatory activities and approvals —
concerning the past, current or future business, activities and operations of the Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates and/or any third party that has disclosed
or provided any of same to the Company on a confidential basis (“Confidential Information”) without the prior written authorization of the Board.

(ii)    Confidential Information shall not include any information that is (A) generally known to the industry or the public other than as a result of
Executive’s breach of this covenant or any breach of other confidentiality obligations by third parties; (B) made legitimately available to Executive by a
third party without breach of any confidentiality obligation; or (C) required by law to be disclosed; provided that Executive shall give prompt written notice
to the Company of such requirement, disclose no more information than is so required, and cooperate with any attempts by the Company to obtain a
protective order or similar treatment.
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(iii)    Except as required by law, Executive will not disclose to anyone, other than Executive’s immediate family and legal or financial advisors,
the existence or contents of this Agreement; provided that Executive may disclose to any prospective future employer the provisions of Sections 9, 10 and 11
of this Agreement provided they agree to maintain the confidentiality of such terms.

(iv)    Upon termination of Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason, Executive shall (x) cease and not thereafter commence use
of any Confidential Information or intellectual property (including without limitation, any patent, invention, copyright, trade secret, trademark, trade name,
logo, domain name or other source indicator) owned or used by the Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates; (y) immediately return to the Company all
Company property and destroy, delete, or return to the Company, at the Company’s option, all originals and copies in any form or medium (including
memoranda, books, papers, plans, computer files, letters and other data) in Executive’s possession or control (including any of the foregoing stored or located
in Executive’s office, home, laptop or other computer, whether or not Company property) that contain Confidential Information or otherwise relate to the
business of the Company, its affiliates and subsidiaries, except that Executive may retain only those portions of any personal notes, notebooks and diaries
that do not contain any Confidential Information; and (z) notify and fully cooperate with the Company regarding the delivery or destruction of any other
Confidential Information of which Executive is or becomes aware and promptly return any other Company property in Executive’s possession.

b.    Intellectual Property.

(i)    If Executive has created, invented, designed, developed, contributed to or improved any works of authorship, inventions, intellectual
property, materials, documents or other work product (including without limitation, research, reports, software, databases, systems, applications,
presentations, textual works, content, or audiovisual materials) (“Works”), either alone or with third parties, prior to Executive’s employment by the
Company, that are relevant to or implicated by such employment (“Prior Works”), Executive hereby grants the Company a perpetual, nonexclusive, royalty-
free, worldwide, assignable, sublicensable license under all rights and intellectual property rights (including rights under patent, industrial property,
copyright, trademark, trade secret, unfair competition and related laws) therein for all purposes in connection with the Company’s current and future business.
A list of all such material Works as of the date hereof is attached hereto as Exhibit B.

(ii)    If Executive creates, invents, designs, develops, contributes to or improves any Works, either alone or with third parties, at any time during
Executive’s employment by the Company and within the scope of such employment and/or with the use of any Company resources (“Company Works”),
Executive shall promptly and fully disclose such works to the Company and hereby irrevocably assigns, transfers and conveys, to the maximum extent
permitted by applicable law, all rights and intellectual property rights therein (including rights under patent, industrial property, copyright, trademark, trade
secret, unfair competition and related laws) to the Company to the extent ownership of any such rights does not vest originally in the Company.
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(iii)    Executive agrees to keep and maintain adequate and current written records (in the form of notes, sketches, drawings, and any other form or
media requested by the Company) of all Company Works. The records will be available to and remain the sole property and intellectual property of the
Company at all times.

(iv)    Executive shall take all requested actions and execute all requested documents (including any licenses or assignments required by a
government contract) at the Company’s expense (but without further remuneration) to assist the Company in validating, maintaining, protecting, enforcing,
perfecting, recording, patenting or registering any of the Company’s rights in the Prior Works and Company Works. If the Company is unable for any other
reason to secure Executive’s signature on any document for this purpose, then Executive hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the Company and its
duly authorized officers and agents as Executive’s agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and on Executive’s behalf to execute any documents and to do all
other lawfully permitted acts in connection with the foregoing.

(v)    Executive shall not improperly use for the benefit of, bring to any premises of, divulge, disclose, communicate, reveal, transfer or provide
access to, or share with the Company any confidential, proprietary or non-public information or intellectual property relating to a former employer or other
third party without the prior written permission of such third party. Executive hereby indemnifies, holds harmless and agrees to defend the Company and its
officers, directors, partners, employees, agents and representatives from any breach of the foregoing covenant. Executive shall comply with all relevant
policies and guidelines of the Company, including regarding the protection of confidential information and intellectual property and potential conflicts of
interest. Executive acknowledges that the Company may amend any such policies and guidelines from time to time, and that Executive remains at all times
bound by their most current version.

c.    The provisions of this Section 11 shall survive the termination of this Agreement and Executive’s employment for any reason.

12.    Specific Performance. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Company’s remedies at law for a breach or threatened breach of any of the
provisions of Section 9, Section 10 or Section 11 would be inadequate and the Company would suffer irreparable damages as a result of such breach or
threatened breach. In recognition of this fact, Executive agrees that, in the event of such a breach or threatened breach, in addition to any remedies at law, the
Company, without posting any bond, shall be entitled to cease making any payments or providing any benefit otherwise required by this Agreement and
obtain equitable relief in the form of specific performance, temporary restraining order, temporary or permanent injunction or any other equitable remedy
which may then be available.
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13. Miscellaneous.

a.    Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, construed and interpreted in all respects, in accordance with the laws of the State of New
York, without regard to conflicts of laws principles thereof.

b.    Entire Agreement/Amendments. This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the employment of Executive by
the Company and supersedes all prior agreements, understandings, discussions, negotiations and undertakings, whether written or oral between the Executive
and the Company or any of its affiliates with respect to the Executive’s employment. There are no restrictions, agreements, promises, warranties, covenants or
undertakings between the parties with respect to the subject matter herein other than those expressly set forth herein. This Agreement may not be altered,
modified, or amended except by written instrument signed by the parties hereto.

c.    No Waiver. The failure of a party to insist upon strict adherence to any term of this Agreement on any occasion shall not be considered a waiver of
such party’s rights or deprive such party of the right thereafter to insist upon strict adherence to that term or any other term of this Agreement.

d.    Severability. In the event that any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall be or become invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any
respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby.

e.    Assignment. This Agreement, and all of Executive’s rights and duties hereunder, shall not be assignable or delegable by Executive. Any purported
assignment or delegation by Executive in violation of the foregoing shall be null and void ab initio and of no force and effect. This Agreement may be
assigned by the Company to a person or entity which is an affiliate or a successor in interest to substantially all of the business operations of the Company.
Upon such assignment, the rights and obligations of the Company hereunder shall become the rights and obligations of such affiliate or successor person or
entity.

f.    Set Off. The Company’s obligation to pay Executive the amounts provided and to make the arrangements provided hereunder shall be subject to
set-off, counterclaim or recoupment of amounts owed by Executive to the Company or its affiliates.

g.    Dispute Resolution. Except with respect to Sections 9, 10, 11 and 12 hereof, any controversy or claim arising out of or related to any provision of
this Agreement that cannot be mutually resolved by the parties hereto shall be settled by final, binding and nonappealable arbitration in New York, NY by a
single mutually-acceptable arbitrator. Subject to the following provisions, the arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the applicable rules of
American Arbitration Association then in effect. Any award
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entered by the arbitrator shall be final, binding and nonappealable and judgment may be entered thereon by either party in accordance with applicable law in
any court of competent jurisdiction. This arbitration provision shall be specifically enforceable. The arbitrator shall have no authority to modify any
provision of this Agreement or to award a remedy for a dispute involving this Agreement other than a benefit specifically provided under or by virtue of the
Agreement. Each party shall be responsible for its own expenses relating to the conduct of the arbitration or litigation (including attorney’s fees and
expenses) and shall share the fees of the American Arbitration Association and the arbitrator equally.

h.    Compliance with Section 409A of the Code. The parties acknowledge and agree that the interpretation of Section 409 A of the Code and its
application to the terms of this Agreement is uncertain and may be subject to change as additional guidance and interpretations become available. Anything
to the contrary herein notwithstanding, all benefits or payments provided by the Company to the Executive that would be deemed to constitute
“nonqualified deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code are intended to comply with Section 409A of the Code. If, however,
any such benefit or payment is deemed to not comply with Section 409A of the Code, the Company and the Executive agree to renegotiate in good faith any
such benefit or payment (including, without limitation, as to the timing of any severance payments payable hereunder), if possible, so that either
(i) Section 409A of the Code will not apply or (ii) compliance with Section 409A ofthe Code will be achieved. The Company shall consult with Executive in
good faith regarding the implementation of the provisions of this Section 13(h); provided that neither the Company nor any of its employees or
representatives shall have any liability to Executive with respect to thereto.

i.    Successors; Binding Agreement. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon personal or legal representatives, executors,
administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees of the parties hereto.

j.    Notice. For the purpose of this Agreement, notices and all other communications provided for in the Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
deemed to have been duly given when delivered by hand or overnight courier or three days after it has been mailed by United States registered mail, return
receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to the respective addresses set forth below in this Agreement, or to such other address as either party may have
furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith, except that notice of change of address shall be effective only upon receipt.
 

If to the Company:   Lantheus Medical Imaging, Inc.
  331 Treble Cove Rd.
  Bldg. 600-2
  N. Billerica, MA 01862
  Attention: Michael Duffy,
  Vice President and General Counsel
  Email: Michael.Duffy@lantheus.com

If to Executive:   To Executive’s address on file with the Company
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k.    Executive Representation. Executive hereby represents to the Company that (i) Executive has been provided with sufficient opportunity to review
this Agreement and has been advised by the Company to conduct such review with an attorney of his choice, and (ii) the execution and delivery of this
Agreement by Executive and the Company and the performance by Executive of Executive’s duties hereunder shall not constitute a breach of, or otherwise
contravene, the terms of any employment agreement or other agreement or policy to which Executive is a party or otherwise bound.

1.    Cooperation. Executive shall provide Executive’s reasonable cooperation in connection with any action or proceeding (or any appeal from any
action or proceeding) which relates to events occurring during Executive’s employment hereunder. This provision shall survive any termination of this
Agreement or Executive’s employment.

m.    Withholding Taxes. The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement such Federal, state and local taxes as may be
required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

n.    Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto
and hereto were upon the same instrument.

[Signatures on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

Lantheus Medical Imaging, Inc.
 

/s/ Jeffrey Bailey   /s/ John Bakewell
By: Jeffrey Bailey   John Bakewell
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer   
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EXHIBIT A
RELEASE

This RELEASE (“Release”) dated as of                 , 20         between Lantheus Medical Imaging, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and
                             (the “Executive”).

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive previously entered into an employment agreement dated March         , 2008 (the “Employment
Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Executive’s employment with the Company has terminated effective                      , 20        ;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual agreements contained herein and in the Employment Agreement, the Company
and the Executive agree as follows:

1.    Executive agrees to and does waive any claims he may have for employment by the Company and agrees not to seek such employment or
reemployment by the Company in the future. The Executive, on his own behalf and on behalf of his heirs, estate and beneficiaries, further does hereby release
the Company, and in such capacities, any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, and each of their respective past, present and future officers, directors, agents,
employees, shareholders, investors, employee benefit plans and their administrators or fiduciaries, insurers of any such entities, and its and their successors
and assigns and others related to such entities from any and all claims made, to be made, or which might have been made of whatever nature, whether known
or unknown, from the beginning of time, including those that arose as a consequence of his employment with the Company, or arising out of the separation
from the Company, the severance of such employment relationship, or any act committed or omitted during or after the existence of such employment
relationship, all up through and including the date on which this Release is executed, including, but not limited to, those which were, could have been or
could be the subject of an administrative or judicial proceeding filed by the Executive or on his behalf under federal, state or local law, whether by statute,
regulation, in contract or tort, and including, but not limited to, every claim for front pay, back pay, wages, bonus, fringe benefit, any form of discrimination,
wrongful termination, tort, emotional distress, pain and suffering, breach of contract, fraud, defamation, compensatory or punitive damages, interest,
attorney’s fees, reinstatement or reemployment, and any rights or claims under the Civil Rights Act of 1866, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of
1967, as amended, 29 U.S.C. sec. 621, et seq., the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Title VII,
as amended, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, the Equal Pay Act, the Worker Adjustment
and Retraining Notification Act, the New York State Human Rights Law, the New York City Human Rights Law, the Massachusetts Civil Rights Act, the
Massachusetts Equal Pay and Maternity Benefits Law, the Massachusetts Equal Rights for Elderly and Disabled Law, the Massachusetts Small Necessities
Leave Act, the Massachusetts Age Discrimination Law, or any other federal, state or local law relating to employment, discrimination in employment,
termination of employment, wages, benefits or otherwise. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that even though claims and facts in addition to those now
known or believed by him to exist may subsequently be discovered, it is his intention to fully settle and release all claims he may have against the Company
and the persons and entities described above, whether known, unknown or suspected. Employee does not waive his right to have a charge filed with the
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) or any state civil rights agency or to participate in an investigation conducted by the EEOC or any
state civil rights agency; however, Employee expressly waives his right to recover any monetary relief should any administrative agency, including but not
limited to the EEOC, pursue any claim on Employee’s behalf.
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2.    The Company and the Executive acknowledge and agree that the release contained in Paragraph 1 does not, and shall not be construed to, release
or limit the scope of any existing obligation of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates (i) to indemnify the Executive for his acts as an officer
or director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries or affiliates in accordance with their respective charters or bylaws or under an indemnification agreement to
which the Executive and the Company or any of its subsidiaries are parties or under any applicable Directors and Officers insurance policies or under any
applicable law or (ii) to the Executive and his eligible, participating dependents or beneficiaries under any existing group welfare (excluding severance),
equity, or retirement plan of the Company in which the Executive and/or such dependents are participants.

3.    The Executive acknowledges that before entering into this Release, he has had the opportunity to consult with any attorney or other advisor of the
Executive’s choice, and the Executive is hereby advised to consult with an attorney. The Executive further acknowledges that by signing this Release, he
does so of his own free will and act, that it is his intention to be legally bound by its terms, and that no promises or representations have been made to the
Executive by any person to induce the Executive to enter into this Release other than the express terms set forth herein. The Executive further acknowledges
that he has carefully read this Release, knows and understands its contents and its binding legal effect, including the waiver and release of claims set forth in
Paragraph 1 above.

4.    The Executive acknowledges that he has been provided at least 21 days to review the Release. In the event the Executive elects to sign this
Release prior to this 21 day period, he agrees that it is a knowing and voluntary waiver of his right to wait the full 21 days. The Executive further understand
that he has 7 days after the signing hereof to revoke this Release by so notifying the Company, Lantheus Medical Imaging, Inc., 331 Treble Cove Rd., Bldg.
600-2, N. Billerica, MA 01862, Attention: Michael Duffy in writing, such notice to be received by the Company within the 7 day period. This Release shall
not become effective or enforceable, and no payments or benefits under Sections 8(c)(ii)(B),(C) and (D) of the Employment Agreement, as applicable, shall be
made or provided, until this seven (7) day revocation period expires without the Executive having revoked this Release.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Release on the date first above written.
 

Lantheus Medical Imaging, Inc.

By:   

 Name:  
 Title:  

  
 Employee Name  
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EXHIBIT B
PRIOR WORKS

[None]
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeffrey Bailey, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Lantheus Medical Imaging, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

 

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Dated: August 12, 2014
 

/s/ JEFFREY BAILEY
Name:  Jeffrey Bailey
Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John Bakewell, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Lantheus Medical Imaging, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

 

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Dated: August 12, 2014
 

/s/ JOHN BAKEWELL
Name:  John Bakewell
Title:  Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED

BY SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Each of the undersigned hereby certifies that to his knowledge the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2014 of
Lantheus Medical Imaging, Inc. (the “Company”) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof fully complies with the
requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: August 12, 2014
 

/s/ JEFFREY BAILEY
Name:  Jeffrey Bailey
Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: August 12, 2014
 

/s/ JOHN BAKEWELL
Name:  John Bakewell
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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